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This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardKimg statements that involve risks and uncertamtForward-looking statements can
also be identified by words such as "may," "antitgs,” "estimates,” "expects," "believes," "plar’pfedicts,” and similar terms. Forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of futurégperance and our actual results may differ sigmifity from the results discussed in the
forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause sliifarences include, but are not limited to, thd&eussed in "Risk Factors". Unless
otherwise stated, references in this Form 10-K pagicular year or quarter refer to our fiscal yeanded October 31 or to the associated
quarter of that fiscal year. We assume no obligatimrevise or update any forward-looking stateradat any reason, except as required by
law.

PART |
Iltem 1. Business
General

We are a global publisher, developer and distribofanteractive entertainment software, hardware accessories. Our publishing segment
consists of our Rockstar Games, 2K Games, 2K Spod<2K Play publishing labels. We develop, madket publish software titles for the
leading gaming and entertainment hardware platfpimctuding Sony's PLAYSTATION®3 ("PS3") and PlagBbn®2 ("PS2") computer
entertainment systems; Sony's PSP® (PlayStation@ble) ("PSP") system; Microsoft's Xbox 360® ("Xb8&0") and Xbox® ("Xbox") video
game and entertainment systems; Nintendo's Wii™i{)\sameCube™, DS™ ("DS") and Game Boy® Advant@RA"); and for the PC
and Games for Windows®. Our distribution segmemictvincludes our Jack of All Games subsidiarytriistes our products as well as
software, hardware and accessories produced bysdtheetail outlets in North America. We have et a strategy of capitalizing on the
widespread market acceptance of interactive emtentnt, as well as the growing popularity of inntve action, sports and strategy games
appeal to the expanding demographic of video gdmeers.

Expanding gamer demographics have driven demaridtinactive entertainment software in recent yeaith video games becoming a
mainstream entertainment choice for a maturinghistipated audience. According to the Entertainn8aftware Association, U.S. computer
and video game software sales grew six percer@®® 20 $7.4 billion—almost tripling industry softreasales since 1996. At least half of all
Americans claim to play PC and video games, witlestimated 67% of heads of households playing gaifesaverage game player is

33 years old and has been playing for nearly 12sy@de International Development Group, a consglénd market research firm, estimates
that sales of PC, console and handheld games (Brglwireless applications) will be $8.5 billion2007 in North America and estimates that
such sales will reach $9.4 billion in 2008.

The video game industry is cyclical and the insthbase of hardware platforms has historicallydatnificant effect on the demand for
gaming software. The prior-generation of consosfpims includes the PS2, Xbox and GameCube (“gg@oreration") and the negeneratior
of console platforms includes the PS3, Xbox 360\afid"next-generation”). In 2007, demand for prigeneration gaming software began to
diminish as consumers continued to upgrade todatest generation of hardware platforms. Additiondte introduction of new hardware
platforms has, in many cases, been characterizelélays in launch dates or reductions in launchtities or both. Each of these
circumstances had a significant financial impactisnin addition, these negeneration consoles are more complex than thedlegessors, ar
in some cases contain multi-processor technology, and unique game controllers, online gameplagtfanality and high definition video
capabilities, which in turn require video game depers to create games that are progressively elab®rate and costly to develop.

Transition periods also mark a shift in the sofevdevelopment process for next-generation gamiagesys. During console transition periods,
software publishers and developers often devotgfiignt resources to producing next-generatiotvgae products for new gaming consoles,
which have a limited installed hardware base. Assalt, next-generation software products oftert stat selling at relatively
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low unit volumes and the time required for softwaublishers to recognize a return on their investngincreased. Information concerning
global installed base for prior-generation, nexteyation and handheld platforms for 2004 throughl28 as follows:

Global Installed Base of Hardware Platforms

(millions of units) 2004 2005 2006 2007E 2008E 2009E 2010E 2011E

Prior-generatior 83 10C 13t 143 104 10€ 10€ 10€
Nexl-generatior — 1 11 41 7€ 10¢ 137 164
Handhelc 44 63 12C 15€ 18t 144 17¢ 214

Source: International Development Group

We were incorporated under the laws of the Stafeedware in 1993 and are headquartered in New Yoekv York with approximately
1,900 employees globally. Our telephone numbe®46) 536-2842 and our Internet address is www.tghes.com We make all of our
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commissiwailable, free of charge, on our website underctiption "Corporate—Corporate
Overview—SEC Filings." Included in these filinggaur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly report Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports, whiclaeaidable as soon as reasonably practicable wéeglectronically file or furnish such
materials with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(d)5¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Our Internet website and the information contaitiestein or connected thereto are not intended fadmporated into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. You may also obtain copies of our reparithout charge by writing to:

Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc.
622 Broadway

New York, NY 10012

Attn: Investor Relations

You may read and copy any document we file withSE€ at the SEC's public reference room at 100¢eSINE, Room 1580, Washington,
DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-033ihformation on the public reference room. The S&&ntains an Internet website that
contains annual, quarterly and current reportsgypemd information statements and other informatiat issuers (including the Company) file
electronically with the SEC. The SEC's Internet giehis www.sec.gov.

Strategy

Overview. Our strategy is to capitalize on the growthhaf interactive entertainment market, particuléin expanding demographics of
video game players, through a focus on creatinmpn® quality games and successful franchises faclmve can create sequels. We have
established a portfolio of successful proprietarfivgare content for the major hardware platforma iwide range of genres including action,
adventure, strategy, role-playing, sports, racmgsic, party and puzzle. We believe that our commmitt to creativity and innovation is a
distinguishing strength, allowing us to differet¢ianany of our products in the marketplace by conlgi advanced technology with compell
story lines and characters to provide unique gaayegkperiences for consumers. We have createdskceand acquired a group of highly
recognizable brands to match the variety of consutamographics we aspire to serve, ranging fronftsttu children and hard-core game
enthusiasts to casual gamers.

Support Multiple Labelsto Target Distinct Market Segments.  We publish our titles under four separate Isbebckstar Games, 2K Games,
2K Sports and 2K Play, with each label focused istirttt product genres and target demographicseXpect Rockstar Games, the publishe
our blockbustetsrand Theft Aut@ndMidnight Clubfranchises, to continue to be a leader in the agifeduct category by leveraging our
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existing titles as well as developing new brands. a0 anticipate that 2K Games, the publisheh@ttitically acclaime®ioShocHitle and
Civilization series, will continue to develop new and succedsinichises in the future. Our 2K Sports label,chhpublishes th#ajor League
Baseball 2K, NBA 2K, NHL 2K andCollege Hoops 2I§eries, is intended to provide more consistent gear year revenue streams because
we publish these titles on an annual basis. Owmtéclaunched 2K Play label, publisher of our sssfulCarnival Gameditle, is focused on
the growing casual and family gaming market, andeeently entered into a licensing agreement widgk&odeon to publish games based on
top rated Nick Jr. preschool television propertiesludingDora the ExplorelandGo, Diego, Go!.

Maximize Product Selection and Development.  Our primary strategy is to publish a select banof high quality titles based on internally
owned and developed intellectual property, whictdgeto offer higher margins than licensed produsts.currently have over 15 proprietary
brands which we expect to leverage in the futureaddition, we will selectively develop titles besen licensed properties, including sports,
and also publish externally developed titles. Weeh@cently implemented a product investment re\pescess to evaluate potential titles for
investment, to review existing titles in developmemd to review titles after their release to asgwoduct performance. We apply this process
to all of our products, whether externally or imi@lty developed. The product investment review psadncludes in-depth reviews of each
project at various stages of development by oucetkee management team and senior management @udlishing labels, and includes
coordination between our sales and marketing peeddyefore the launch of the title. This disciptregpproach to product investment is
expected to enhance the competitiveness and gitifigeof our titles.

We develop our products using a combination ofiotarnal development resources and external demedop resources acting under contract
with us. We typically select our external develapeased on their track record and expertise inymiod products in the same category. One
developer will often produce the same game for iplelplatforms and will produce sequels to the imdggame. We believe that selecting and
using development resources in this manner alla® leverage the particular expertise of our maeand external development resources,
which we believe adds to the quality of our product

Diversify Revenue by Title, Genre, Platform, and Target Demographic.  We believe the diversification of our produdkrwill reduce our
operating risks and increase our revenue. We expeaxintinue to increase revenue in our sportsiassi and offer a wider variety of titles for
an expanded group of customers through the reaanth of our 2K Play label, focused on family andual games. We are also increasingly
offering our titles on additional hardware platfarto take advantage of the increasing installed bathese platforms, including the Xbox 3
PlayStation 3, Wii, PlayStation Portable, Ninteri2® and PC.

Improve Financial Performance. We are seeking to return to profitability isdal 2008 through a combination of our company-veiotst
reduction program, the introduction of a greatenbar of internally owned and developed titles,réuction of legal expenses and
professional fees as we resolve our outstandinglatayy and litigation issues, and the enhanceahfiial performance of our distribution
business. We expect to improve financial perfornreancur sports business through a combinatiorigifdr average retail price points as more
of our titles are sold on next-generation platfgrinsreased unit sales, and the introduction of tiées, including proprietary, non-licensed
sports titles. We also expect to expand our low deselopment capabilities in Asia.

Leverage Emerging Technologies.  The technological advances in our industryleading to new revenue streams which we are se¢ging
capitalize on. We see opportunities in a varietarefas, including episodic content, in-game adsiegi micro-transactions and networked
gameplay. We plan to release episodic contenBfand Theft Auto I\dn Xbox Live in fiscal 2008. We are currently indiog advertising in
many of our sports titles. We also plan to purspgostunities that exist for networked gameplaytipatarly for our wholly-owned franchises,
as well as micro-transactions, where gamers cangdgwnload additional content to enhance theingalaying experience.
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Expand International Business.  The global market for interactive entertainmaartinues to grow, and we seek to increase osepice
internationally, particularly in Asia, Eastern Epeoand Latin America. We typically distribute owogucts in Asia through license and royalty
agreements with local publishers. While we retdie to all intellectual property, local publisheage responsible for localization of software
content, distribution and marketing of the producttheir respective local markets. We intend tddoupon these relationships and establish
new relationships to expand our international bessn

Our Publishing and Software Development Businesses

The interactive software that we develop and pbli§sroken down into two major categories: 1) gauheveloped by our internal developrr
studios, and 2) games that we publish with, or miaakd distribute on behalf of, third party develsp

We have internal development studios located irlLthiged States, Canada, United Kingdom, Francefralis and China. As of October 31,
2007, we had a research and development stafi@Blemployees with the technical capabilities teellap software titles for all major prior
and next-generation consoles, handheld hardwat®ptes and PCs in several languages and territories

Agreements with third party developers generalyegis exclusive publishing and marketing rights segliire us to make advance royalty
payments, pay royalties based on product salesatisly other conditions. Royalty advances forwaft titles are typically recoupable against
royalties otherwise due to developers. Our agreé&meith third party developers generally providenith the right to monitor development
efforts and to cease making advance payments éifsgek development milestones are not satisfied.alge regularly monitor the level of
advances in light of expected sales for the relttied.

The development cycle for our titles generally emfrom 12 to more than 24 months. Although werodienultaneously develop our software
for multiple platforms, in certain cases it canetaiine to 12 months to adapt a product for addifibardware platforms after initial
development for one platform is completed. The tmstevelop a front-line software product generedigges from $5 million to $20 million.
We expect that development costs and time willicoetto increase for next-generation platforms.

Rockstar Games.  Software titles published by our Rockstar Gatabsl are primarily internally developed. Rockstames is the publisher

of our blockbusteGrand Theft Aut® franchise and is focused on creating premium cadrsted groundbreaking entertainment. We believe
Rockstar has established a uniquely original popruéiure phenomenon with iGrand Theft Autseries and we have taken advantage of its
success by developing new proprietary brands dsaselequels to our existing titles. For the yesided October 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, our
Grand Theft Auto titles accounted for 13.1%, 22.d8d 38.2% of our total net revenue, respectivety oter products accounted for more 1
10% of our revenue for the year ended October @07 2Rockstar is also well known for developintetitin multiple genres, such Esdnight
Club, Max Payne, Manhunt, Rockstar Games Presents Talnrig, The Warriors, Red Dead RevolaadBully .

We expect our next iteration in tldrand Theft AutseriesGrand Theft Auto IMo be released on the Xbox 360 and PS3 platforrttsein
second quarter of fiscal 2008. In addition, Roakated Microsoft announced an agreement whereby fackill publish episodic content for
Grand Theft Auto I\éxclusively on Xbox Live®Microsoft's online entertainment and gaming netwathke digitally delivered episodic conte
will be available for purchase by Xbox Live subberis, allowing them to expand th@rand Theft Auto IN\gameplay experience. We believe
that online delivery of episodic content will conte to become more prevalent as broadband conitgcfains popularity and digital delivery
platforms such as Xbox Live, PlayStation Networkl Malve's Steam gain additional customers.

2K Games.  Most of our third party developed titles ardélighed by our 2K Games label. 2K Games has agtsetured rights to publish
popular entertainment properties, includifige Elder Scrolls 1V: Oblivion,

4




The Darkness, Ghost RidendFantastic Four: Rise of the Silver Surf¥vhile many of our 2K Games titles are developedhingd party
developers, we also develop software titles for2iiGames label through our internal developmamdiss, such aSid Meier's Railroads!, S
Meier's Pirates!and the critically acclaimed, multi-million unitl§eg BioShockandCivilization franchises.

2K Sports.  We develop most of our 2K Sports softwaregitlerough our internal development studios inclgdimeMajor League Baseball
2K seriesNBA 2Kseries NHL 2K seriesCollege Hoops 2lseries and oufop Spirtennis series. Since its formation, our 2K Spatsel has
been actively securing major sports league licemmszsding long-term, third party exclusive licengirelationships with Major League
Baseball Properties, the Major League BaseballdPtagissociation and Major League Baseball Advamedia.

2K Play. Our 2K Play label focuses on developing andiphimg titles for the growing market for casuabgamily-friendly games. While
the majority of our 2K Play titles are developedtbiyd party developers, we have also developetiveoé titles for our 2K Play label
internally, such a€arnival Gamesnd theDeal or No Deakeries. As part of our 2K Play initiative, we alsmounced an expansive new
handheld and console video game licensing agreewigmiNickelodeon, a partnership involving top-igroperties including Nick Jr.
preschool television hitfora the ExploreandGo, Diego, Go!

Our Distribution Business

Through our distribution business, which primaodlyerates in North America and includes our JackloGames subsidiary, we supply
retailers with our internally developed productsvedl as software, hardware and accessories pradagethers. We distribute third party
console, handheld and PC products, consisting ipatg of newly released and popular software gitleudget and catalog software titles,
hardware and accessories.

Jack of All Games seeks to capitalize on the grgvimstalled base of hardware and the proliferatibsoftware titles and outlets to purchase
software. It has established a strong presendeibidget segment of the business due to its ekgapdrtfolio of value-priced products and
its expertise in selling these titles. Jack of Bdmes continues to leverage this strategy by sglsrthe distributor of our value-priced
publishing products.

Intellectual Property

Our business is significantly dependent on thetimeaacquisition, licensing and protection of ilgetual property. Some of the intellectual
property rights we have created and acquired fopoufolio of brands areGrand Theft Auto, Midnight Club, Bully, Rockstarr®es Presents
Table Tennis, Sid Meier's Civilization, Sid MeidR&ilroads!, Sid Meier's Pirates, The Darkness, Mamt, Red Dead Revolver, Max Payne,
Smuggler's Run, Spec Ops, BioShock, Top Spin, iflee/I-Pro Football, Carnival Games, Railroad Tym and X-ComwWe believe that
content ownership facilitates our internal proddetelopment efforts and maximizes profit potentfde attempt to protect our software and
production techniques under copyright, trademarktsade secret laws as well as through contracasalictions on disclosure, copying and
distribution. Although we generally do not hold gstents, we obtain trademark and copyright regtisins for many of our products.

We also enter into content license agreements, asithose with sports leagues and players assm@atinovie studios and performing talent,
music labels and musicians. These licenses areayplimited to use of the licensed rights in puotk for specific time periods. In addition,
products that play on game consoles and handhsdtiglie technology that is owned by the console rfeaxturer and licensed non-exclusively
to us for use. While we may have renewal rightsstame licenses, our business and our ability teldgvmany of our products is dependent on
our ability to continue to obtain the intellectgabperty rights from the owners of these rightseasonable rates.
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Interactive entertainment software is susceptiblgitacy and unauthorized copying. Unauthorizetttparties may be able to copy or to
reverse engineer our titles to obtain and use progring or production techniques that we regardagrietary. Well organized piracy
operations have proliferated in recent years, tiegpin the ability to download pirated copies oftaare over the Internet. Although we
attempt to incorporate protective measures intosoftware, piracy of our products could negativeipact our future profitability.

As the amount of interactive entertainment softwarthe market increases and the functionalityhef software further overlaps, we believe
that interactive entertainment software will in@iegly become the subject of claims that such sivinfringes the copyrights or patents of
others. From time to time, we receive notices ftbird parties or are named in lawsuits by thirdtiearalleging infringement of their
proprietary rights. Although we believe that otle and the titles and technologies of third pdeyelopers and publishers with whom we |
contractual relationships do not and will not inffé or violate proprietary rights of others, ipssible that infringement of proprietary right:
others may occur. Any claims of infringement, wathwithout merit, could be time consuming, costhgalifficult to defend. See "ltem 1A.—
Risk Factors."

Arrangements with Platform Manufacturers

We have entered into license agreements with Sdigrpsoft and Nintendo to develop and publish saftsvin North America, Europe and
Australia. We are not required to obtain any lieen® develop titles for the PC.

Sony. Under the terms of the license agreementsaibdtave entered into, or will enter into, with Sdbgmputer Entertainment, Inc., Sony
granted us the right and license to develop, mapgtdtlish and distribute software titles for theBPBS2 and PSP hardware platforms. The
agreements require us to submit products to Sangdproval and for us to make royalty paymentsanySased on the number of units
manufactured. In addition, products for the PS2 Bl PSP are required to be manufactured by Supmnpeed manufacturers.

Microsoft.  Under the terms of the license agreementsitbdtave entered into with Microsoft Corporation @sdaffiliates, Microsoft

granted us the right and license to develop, maptailish and distribute software titles for theaxt860 and Xbox. The agreements require us
to submit products to Microsoft for approval and dis to make royalty payments to Microsoft basedhennumber of units manufactured. In
addition, products for the Xbox 360 and Xbox amuieed to be manufactured by Microsoft approved ufacturers.

We expect to launcGrand Theft Auto 1\bn the Xbox 360 and PlayStation 3 platforms ingbeond quarter of fiscal 2008. In addition, we
expect that our Rockstar subsidiary will offer erive episodic content f@rand Theft Auto I\6n Xbox Live®, Microsoft's online
entertainment and gaming network. The digitallyivaekd episodic content will be available for puash by Xbox Live subscribers, allowing
them to expand theBrand Theft Auto IN\gameplay experience.

Nintendo. Under the terms of the license agreementshdtave entered into with Nintendo Co., Ltd. asdaffiliates, Nintendo granted us
the right and license to develop, market, publisth distribute software for Nintendo's Wii, GameCub8& and GBA. The agreements require
us to submit products to Nintendo for approval fordus to make royalty payments to Nintendo basethe number of units manufactured. In
addition, products for such platforms are requicetde manufactured by Nintendo approved manufacture

Manufacturing

Sony, Nintendo and Microsoft are the sole manufacsy or control selection of manufacturers, ofwafe products sold for use on their
respective hardware platforms. We place a purcbeder for the




manufacture of our products with Sony, NintenddAecrosoft utilizing our payment terms with the méacturer and then send software code
and a prototype of the product to the manufactwogether with related artwork, user instructiomarranty information, brochures and
packaging designs for approval, defect testingraadufacture. Games are generally shipped withinvieeks of receipt of our manufacturing
order.

Production of PC software is performed by thirdtpaendors in accordance with our specificationd immcludes CD-ROM pressing, assembly
of components, printing of packaging and user msrargd shipping of finished goods. We send softwake and a prototype of a title,
together with related artwork, user instructionarranty information, brochures and packaging destgrthe manufacturers. Games are
generally shipped within two weeks of receipt of manufacturing order.

We occasionally experience difficulties or delayshie manufacture of our titles; however such deleve not significantly harmed our
business to date. We have not experienced matieliays due to manufacturing defects. Our softwidles ttypically carry a 90-day limited
warranty.

Sales

We sell software titles to retail outlets in NoAmerica and Europe through direct relationship$atge retail customers and third party
distributors. Our customers in North America in@ldading mass merchandisers, such as Wal-Maxtjaperetailers, such as GameStop;
video stores, such as Blockbuster; electronicest@uch as Best Buy and Circuit City; toy stosesh as Toys "R" Us; national and regional
drug stores; and supermarket and discount stoiiesHaur European customers include Carrefour, Dix&arstadt, and Media Saturn. We
have sales operations in Australia, Austria, Cangdance, Germany, ltaly, the Netherlands, New &&#l Spain, Switzerland, the United
Kingdom and the United States.

Sales to our five largest customers in fiscal 2863ounted for approximately 51.1% of our net reeemith Wal-Mart, GameStop and Best
Buy accounting for 15.1%, 12.8% and 11.5%, respelsti of our net revenue. No other customer accalifdr more than 10.0% of our net
revenue for the year ended October 31, 2007.

Marketing

Our marketing and promotional efforts are intenttethaximize exposure and broaden distribution oftiles, promote brand name
recognition, assist retailers and properly posjtjmackage and merchandise our titles.

We market titles by:

. Implementing public relations campaigns, using toaimd online advertising, television, radio spatd autdoor advertising. We
believe that we label and market our products goetance with the applicable principles and guitediof the Entertainment
Software Rating Board, or the ESRB, an indepenselfitegulatory body that assigns ratings and enfordesréising guideline
for the interactive software industry.

. Actively pursuing relationships with participantsthe music and entertainment industries. We beltbat the share
demographics between various media and some abffwware titles marketed by our publishing labetsve excellent cross-
promotional opportunities. We continue to work withpular recording artists to create sophisticggatie soundtracks, enter
into agreements to license high-profile names dmohésses, and make arrangements for co-brandpaytmities.

. Satisfying certain shelf life and sales requirersemtder our agreements with hardware manufactimensler to qualify for
Sony's Greatest Hits Programs and Microsoft's ilati Hits
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Program. In connection with these programs, weiveamanufacturing discounts from Sony and Microssfmilarly, Nintendo
has also established a Player's Choice Prograthddiii and GameCube.

. Stimulating continued sales and maximizing prdffseducing the wholesale prices of our product®tailers at various time
during the life of a product. Price concessions megur at any time in a product's life cycle, bygitally occur three to nine
months after a product's initial launch. In fisg@D7, 2006 and 2005, price concessions to retalamunted to $68.1 million,
$73.9 million and $30.4 million, respectively. lartain international markets, we provide volumeateb to stimulate continued
product sales.

We also employ various other marketing methodsgubesi to promote consumer awareness, includingoire giromotions and point-of-
purchase displays, direct mail, operative advertising, as well as attendance detshows. We employ separate sales forces forudlisping
and distribution operations. As of October 31, 200& had a sales and marketing staff of 229 people.

Our front-line products generally sell at retailces ranging from $19.99 to $59.99 in North Amerieeoducts that are designated Sony's
Greatest Hits (for both the PlayStation 2 and t8€)Pand Microsoft's Platinum Hits (for Xbox) gerlgraell for $19.99. We release sports ti
at retail prices ranging from $19.99 to $59.99, eedposition our value-priced product offeringsaetail price starting at $9.99.

Distribution

We distribute our own titles as well as softwar@rdware and accessories developed by others it Manerica through our Jack of All Games
subsidiary, consisting principally of newly reledsnd popular software titles, budget and catatdgvare titles, and hardware for third party
console, handheld and PC products. Our Jack dBAthes subsidiary maintains warehouse facilitiessaes offices in Ohio and Ontario,
Canada. Products arrive at our warehouses to kegipacked and shipped to customers. We genatajpyproducts by common carrier.
Backlog is not material to our business as we gelyeship products within seven days after receiparders.

We procure products from suppliers principally gsatandard purchase orders based on our assessmegutket demand, as well as paders
from retailers. We periodically enter into agreetsesith our suppliers that provide exclusive distition rights to certain products. We carry
inventory quantities that we believe are necestapyovide rapid response to retailer orders. Vilzatelectronic data interchange with many
of our retailers to enhance the efficiency of plgcand shipping orders and receiving payments.

Competition
In our publishing business, we compete with:

. Other forms of entertainment such as motion pisiutrgevision and audio, online computer prograntsather forms of
entertainment which may be less expensive or peoster advantages to consumers.

. Companies that range in size and cost structure frery small with limited resources to very largenpanies with greate
financial, marketing and technical personnel aftgotesources than ours, such as Electronic Adsyi8ion, THQ, Midway
Games and Atari, and international companies, ascBEGA, Vivendi, Ubisoft, SCi Entertainment, Capc&onami and
Namco-Bandai.

. Sony, Microsoft and Nintendo, for licenses to pmips and the sale of interactive entertainmentsk, each of which is a

large developer and marketer of software for its @latforms. Each of these competitors has thenfiizh resources to withstal
significant price competition and to implement edi@e advertising campaigns.
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. Other software, hardware and entertainment andarfediimited retail shelf space and promotionalogrces. The competitic
is intense among an increasing number of newlpdhtced entertainment software titles and hardwaradequate levels of
shelf space and promotional support.

Competition in the entertainment software indusrigased on: product quality, features, innovasiod playability; brand name recognition;
compatibility with popular platforms; access totdimution channels; price; marketing; and custos®wice. Our business is driven by hit titl
which require increasing budgets for developmedtraarketing. Competition for our titles is influesttby the timing of competitive product
releases and the similarity of such products totidles and may result in loss of shelf space mrdaction in sell-through of our titles at retail
stores.

In our distribution business, we compete with langdonal companies as well as smaller regionatidigors. We also compete with the efforts
of the major entertainment software companiesdrstibute directly to retailers or over the IntetnSome of our competitors have greater
financial, technical, personnel and other resoutitas we do and are able to carry larger invergpadopt more aggressive pricing policies
provide more comprehensive product selection tharcan.

International Operations

Sales in international markets, principally in theited Kingdom and other countries in Europe, haseounted for a significant portion of our
net revenue. For fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, apmately 31.3%, 39.4% and 39.8%, respectively, ofrat revenue was earned outside the
United States. We are subject to risks inherefari@ign trade, including increased credit risksiffmand duties, fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates, shipping delays and iatiemal political, regulatory and economic develemts, all of which can have a significant
impact on our operating results. See Notes 1 artd ii#e Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segment Information
See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfentmore information regarding our reportablersegts.
Employees

As of October 31, 2007, we had approximately 1 R0&ime employees, of which approximately 877 ewemployed outside of the United
States. None of our employees is subject to actolebargaining agreement. We consider our refatisith employees to be satisfactory.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Our business is subject to many risks and unceig¢ainvhich may affect our future financial perf@ance. Because of the risks and uncertai
described below, as well as other factors affeatimgoperating results and financial condition tdissncial performance should not be
considered to be a reliable indicator of futurf@anance and our business and financial performanotd be harmed and the market value of
our securities could decline.

We have experienced significant turnover in our Board and executive management and have a new business devel opment plan.

During the second quarter of 2007, five new membatdsone incumbent director were elected to our@®atour annual meeting. Our Board
then elected a new Chairman and a new Chief Exex@fficer, and also appointed one additional inbant member and one additional new
member to our Board, for a total of eight board rhers. During the quarter we also engaged ZelnickdJedmedia investment and
management firm, to provide us with executive managnt services. The Board and ZelnickMedia reomgahour executive management
team and our business in fiscal 2007. It is notpysisible to accurately assess how effective owrmanagement team will be, whether it will

be able to accomplish the objectives of our newrlass development plan or whether our businesgaearation plan, if successful, will be of
significant benefit to us and our financial perfamae. In addition, the success of our businessgdaends in part on events and circumstances
that are beyond our control, including general eooic conditions, consumer demand for our productsather factors affecting our industry.
The changes that are part of our business reor@mizmay be disruptive to our business.

We depend on our key management and product development personnel.

Our continued success will depend to a signifieatént on our senior management team and ouroestip with ZelnickMedia. In 2007, we
entered into an agreement with ZelnickMedia wheiiebgs agreed to provide executive managementcesrto us and our Board through
October 31, 2011. Our Chairman and our Chief Exeefficer are partners of ZelnickMedia. We argoahighly dependent on the expertise,
skills and knowledge of certain of our Rockstar &aypes responsible for content creation and devedoyt ofGrand Theft Aut@nd other

titles. Although we have employment agreements withkey Rockstar employees, we may not be abtemtinue to retain these personnel at
current compensation levels, or at all. The comans arrangements with these Rockstar employeds cesult in increased expenses and
have a negative impact on our operating results.

The loss of the services of our executive officZednickMedia or our key Rockstar employees coigdificantly harm our business. In
addition, if one or more key employees join a cotit@eor form a competing company, we may lose toidal personnel, experience material
interruptions in product development, delays imging products to market and difficulties in oulatenships with licensors, suppliers and
customers, which could significantly harm our besin Failure to continue to attract and retainrag@lified management and creative
personnel could adversely affect our business amsppcts.

We are dependent on the future success of our Grand Theft Auto products and we must continue to publish " hit" titlesin order to compete
successfully in our industry.

Grand Theft Aut@nd certain of our other titles are "hit" produatsl have historically accounted for a substantalign of our revenue. If we
fail to continue to develop and sell new commelyigiliccessful hit titles or experience any delayprioduct releases or disruptions following
the commercial release of our "hit" titles, oureeue and profits may decrease substantially anchayeincur losses. For the years ended
October 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, @rand Theft Autditles accounted for 13.1%, 22.4% and 38.2% ofrmimrevenue, respectively, and our
10 best selling titles accounted for approximag&y6%,

10




38.4% and 48.2% of our net revenue, respectivalpddition, competition in our industry is interss& a relatively small number of hit titles
account for a large portion of total revenue in imglustry. Hit products offered by our competitoray take a larger share of consumer
spending than we anticipate, which could causemez@enerated from our products and services ltbédw our expectations. If our
competitors develop more successful products eices at lower price points or based on paymenteisggerceived as offering better value
(such as pay-for-play or subscription-based mogdetsf we do not continue to develop consistehilyh quality and welteceived products a
services, our revenue and profitability will deelin

Our businessis highly dependent on the success, timely release and availability of new video game platforms, as well as our ability to develop
commercially successful productsfor these platforms.

We derive most of our revenue from the sale of petslfor play on video game platforms manufacturgthird parties, such as Sony's
PlayStation 2, PlayStation 3 and PSP and Micrasittox and Xbox 360. The success of our businedependent in large part upon the
success and availability of an adequate supplerf-generation video game platforms and hardwastesys, our ability to accurately predict
which platforms will be successful in the markegglaand our ability to develop commercially suctidgzroducts for these platforms. We m
make product development decisions and commit fsignit resources well in advance of the anticipatéaduction of a new platform. A new
platform for which we are developing products may succeed or may have a shorter life cycle thaicipated. Alternatively, a platform for
which we have not devoted significant resourceddcba more successful than we had initially antitgal, causing us to miss a meaningful
revenue opportunity. If the platforms for which s developing products do not attain wide markegeptance, our revenue will suffer, we
may be unable to fully recover the investments exetmade in developing our products, and our firruperformance will be harmed.

We expect the average price of our prior-generation software titles to continue to decline.

The interactive entertainment software and hardwatestry is characterized by the introduction eivand enhanced generations of products
and evolving industry standards. Consumer demansiofitware for prior-generation platforms has desti as newer and more advanced
hardware platforms achieve market acceptance. dgdiming software industry transitions to next-gatien platforms, we expect few, if any,
prior-generation titles will be able to commandrpiem prices and we expect that these titles wilblject to price reductions earlier in their
product life cycles than we experienced in pricainge As a result, we have reduced prices for dorqgeneration software titles and we expect
to continue to reduce prices for such softwaregjtivhich will have a negative impact on our opegatesults. These changes may cause the
value of our inventory to decline substantialljtf@become obsolete.

The market for our titlesis characterized by short product life cycles. Delaysin product releases or disruptions following the commercial
release of our products may have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

The market for video games is characterized bytggroduct lives and frequent introductions of newducts. New products may not achieve
significant market acceptance or generate sufficgates to permit us to recover development, maufiaeg and marketing costs associated
with these products. The life cycle of a title gexlly involves a relatively high level of sales bhg the first few months after introduction
followed by a rapid decline in sales. Because ragassociated with an initial product launch gelhecanstitutes a high percentage of the 1
revenue associated with the life of a product,yela product releases or disruptions following thenmercial release of one or more new
products could have a material adverse effect oroperating results and cause our operating resutie materially different from
expectations.
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Our distribution businessis dependent on suppliers to maintain an adequate supply of productsto fulfill customer orderson atimely basis.

Our ability to obtain particular products in regdrquantities and to fulfill customer orders oiaety basis is important to the success of our
distribution business. In most cases, we have aoagiieed price or delivery agreements with suppli@ur distribution business has
experienced, and may in the future experiencejfgignt supply shortages from time to time duehte inability of certain manufacturers to
supply products, such as the newest generatiolatibpms, on a timely basis. Further, manufactucgrgublishers that currently distribute th
products through us may decide to distribute, @ulostantially increase their existing distributithrough other distributors, or directly to
retailers. If we cannot obtain sufficient suppleggshe products that we distribute, our net revewilledecline and we could incur losses.

We may need to raise additional capital if we continue to incur losses.

We incurred significant losses in the years endetblier 31, 2007 and 2006, and we may continueciar ilosses. If losses continue, we ma;
required to raise additional capital in order todwur operations. We could seek to raise capitalnumber of ways, including through the
issuance of debt or equity, or through other fimagarrangements. During the year ended Octobe2@®17, we entered into a senior secured
line of credit agreement, which requires us to nyadgodic interest or other debt service paymdhtse were to borrow additional funds, it is
likely that further debt service payments wouldneeessary. In addition, the terms of additionak aedyy impose significant restrictions on our
ability to operate our business. If we seek finagdhrough the sale of equity securities, our aurstockholders will suffer dilution in their
percentage ownership of common stock. We cannoetiain as to our ability to raise additional cabiih the future or under what terms car.
would be available. If we need to raise capital arelnot successful in doing so, we will have tosider othepptions that may include, but ¢
not limited to, a reduction in our expendituresifdernal and external new product developmentjecgdns in overhead expenses, and sales of
intellectual property and other assets. These r@stishould they become necessary, will likely reisul reduction in the size of our operations
and could materially affect the prospects of ouwsilbess.

Our involvement, and the involvement of some of our former executive officersin a wide variety of lawsuits, investigations and proceedings
has had, and may in the future have, a material adverse effect on us.

We and some of our former officers, directors amgpleyees have been, and are subject to, a widetyanf lawsuits, investigations and
proceedings, including the following:

Former Officers  Our former Chairman and Chief Executive Offiptad guilty to two felony counts relating to oustorical stock option
granting practices and the Securities and Exch@ugemission instituted a civil action against himalddition, certain other former officers
have been convicted of crimes relating to theirdeon during their employment with us.

Stock Option Granting Practices. In 2006, a Special Committee of our Board aebiors conducted an investigation into our histdrstock
option granting practices. The Special Committeterdeined that there were improprieties in the pssagf granting and documenting stock
options and that incorrect measurement dates foesstock option grants had been used for finamefdrting purposes. As a result, we
recorded additional non-cash stock-based compensatipense and related tax effects with respesmee of our stock-based awards and
restated certain previously filed financial infortiea in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fisgear ended October 31, 2006. Several
derivative complaints and a class action complaavte been filed in state and federal courts agaorsie of our current and former directors
and some of our former executive officers relatmgur historical stock option granting practices.
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FTC Consent Ordel  We have entered into an agreement with thé ctdlie Federal Trade Commission containing a enhsrder that
requires us to maintain a comprehensive systenomebty designed to ensure that all content in tetenic games is considered and
reviewed in preparing submissions to a U.S. ragipgncy. We have also agreed to represent accuth&etating and content description for
games we publish and to disclose to consumersrészpce of any content relevant to the ratingwlaat not disclosed to the rating authority.

Personal Injury Actions We are named as a defendant in a number ofperjury and wrongful death actions.

SEC Investigation. We have received a notice from the SEC thatdbnducting a formal investigation into certaiock option grants made
by us. We have also received a "Wells" notice imioig us of the SEC's intention to file charges s@ek a civil monetary penalty in connec:
with this investigation.

IRS Request for Informatio  We have received a request for information ftbmInternal Revenue Service relating to the gmgrand
exercise of certain stock options and tax dedusttaken by us with respect thereto.

Other Inquiries and Proceedings. We have received grand jury subpoenas issueldebRistrict Attorney of the County of New Yorkdan
from certain state attorneys general relating taesof our products, our historical stock optionrgireg practices, the termination of our former
auditors and other matters.

The investigations and charges against us or atireent or former officers, directors or employeease imposed, and are likely to continue to
impose, significant costs on us both financiallg as a result of the distraction of our managertesarh. While we are unable to estimate the
exact nature or amount of these future costs, weueethey will likely include:

. damage to our reputation and business relatiornships

. professional fees in connection with the condudhefinvestigations and the defense of relategklitbons and other proceedin:
. potential damages, fines, penalties or settlemastsdimposed on u

. advancement of certain expenses and reimburserheettain amounts payable by, or on behalf of, @urent and former

officers, directors and employees subject to thestigation or named in any litigations or othesqaredings pursuant to our
indemnification obligations; and

. potential impairment of our ability to obtain coage and reimbursement under existing insuranceipsjiand a potentially
negative impact on our future insurance coverage.

. potential impairment on our ability to raise capitiebt and equit

Our ability to acquire licenses to intellectual property, especially for sportstitles, impacts our revenue and profitability. Competition for these
licenses may make them more expensive and increase our costs.

Many of our products are based on or incorporatdlactual property owned by others. For example, 2K Sports products include rights
licensed from major sports leagues and playerscegtons. Similarly, some of our other titles &esed on key film and television licenses.
Competition for these licenses is intense. If weewarable to maintain these licenses or obtain iaddit licenses on reasonable economic terms
or with significant commercial value, our revenunel grofitability will decline significantly. Compitibn for these licenses may also increase
the advances, guarantees and royalties that wepaygsb the licensor, which could significantly isase our costs and adversely affect our
profitability.
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Our businessis dependent on our ability to enter into successful software development arrangements with third parties.

Our success depends on our ability to continudintify and develop new titles on a timely basi® ¥y on third party software developers
for the development of some of our titles. Quatityd party developers are continually in high dechaSoftware developers who have
developed titles for us in the past may not belalbbs to develop software for us in the future. Dau¢he limited number of third party software
developers and the limited control that we exeroiger them, these developers may not be able tpletentitles for us on a timely basis or
within acceptable quality standards, if at all. Wave entered into agreements with third partiexctpire the rights to publish and distribute
interactive entertainment software as well as ®licensed intellectual properties in our titlebe$e agreements typically require us to make
advance payments, pay royalties and satisfy othrditions. Our advance payments may not be suffi¢iepermit developers to develop new
software successfully, which could result in matedielays and significantly increase our costsriogoparticular products to market. Software
development costs, promotion and marketing expesasésoyalties payable to software developers hind party licensors have increased
significantly in recent years and reduce potemtiafits derived from sales of our software. Futsaes of our titles may not be sufficient to
recover advances to software developers and licenand we may not have adequate financial and odseurces to satisfy our contractual
commitments to such developers. If we fail to $atisir obligations under agreements with third palktvelopers and licensors, the agreements
may be terminated or modified in ways that are bosdme to us, and have a material adverse affemticfinancial condition and operating
results.

We are subject to product development risks which could result in delays and additional costs, and we must adapt to changes in software
technologies.

We depend on third party software developers amdndernal development studios to develop new atttve entertainment software within
anticipated release schedules and cost projecfidresdevelopment cycle for new titles ranges frénadl24 months. Development times and
costs of next-generation software have increasbstantially as a result of the additional and eckdrfeatures available in the newest games.
After development of a product, it may take betweie to 12 additional months to develop the prodoicother hardware platforms. If
developers experience financial difficulties, aibdial costs or unanticipated development delayswilleot be able to release titles according
to our schedule and at budgeted costs. Certainrdfaensing and marketing agreements also comauisions that would impose penalties if
we fail to meet agreed upon software release datese can be no assurance that the products stoged will be sufficiently successful so
that we can recoup these costs or make a proftt@se products.

Additionally, in order to stay competitive, ourénbal development studios must anticipate and adajaipid technological changes affecting
software development. Any inability to responddoftnological advances and implement new technadagiald render our products obsolete
or less marketable.

The interactive entertainment software industry is highly competitive both for our publishing and distribution operations.

We compete for both licenses to properties andales of interactive entertainment software withysdicrosoft and Nintendo, each of which
is a large developer and marketer of softwaretfoown platforms. We also compete with domestic g@niblishers, such as Electronic Arts,
Activision, THQ, Midway Games and Atari and intetinaal publishers, such as SEGA, Vivendi, Ubis8fTi Entertainment, Capcom, Konami
and Namco-Bandai. As our business is dependent apoability to develop hit titles, which requimcireasing budgets for development and
marketing, the availability of significant finanti@sources has become a major competitive fantdeveloping and marketing software gar
Some of our competitors have greater financiahneal, personnel and other resources than we d@aanable to finance larger budgets for
development and marketing and make higher offelis¢énsors and developers

14




for commercially desirable properties. Our titlésoacompete with other forms of entertainment, sagimotion pictures, television and audio
and video products featuring similar themes, ontioemputer programs and other entertainment, whiah Ibe less expensive or provide other
advantages to consumers.

Our distribution business also operates in a higbiynpetitive environment. Competition is based jritg on breadth, availability and quality
of product lines; price; terms and conditions désaredit terms and availability; speed and accycf delivery; and effectiveness of sales and
marketing programs. Our competitors include rediomational and international distributors, as vasllhardware manufacturers and software
publishers. We may lose market share or be fontelde future to reduce our prices in response ta@ompetitors. Our distribution business
been adversely affected by lower sales volume ftfvaoe titles, a decrease in average selling pradésteractive entertainment products as our
industry transitions to next-generation technolagy increased competition in the value softwareketar

A number of software publishers who compete witthage developed and commercialized or are currelelgloping online games for use by
consumers over the Internet. If technological adearsignificantly increase the availability of erdigames and if consumer acceptance of
online gaming grows substantially, it could resulé decline in our platform-based software satebrgegatively impact sales of our products.

Increased competition for limited shelf space and promotional support from retailers could affect the success of our business and require us
to incur greater expenses to market our titles.

Retailers have limited shelf space and promotioesdurces and competition is intense among newdygdoced interactive entertainment
software titles for adequate levels of shelf spau@ promotional support. Competition for retaillfpace is expected to increase, which may
require us to increase our marketing expendituwresdintain desirable sales levels of our titlesm@etitors with more extensive lines and m
popular titles may have greater bargaining poweh vetailers. Accordingly, we may not be able, @ mvay have to pay more than our
competitors, to achieve similar levels of promoéibsupport and shelf space.

A limited number of customers account for a significant portion of our sales. Theloss of a principal customer could seriously hurt our
business.

A substantial portion of our product sales are nmadelimited number of customers. Sales to owr fargest customers accounted for
approximately 51.1%, 49.4% and 40.7% of our ne¢nere, for the years ended October 31, 2007, 200@@D5, respectively, with Wal-Mart,
GameStop and Best Buy accounting for 15.1%, 12.88614 .5%, respectively, of such net revenue forytter ended October 31, 2007. Our
sales are made primarily pursuant to purchase srdighout long-term agreements or other commitmearid our customers may terminate
their relationship with us at any time. Certairoaf customers may decline to carry products coimntgimature content. The loss of our
relationships with principal customers or a declimsales to principal customers, including assalteof a product being rated "AO" (age 18
and over), could materially adversely affect ousibhass and operating results. Bankruptcies or diniagions of certain large retail customers
could seriously hurt our business.

Returns of our products by our customers and price concessions granted to our customers may adversely affect our operating results.

We are exposed to the risk of product returns aiwe goncessions with respect to our customers.ddtrnibution arrangements with customers
generally do not give them the right to returresitto us or to cancel firm orders. However, we sones accept product returns from our
distribution customers for stock balancing and tie¢® accommodations to customers, which inclugdits and returns, when demand for
specific products falls below expectations. We ptceturns and grant price concessions in connegtith our publishing arrangements and
revenue is recognized after deducting estimatestves
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for returns and price concessions. While we belteéeé we can reliably estimate future returns amckepconcessions, if return rates and price
concessions for our products exceed our reservesegenue could decline.

We submit our products for rating by the Entertainment Software Rating Board in the United States and other voluntary or government
ratings organizationsin foreign countries. Failure to obtain a target rating for certain of our products could negatively impact our ability to
distribute and sell those games, as could the re-rating of a game for any reason.

We voluntarily submit our game products to the ESRB.S.-based non-profit and independent ratimgarozation. The ESRB system
provides consumers with information about gameemntising a rating symbol that generally suggéstsappropriate player age group and
specific content descriptors, such as graphic witde profanity or sexually explicit material. Th8EB may impose significant penalties on
game publishers for violations of its rules onrrgtor marketing a game, including revocation oditing or monetary fines up to a million
dollars. Other countries require voluntary or goweent backed ratings as prerequisites for procalessn those countries. We believe that we
comply with rating system requirements and propdigplay the designated rating symbols and cortes¢riptions. In some instances, we t
have to modify our products in order to market therder the target rating, which could delay orufisthe release of our products. For
example, during the fiscal year ended October BQ72our release dflanhunt 2was denied a rating certification by the BritishaBd of Film
Classification, the agency responsible for film aitko game ratings in the United Kingdom. Thatisiea was recently overturned by the
British Video Appeals Committee, but the initialnile delayed the expected launchMdinhunt 2.In addition, some of our titles may not be
sold at all or without extensive edits in certaduitries, such as Germany. In the United Stateslevelop software titles that we intend to
receive ESRB ratings of "E" (age 6 and older), "El@xge 10 and older), "T" (age 13 and older) ot (8ge 17 and older). In addition to these
ratings, the ESRB may also rate a game as "AO" {8gnd older). Platform holders may not certifyaane rated "AO" and retailers may
refuse to sell "AO" games or games with controasbntent. For instance, in 2007, some retaileasted to the controversy owdanhunt 2

by refusing to sell it or refusing to sell it initk and mortar stores. In addition, some consurhave reacted to nextings or controversial gan
content by refusing to purchase such games, demguneliunds for games that they had already purchasel refraining from buying other
games published by us.

We have implemented processes to comply with theirements of the ESRB and other ratings orgaminatiNonetheless, these processes are
subject to human error, circumvention, overridimg aasonable resource constraints. If a video gaeneublished were found to contain
undisclosed pertinent content, the ESRB could te-aegame, retailers could refuse to sell it andated that we accept the return of any unsold
copies or returns from customers, and consumels cefuse to buy it or demand that we refund thedney. This could have a material
negative impact on our operating results and firdmondition. In addition, we may be exposed tigédtion, administrative fines and penalties
and our reputation could be harmed, which couldactgales of other video games we sell. If anjhe$¢ consequences were to occur, our
business and financial performance could be sicpnifly harmed.

Many of our Rockstar titles and certain of our 2Kn@es titles have been rated "M" by the ESRB. Ifaneeunable to obtain "M" ratings as a
result of changes in the ESRB's ratings standaréts @ther reasons, including the adoption ofdéagion in this area, our business and
prospects could be negatively affected. If anywofgames are re-rated by the ESRB or other foreéged ratings organizations, we could be
exposed to litigation, administrative fines andgldas and other potential liabilities, and our igtimg results and financial condition could be
significantly impacted.

16




Our business and products are subject to potential legislation. The adoption of such proposed legislation could limit the retail market for our
products.

Several proposals have been made for federal &igisito regulate our industry, including a Serallereferred to as The Family
Entertainment Protection Act. This bill prohibiteetsale of "M" rated, "AO" rated and "Rating Pemgdiproducts to under-17 audiences (while
the ESRB rating recommends an appropriate age gtbere is currently no legal prohibition on anyrgasales). If the bill is enacted into law,
it may limit the potential market for our "M" ratguloducts, and adversely affect our operating tesGlther countries, such as Germany, have
adopted laws regulating content both in packagedegaand those transmitted over the Internet tiastaicter than current United States laws.
In the United States, proposals have also been mademerous state legislators to regulate thecfdl®l" or "AQO" rated products and prohil
the sale of interactive entertainment software pct&l containing certain types of violence or sexoalerials to under 17 or 18 audiences.
While such legislation to date has been succegsfuibined by industry and retail groups, the adwopinto law of such legislation in federal
and/or in state jurisdictions in which we do siggaht business could severely limit the retail nearflor our "M" rated titles.

Content policies adopted by retailers, consumer opposition and litigation could negatively impact sales of our products.

Retailers may decline to sell interactive entertent software containing what they judge to be lgimpiolence or sexually explicit material
other content that they deem inappropriate forrthesinesses. If retailers decline to sell our poisl based upon their opinion that they contain
objectionable themes, graphic violence or sexuatplicit material or other objectionable contentgeally, or if any of our previously "M"

rated series products are rated "AO," we mightdagiired to significantly change or discontinue ipatér titles or series, which in the case of
our best sellingsrand Theft Autditles could seriously hurt our business. Consuatiocacy groups have opposed sales of interactive
entertainment software containing objectionablen®, violence or sexual material or other objeetid@ content by pressing for legislation in
these areas and by engaging in public demonsteasiod media campaigns. Additionally, although latgsseeking damages for injuries
allegedly suffered by third parties as a resultidéo games have been unsuccessful in the colaisicof this kind have been asserted against
us from time to time and may be asserted and beessful in the future. See "ltem 3.—Legal Procegslih

We cannot publish our titleswithout the approval of hardware licensorsthat are also our competitors.

We are required to obtain licenses from Sony, Miofband Nintendo, which are also our competittrsievelop and publish titles for their
respective hardware platforms. Our existing platfticenses require that we obtain approval forphielication of new titles on a title-by-title
basis. As a result, the number of titles we are &bpublish for these hardware platforms, ouritgttib manage the timing of the release of
these titles and, accordingly, our net revenue flitles for these hardware platforms, may be lichité a licensor chooses not to renew or
extend our license agreement at the end of itentiterm, or if a licensor were to terminate ooetise for any reason, we would be unable to
publish additional titles for that licensor's ptath. Termination of any such agreements could gslychurt our business and prospects.

Certain platform licensors have retained the righthange fee structures for online gameplay, act #censor's ability to set royalty rates
makes it difficult for us to forecast our costscreased costs could negatively impact our operatiaggins. We may be unable to enter into
license agreements for certain next-generatiorigutat on satisfactory terms or at all. Failure ntee into any such agreement could also
seriously hurt our business.
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Our quarterly operating results are highly seasonal and may fluctuate significantly, which could cause our stock price to decline.

We have experienced and may continue to experierdefluctuations in quarterly operating resultieTinteractive entertainment industry is
highly seasonal, with sales typically higher durihg fourth calendar quarter (our fourth and fiistal quarters), due primarily to increased
demand for games during the holiday buying seaSan failure or inability to introduce products otimely basis to meet seasonal fluctuati
in demand could adversely affect our business aedating results. The uncertainties associated saftware development, manufacturing
lead times, production delays and the approvalge®dor products by hardware manufacturers and ttemsors make it difficult to predict
the quarter in which our products will ship andréiere may cause us to fail to meet financial eigiéms.

We may not be able to protect our proprietary rights or avoid claims that we infringe the proprietary rights of others.

We develop proprietary software and have obtaihedights to publish and distribute software depetbby third parties. We attempt to
protect our software and production techniques uodgyright, trademark and trade secret laws akagehrough contractual restrictions on
disclosure, copying and distribution. Our softwargusceptible to piracy and unauthorized copyluhtauthorized third parties may be able to
copy or to reverse engineer our software to okdanh use programming or production techniques tleatagard as proprietary. Well organized
piracy operations have also proliferated in regesatrs resulting in the ability to download piratexgpies of our software over the Internet.
Although we attempt to incorporate protective measinto our software, piracy of our products cawddjatively impact our future
profitability.

With advances in technology, game content and soéwraphics are expected to continue to become realistic. As a result, we believe that
interactive entertainment software will increasyngécome the subject of claims that such softwarenges the intellectual property rights of
others. From time to time, we receive notices ftbird parties or are named in lawsuits by thirdtiearalleging infringement of their
proprietary rights. Although we believe that ouftaare and technologies and the software and tdobgies of third party developers and
publishers with whom we have contractual relatidosiot and will not infringe or violate proprietatights of others, it is possible that
infringement of proprietary rights of others mayoc Any claims of infringement, with or without mitg could be time consuming, costly and
difficult to defend. Moreover, intellectual propglitigation or claims could require us to disconte the distribution of products, obtain a
license or redesign our products, which could tdauddditional substantial costs and material giela

Our softwareis susceptible to errors, which can harm our financial results and reputation.

The technological advancements of new hardwaréoptas result in the development of more complexveaife products. As software produ
become more complex, the risk of undetected emongw products increases. If, despite testingyrerare found in new products or releases
after shipments have been made, we could expereetass of or delay in timely market acceptancedpct returns, loss of revenue and
damage to our reputation.

Gross margins relating to our distribution business have been historically narrow, which increases the impact of variationsin costs on our
operating results.

As a result of intense price competition, our gnossgins in our distribution business have histdhjcbeen narrow and may continue to be
narrow in the future. Accordingly, slight variat®in operating costs and expenses could resulssek in our distribution business from pe
to period.
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We may not be able to adequately adjust our cost structurein atimely fashion in response to a sudden decrease in demand.

A significant portion of our selling and generabaadministrative expense is attributable to expef@epersonnel and facilities. In the event of
a significant decline in revenue, we may not be abldispose of facilities, reduce personnel orenatker changes to our cost structure without
disruption to our operations or without significagtmination and exit costs. Management may natlibe to implement such actions in a tirr
manner, if at all, to offset an immediate shortialievenue and profit. Moreover, reducing costy mgair our ability to produce and develop
software titles at sufficient levels in the future.

We are subject to risks and uncertainties of international trade, including fluctuationsin the values of local foreign currencies against the
dollar.

Sales in international markets, primarily in Eurppave accounted for a significant portion of oet revenue. Sales in international markets
accounted for approximately 31.3%, 39.4% and 39r@&pectively, of our net revenue for the yearsedndctober 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. We are subject to risks inherenbieifyn trade, including increased credit risksffaand duties, fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates, shipping delays, and internatjpoldlcal, regulatory and economic developmentspfivhich can have a significant impact
our operating results. All of our internationalesabre made in local currencies, which could flatgtwagainst the dollar. While we may use
forward exchange contracts to a limited extenetekso mitigate foreign currency risk, our resoft®perations could be adversely affected by
unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not Applicable.

Iltem 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located at @8adway, New York, New York in approximately 4800€quare feet of space under a lease
expiring in 2012 for an annual rent of approximat®l,760,000. We also sublease an additional 16s60@re feet at this location under a lease
expiring in 2010 for an annual rent of approxima®868,000.

Take-Two International SA, our wholly-owned subaigi leases 11,200 square feet of office spacesmet@a, Switzerland for an annual rent of
approximately $500,000 plus taxes and utilities expires in 2011. Take-Two Interactive Softwaredpdr, our wholly-owned subsidiary,
leases 12,500 square feet of office space in Wmdisuted Kingdom for an annual rent of approxiniatk710,000 plus taxes and utilities and
expires in 2011. Rockstar North, our wholly-ownetbsidiary, leases 42,000 square feet of officesjra&dinburgh, Scotland, for an annual
rent of approximately $2,465,000. That lease esgme2014.

2K Games, our wholly-owned subsidiary, occupiegaximately 61,000 square feet of leased office spadNovato, California. The lease
provides for an annual rent of approximately $1,086 and expires in 2013.

Jack of All Games, our wholly-owned subsidiary ske2 400,000 square feet of office and warehouseedpaCincinnati, Ohio. The lease
provides for annual rent of approximately $1,068,0flus taxes and insurance, and expires in Septiedti4.

In addition, our other subsidiaries lease officacgpin Sydney and Braddon, Australia; Vienna, AasMississauga, Toronto and Vancouver,
Canada,; Paris, France; Munich, Germany; Breda,élethds; Madrid, Spain; Milan, Italy; Auckland, N&ealand; London, Lincoln,
Newcastl-upon-Tyne and Leeds,
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UK; Shanghai, China; Camarillo, San Diego, and hidge, California; Hunt Valley, Maryland; Quindylassachusetts; and Bellevue,
Washington; for an aggregate annual rent of apprately $4,974,000.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

Various lawsuits, claims, proceedings and invesitiga are pending involving us and certain of aursidiaries as described below in this
section. In accordance with SFAS NoAgcounting for Contingencigsve record accruals for such contingencies whengtobable that a
liability will be incurred and the amount of losarche reasonably estimated. In addition to thearattescribed herein, we are involved, or
become involved, in routine litigation in the ordig course of business, which in our opinion wilt have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, cash flows or results of openas.

Consumer Class Action—Grand Theft Auto: San Andreds July 2005, we received four complaints fargorted class actions. Two of the
four complaints were filed in the United StatestBé$ Court for the Southern District of New Yorsne was filed in the United States District
Court, Eastern District of Pennsylvania, and ons filad in the Circuit Court in St. Clair Countyljnois. The plaintiffs, alleged purchasers of
our Grand Theft Auto: San Andregame, assert that we engaged in consumer decefatisa advertising and breached an implied warrahty
merchantability and were unjustly enriched as alted our alleged failure to disclose tiatand Theft Auto: San Andreasntained "hidden"

content, which resulted in the game receiving aual7+ ("M") rating from the Entertainment Soft@d&ating Board, or the ESRB, rather

than an Adults Only 18+ ("AQ") rating. The compl@iseek unspecified damages, declarations of \&@ximlations of law and litigation costs.

In November 2007, the United States District Céarthe Southern District of New York granted pralary approval to a settlement of the
foregoing consumer class action lawsuits. If theppsed settlement receives final approval fromthiged States District Court for the
Southern District of New York, all claims in thdsgvsuits will be dismissed without any admissiodialility or wrongdoing by us. We have
committed to spend at least $1,025,000 on settlebenefits, and the settlement generally caps é¢ffendlants' out-of-pocket costs at no more
than $2,750,000, in addition to the costs of primgdotice to class members and paying a fee tatffa' counsel. We have established a
reserve sufficient to cover the expected cost igfghttlement and related expenses.

City of Los Angeles Consumer Litigation.In January 2006, the City of Los Angeles filedomplaint against us in the Superior Court of the
State of California alleging violations of Califéaniaw on substantially the same basis as the coesulass action regardiigrand Theft Auto
San Andreas The state court actions were removed to fedenattd¢a motion to remand filed by the City of Loadeles is pending) and the
Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation transfed all the cases to the U.S. District Court fa 8outhern District of New York, which
consolidated them under the captlarre Grand Theft Auto Video Game Consumer Litmya(iNo. Il), 06-MD-1739 (SWK)(MHD)The
plaintiffs have filed a motion seeking certificatiof a nationwide class, which motion is pendinge Parties have engaged in settlement
discussions.

Securities Class Action—Grand Theft Auto: San Amslend Option Backdating. In February and March 2006, four purported<kastion
complaints were filed against us and certain offotmer officers and directors in the United Stddéstrict Court for the Southern District of
New York. The complaints alleged that we violatedt®ns 10(b) and 20(a), as well as Rule-5, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by
making untrue statements or failing to disclosedrtain press releases and periodic reports fiighitive SEC that, among other thin@gand
Theft Auto: San Andreantained "hidden" content which should have reslilh the game receiving an "AO" rating from theRBS-ather

than an "M" rating. The actions were consolidatedar the namén re Take-Two Interactive Securities LitigatipNo. 1:06-cv-00803 (SWK),
and a lead plaintiff was appointed. In Septemb@&62the lead plaintiff filed a consolidated amendethplaint, which included claims relating
to Grand Theft Auto: San Andreasd to the
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backdating of stock options. On April 16, 2007, lks&d plaintiff filed a consolidated second amendaaplaint, which included additional
allegations based on an investigation of optiortck#hating conducted by the Special Litigation Contedtof the Board of Directors and the
Company's restatement of financial statementsimgléd options backdating. This complaint was figeghinst us, our former Chief Executive
Officer, our former Chief Financial Officer, ourrfoer Chairman of the Board, two of our directord ane former director, our Rockstar
Games subsidiary, and one officer and one fornferesfof our Rockstar Games subsidiary. On June@87, we and the other defendants"
motions to dismiss the consolidated second ameoaieglaint. Plaintiffs filed their opposition to tseemotions to dismiss on September 4,
2007, and reply briefs were filed on October 4, 2000w that briefing on the motions to dismissasnplete, we are awaiting a decision by the
Court.

St. Clair Derivative Action. In January 2006, the St. Clair Shores Genargll&yees Retirement System filed a purported dasisderivative
action complaint in the Southern District of NewrK@against us, as nominal defendant, and certaquptlirectors and certain former officers
and directorsSt. Clair Shores Gen. Employees Retirement SystEibeler, no. 1:06-cv-0688 (SWK). The factual allegationghiis action are
similar to those inn re Take-Two Interactive Securities Litigatiomhe plaintiff asserts that certain defendantsitied their fiduciary duty by
selling their stock while in possession of certaiaterial non-public information and that we viothteection 14(a) and Rule 14a-9 of the
Exchange Act by failing to disclose material fact®ur 2003, 2004 and 2005 proxy statements in lwhie solicited approval to increase share
availability under our 2002 Stock Option Plan. Tiaintiff seeks the return of all profits from theged insider trading conducted by the
individual defendants who sold our stock, unspediftompensatory damages with interest and its cogte action. In October 2006, the court
issued a stay of proceedings pending an investigdlly the Special Litigation Committee. Followitgetconclusion of that investigation, on
March 23, 2007, the Special Litigation Committeevemto dismiss the complaint based on, among ¢iiiregs, the Committee's conclusion
that "future pursuit of this action is not in thesb interests of Take-Two or its shareholders." glaatiff subsequently conducted discovery
concerning the Special Litigation Committee's motio dismiss. On August 24, 2007, the plaintifédilan Amended Derivative and Class
Action Complaint. The Amended Derivative and ClAstion Complaint alleges, among other things, tefendants breached their fiduciary
duties in connection with the issuance of proxyesteents in 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005. Ore8dqmr 24, 2007, the Special Litigation
Committee moved to dismiss the Amended Complaimd @onsolidate certain of its claims withre Take-Two Interactive Securities
Litigation .

Derivative Actio—Option Backdating. In July and August 2006, Richard Lasky and Ra¢dradsheh filed purported derivative action
complaints in the Southern District of New York amst us, as nominal defendant, and certain of oectbrs and certain former officers and
directors. The complaints alleged violations ofefied and state law, including breaches of fiduciuties, abuse of control, gross
mismanagement, waste of corporate assets, and @mjashment in connection with the granting oftaer of our stock options. The complai
sought unspecified damages against all of the iddal defendants, reimbursement from certain ofdsfendants of bonuses or other incentive
or equity-based compensation paid to them, eqeitabtl other relief relating to the proceeds fronage of the defendants' alleged improper
trading activity in our stock, adoption of certaiorporate governance proposals and recovery gétitn costs. The Lasky and Karadsheh
actions were consolidated in November 2006 und=n#imdn re Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc. Derivathitigation, no. 1:06-cv8527¢
(LTS). The plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaom January 22, 2007, which focuses exclusivelpuanhistorical stock option granting
practices. These matters were referred to the 8lgatigation Committee. On September 7, 2007,3pecial Litigation Committee moved to
dismiss certain parties from the litigation andh&tve any claims against the remaining parties bigred to us for disposition by our
management and Board of Directors. The plaintiffgehsought discovery concerning the Committee@metendation, and the briefing of the
motion is expected to be completed in February 2008
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Strickland et al. Personal Injury Action. In February 2005, the personal representatif/éise Estates of Arnold Strickland, James Crungh an
Ace Mealer brought an action in the Circuit CourFayette County, Alabama against the Company, Symputer Entertainment

America Inc., Sony Corporation of America, Wal-Ma@ameStop and Devin Moore, alleging under Alabamenufacturers' liability and
wrongful death statutes, that our video games desigmanufactured, marketed and/or supplied toMidiore resulted in "copycat violence"
that caused the death of Messrs. Strickland, CrantbMealer. The suit seeks damages (including perdamages) against all of the
defendants in excess of $600,000,000. Our motialistmiss the action on the merits was denied. A@panying motion to dismiss for lack
of personal jurisdiction was denied by the trialidpand the Alabama Supreme Court subsequentgtes] a petition for writ of mandamus on
that issue. In April 2006, the plaintiffs amendbld tomplaint to add a claim for civil conspiradye {Company moved to dismiss that claim and
the motion is pending. Under the most recent am#sdkeduling order, all fact and expert discoveag W have been completed by June 15,
2007, with a mediation on November 8, 2007 and, ffiaecessary, to commence no earlier than Jgnlér2008. Due to issues that arose in
expert discovery, however, the amended schedulideravas suspended. The case is currently staytddnid-January 2008 to permit the
Plaintiffs to obtain new lead counsel. There cutyeis no Scheduling Order in effect. We believattthe claims are without merit and that this
action is similar to lawsuits brought and uniformligmissed by courts in other jurisdictions.

Posey and Schmid Personal Injury Acti  In September 2006, personal representativisecdstate of Delbert and Tyrone Posey and Marilee
Schmid brought an action against us, Sony Comjitriegrtainment America Inc. and Sony CorporatioAwferica and Cody Posey in the
Second Judicial District Court of Bernalillo Counlyew Mexico, alleging thabrand Theft Auto: Vice Citsesulted in "copycat” violence that
caused the deaths of the above named individubisstiit seeks damages (including punitive damaagenst all of the defendants. Both Sony
entities have tendered their defense and requasiechnification from us, and we have accepted $estier. We received copies of the
complaint and summonses in December 2006, and mowidmiss the complaint in January 2007 for latkersonal jurisdiction and for

failure to state a claim. The plaintiffs opposed thotions and requested jurisdictional discovehe Tourt heard argument on the motions on
December 18, 2007, and granted such motions in éidirety, thus dismissing the complaint agairssand the Sony defendants. It is expected
that the court will enter an order of dismissaéarly January 2008, upon which plaintiffs will hathéty days to appeal.

We intend to vigorously defend all of the aboveteratand, with respect to the derivative actiorshave been advised that the individual
defendants will vigorously defend such actions. ldeer, we cannot predict the outcome of these nsattied, if determined adversely to us,
such matters, either singly or in the aggregateldcaesult in the imposition of significant judgmenfines and/or penalties, which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial conditioash flows and results of operations.

Grand Jury Subpoenas. We have received grand jury subpoenas issugldebBistrict Attorney of the County of New Yorkageesting
production of documents covering various periodgifi@ng on January 1, 1997, including those retaton among other things: the so-called
"Hot Coffee" scenes iGrand Theft Auto: San Andreathe work of our Board of Directors, all Board Cwmittees, and the Special Litigation
Committee; certain acquisitions entered into byhiiing and payment records relating to PricewadeseCoopers LLP and the termination of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our auditors; comgatians to financial analysts and stockholders aboquisitions and financial results;
compensation and human resources documents oinceftaur directors and employees and former diescand employees; stock-based
compensation; the SEC's July 2006 inquiry; legalises performed for employees; corporate creditl eamd expense records of certain
individuals; the SEC bar of our former Chief ExeeatOfficer, Ryan Brant; the resolution to amend Imecentive Stock Plan; and ethics,
securities, and conflict of interest policies angstionnaires. We fully cooperated and provideddbeuments and information called for by
subpoenas.
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SEC Investigation. In July 2006, we received notice from the SE& it was conducting an informal non-public invgation of certain stock
option grants made from January 1997 to presentraAgril 2007 we received notice from the SEC titatas conducting a formal
investigation of such stock option grants. As ailtesf the Special Litigation Committee's intermaview of our option grants, in February 2(
we restated our financial statements for priorgusiin our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fispear ended October 31, 2006. On
August 9, 2007, we received a "Wells" notice frdra Staff of the Division of Enforcement of the SErming us of its intention to request
authority to file charges, and seek a civil monetanalty in connection with its investigation. \Wave submitted a response to the Staff's
notice. We continue to cooperate with the Staff ematinue to expect to resolve this investigatigmieans of a settlement rather than a
contested litigation of charges.

Tax Inquiries. We have been in contact with and have recaiggdests for information from taxing authorities fecords relating to the
grant and exercise of options and tax deductidkentdy us from October 2000 to October 2004.

Special Litigation Committee. In connection with its investigation, the Sgediitigation Committee determined that certaincktoptions

issued by us to certain members of our Board oéddars were improperly dated. As a result, andimection with our remedial measures, we
entered into an agreement with each of the reledia@ttors whereby they agreed to remit to us dtgr-tax gains that they realized as a result
of the improper grant dates. In the event of gréms remained unexercised, we re-priced such siptikns to reflect an appropriate price for
which such stock options should have been deensedeagt. This agreement was entered into volunthyilys and the relevant directors, none
of whom served on the Special Litigation Commiti@eaddition, we have subsequently entered intdlairagreements with certain former
members of management who received improperly dsttezk options.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Secity Holders
There were no matters submitted to a vote of sgchalders during the fourth quarter of the fisgahr ended October 31, 2007.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities
Market Informatior

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Selantket under the symbol "TTWO." The following teldets forth, for the periods
indicated, the range of the high and low sale grfoe our common stock as reported by NASDAQ.

High Low

Year Ended October 31, 200!

First Quartel $ 198 $ 13.6¢
Second Quarte 19.4( 14.0¢
Third Quartel 17.3¢ 9.0¢
Fourth Quarte 16.2¢ 10.3¢
Year Ended October 31, 2007

First Quarte! $ 2057 % 13.9¢
Second Quarte 24.8( 15.6(
Third Quartel 21.7( 17.4f
Fourth Quarte 19.52 11.8:2

The number of record holders of our common stock W6 as of December 14, 2007.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends. Wtermtly anticipate that all future earnings wi ketained to finance the growth of our
business and we do not expect to declare or pagasty dividends in the foreseeable future. The payrof dividends in the future is within 1
discretion of our Board of Directors and will dedeairpon future earnings, capital requirements ahdraklevant factors. Our current credit
agreement restricts the payment of dividends orstmak.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity @emsation Plans

The table setting forth this information is inclade Part lll—Item 12, Security Ownership of Cent&eneficial Owners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters.

24




Stock Performance Graph

The following line graph compares from October 3002 through October 31, 2007, the cumulative tsttatkholder return on our common
stock with the cumulative total return on the stockmprising the NASDAQ Composite Index and thelsta@omprising a peer group index
consisting of Activision, Inc., Electronic Arts,dn Atari, Inc., Interplay Entertainment Corp., Midy Games Inc. and THQ Inc. The
comparison assumes $100 was invested on Octob2082,in our common stock and in each of the follgindices and assumes
reinvestment of all cash dividends, if any, paidsach securities. We have not paid any cash didsl@md, therefore, our cumulative total
return calculation is based solely upon stock paigereciation and not upon reinvestment of castilelinds. Historical stock price is not
necessarily indicative of future stock price periance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc., The NASIAQ Composite Index and a Peer Group

5250 -

5150 4

5100

$50 -
sﬂ i L L i J
10/02 10/03 10/04 10/05 10/06 10/07
—E— Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc. — -A— NASDAQ Composite
—¥— Peer Group

* $100 invested on 10/31/02 in stock or index, inolgdeinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year endiregaDer 31
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Dati

The following tables present selected financiahdat the five years ended October 31, 2007:

Years Ended October 31

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: 2007 20061 20053 2004®3) 2003
Net revenue $ 981,79: $ 1,037,84 $ 1,201,221 $ 1,127,75. $ 1,033,69:
Cost of goods sol 735,03 825,47¢ 786,37¢ 749,68( 637,55
Gross profil 246,75 212,36« 414,84 378,07: 396,13¢
Selling and marketin 130,65: 139,25( 156,66¢ 119,25 106,73t
General and administratiy 148,78t 154,01t 124,41¢ 100,92 94,08¢
Research and developme 48,45¢ 64,25¢ 73,72¢ 43,77: 25,63¢
Business reorganization and rela 17,467 — — —
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived
asset: — 15,60¢ — — —
Depreciation and amortizatic 27,44¢ 26,39¢ 22,01¢ 16,84¢ 16,92
Total operating expens 372,81 399,53( 376,82 280,80( 243,38t
Income (loss) from operatiol (126,059 (187,16¢) 38,01¢ 97,27: 152,75:
| | | | | |
Net income (loss $ (138,400 $ (184,889 $ 3531« $ 62,11¢ $ 88,67
| | | | | |
Earnings (loss) per shal
Basic $ (1.99 $ 260 $ 051 $ 09: $ 1.41
Diluted $ (1.99 % 2.60 $ 05C $ 091 $ 1.37%
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 71,86( 71,012 69,85¢ 67,10« 62,94¢
Diluted 71,86( 71,012 70,88 68,58¢ 64,81(
As of October 31,
BALANCE SHEET DATA: 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Cash and cash equivale $ 77,757 $ 132,48( $ 107,19¢ $ 155,09 $ 183,47
Working capital 186,36: 281,32° 365,87¢ 397,35¢ 347,13¢
Total asset 831,14: 868,80t 935,22( 950,16 711,71
Line of credit 18,00( — — — —
Total liabilities 359,98¢ 318,41« 249,39( 320,36¢ 184,24:
Stockholders' equit 471,15. 550,39. 685,83( 629,79¢ 527,47:
1) Net income includes a $63.5 million charge to inedax expense for an increase in our valuatiomalfwe for deferred tax assets reflecting uncertiization of future tax
deductions.
) We incurred substantial product returns and otbstscrelated to ousrand Theft Auto: San Andretie, which was re-rated "AO" from "M." The reslg impact on our

consolidated results of operations in fiscal 20@5 & reduction of $24.5 million, $5.9 million, a®ti8.6 million for net revenue, cost of goods said acome from operations,

respectively.

3) We paid a $7.5 million civil penalty to the SECfiscal 2005 related to accounting practices thsilied in restatements of our financial statemestsf and for the years ended
October 31, 2000 and 2002. Such penalties wereied@nd expensed as of October 31, 2004.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations (Dolrs in thousands, except pe
share amounts)

Overview
Our Business

We are a global publisher, developer and distribafanteractive entertainment software, hardwaré accessories. Our publishing segment
consists of our Rockstar Games, 2K Games, 2K Spod<2K Play publishing labels. We develop, madket publish software titles for the
leading gaming and entertainment hardware platfoneisding: Sony's PLAYSTATION®3 ("PS3") and Plag8on®2 ("PS2") computer
entertainment systems; Sony's PSP® (PlayStation@ble) ("PSP") system; Microsoft's Xbox 360® ("Xb8&0") and Xbox® ("Xbox") video
game and entertainment systems; Nintendo's Wii™i{)\ sameCube™, DS™ ("DS") and Game Boy® Advant@RA"); and for the PC
and Games for Windows®. The installed base foipti@r-generation of console platforms, including?gP®box and GameCube ("prior-
generation platforms") is substantial, and theaseof the Xbox 360 platform in fiscal 2006 andrédeases of the PS3 and Wii platforms in
fiscal 2007 ("next-generation platforms") have lfigit expanded the video game software market. Ttemeand timing of the increase in the
installed base of the next-generation platforms siginificantly impact our business and profitayiliOur plan is to diversify and continue to
expand the number of titles released on the naxémggion platforms while continuing to market stideveloped for prior-generation platforms
given their significant installed base, as longt & economically attractive to do so.

Our strategy is to capitalize on the growth ofititeractive entertainment market, particularly éxpanding demographics of video game
players, and focus on creating premium quality gaare successful franchises for which we can ciejaels. We have established a port

of successful proprietary software content forrtiegor hardware platforms in a wide range of geimrelsiding action, adventure, strategy, role-
playing, sports and racing. We have created, lie@@snd acquired a group of highly recognizable dsdn match the variety of consumer
demographics we aspire to serve, ranging from adalthildren and hard-core game enthusiasts tlatgamers. We expect Rockstar Games,
our wholly-owned publisher of the Harand Theft Aut@ndMidnight Clubfranchises, to continue to be a leader in the agifeduct category
by leveraging our existing titles as well as depeig new brands. We also expect 2K Games, develuftbe successfiivilization series and
the critically acclaime@ioShocko continue to develop new and successful franshiséhe future. Our 2K Sports series, which inelsidajor
League Baseball 2, NBA 2K, NHL 2KandCollege Hoops 2Kprovides more consistent year over year revenearsis than our Rockstar
Games and 2K Games businesses because we publistothan annual basis.

Revenue in our publishing segment is primarily kettifrom the sale of internally developed softwiittes, software titles developed on our
behalf by third parties and the sale of video gaceessories and peripherals. Operating marginsripublishing business are dependent in
part upon our ability to continually release neamenercially successful products and to manage soétwroduct development costs. Althot
software development costs as well as the developoyele for next-generation platforms have inceebhsompared to prior-generation
platforms, the impact is partially offset by thglmér selling prices on next-generation software.d&\elop most of our front-line products
internally, and we own many of our most importanellectual properties, which we believe best pos# us financially and competitively.
Operating margins associated with our externaliyetigoed titles, or titles for which we do not oviretintellectual property, are generally loy
because they require us to acquire licenses anddgraninimum development guarantees. We continuiet@lop new revenue streams as they
evolve, including higher margin sources such agame advertising and downloadable episodic comrith we expect will become more
significant to our business over time.

Our distribution segment, which is primarily congad of our Jack of All Games subsidiary, distrisudar products as well as third party
software, hardware and accessories to retail auyplétarily in North
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America. Revenue in our distribution segment isvéer from the sale of third party software titlascessories and hardware. Operating ma
in our distribution business are dependent in parthe mix of software and hardware sales. Softwesduct sales generally yield higher
margins than hardware product sales.

Fiscal Year 2007 Releases

We released the following key titles in fiscal y2807:

Internal or

External Fiscal Period
Title Publishing Label Development Platforms Released
Deal or No Deal™ Global Star Software Internal PC First quarter 2007
(2K Play)
NBA® 2K7 2K Sports Internal PS3 First quarter 200
NHL® 2K7 2K Sports Internal PS3 First quarter 200
College Hoops 2K 2K Sports Internal Xbox 360, Xbox, PS: First quarter 200
Sid Meier's Pirates 2K Games Internal PSP First quarter 200
Ghost Rider™ 2K Games External PS2, PSP, GB; Second quarter 20(
The Warriors™ Rockstar Game Internal PSP Second quarter 20(
Major League Baseb@® 2K7 2K Sports Internal Xbox 360, PS3, Xbox, PS2, Second quarter 2007
PSP, DS, GB/
Jade Empire: Special Editic 2K Games External PC Second quarter 20(
Grand Theft Auto: Vice City Storit  Rockstar Game Internal PS2 Second quarter 20(
College Hoops 2K 2K Sports Internal PS3 Second quarter 20(
The Elder Scrolls IV: The Shiverii 2K Games External PC Second quarter 20(
Isles
Fantastic Four™: Rise of the Silv 2K Games Internal Xbox 360, PS: Third quarter 200
Surfer
Fantastic Four™: Rise of the Silv 2K Games External  Wii, PS2, DS Third quarter 2007
Surfer
The Darkness™ 2K Games External Xbox 360, PS: Third quarter 200
The BIGS™ 2K Sports External Xbox 360, PS3, Wii, PS2, P< Third quarter 200
All-Pro Football 2K8 2K Sports Internal Xbox 360, PS: Third quarter 200
Civilization IV: Beyond the Swoi 2K Games Internal PC Third quarter 200
BioShock™ 2K Games Internal Xbox 360, Games for Fourth quarter 2007
Windows®
Carnival Games™ Global Star Software Internal Wii Fourth quarter 2007
(2K Play)
Elder Scrolls I\®: Oblivion™ Game 2K Games External Xbox 360, PC Fourth quarter 200
of the Year Edition (Got\
NHL® 2K8 2KSports Internal Xbox 360, PS3, PS Fourth quarter 200
NBA® 2K8 2K Sports Internal Xbox 360, PS3, PS Fourth quarter 200
MLB® Power Pros 2k Sports External Wii, PS2 Fourth quarter 200
Rockstar Games presents Ta Rockstar Game Internal Wi Fourth quarter 200
Tennis
Manhunt 2 Rockstar Game Internal Wii, PS2, PSF Fourth quarter 200
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Product Pipeline

We have announced expected release dates forlibwifgg key titles (this list does not representtiles currently in development):

Internal or

External Actual/Expected Releast

Title Publishing Label Development Platforms (Fiscal Period)
Dora the Explorer: Dora Saves tl 2K Play External DS November 7, 200
Mermaids™

Go, Diego, Go!: Safari Rescue 2K Play External DS November 7, 200
College Hoops 2K 2K Sports Internal Xbox 360, PS3, PS November 21, 200
Deal or No Deal™: Secret Vault Gamr 2K Play Internal PC November 29, 200
Grand Theft Auto: Vice City Stori Rockstar Game Internal PS2, PSI December 6, 200
(Japan)

Dora the Explorer: Dora Saves tl 2K Play External PS2 Fiscal year 2008
Mermaids™

Go, Diego, Go!: Safari Rescue 2K Play External Wii, PS2 Fiscal year 200
Bully: Scholarship Editior Rockstar Game Internal Xbox 360, Wii Fiscal year 200
Midnight Club: Los Angele Rockstar Game Internal Xbox 360, PS: Fiscal year 200
Major League Baseb@® 2K8 2K Sports Internal Multiple platforms Fiscal year 200
Don King Presents: Prizefightt 2K Sports Internal Xbox 360, Wii, DS Fiscal year 200
Carnival Games™ 2K Play Internal DS Fiscal year 200
Sid Meier's Civilizatio® Revolution™ 2K Games Internal Xbox 360, PS3, D! Fiscal year 200
Grand Theft Auto I\ Rockstar Game Internal Xbox 360, PS: Second quarter 20(
Top Spin & 2K Sports Internal Xbox 360, PS3, Wi Fiscal year 200
Grand Theft Auto IV episodic conte  Rockstar Game Internal Xbox 360 Fiscal year 200
NBA® 2K9 2K Sports Internal Multiple platforms Fiscal year 200
NHL® 2K9 2K Sports Internal Multiple platforms Fiscal year 200
Borderlands™ 2K Games External Xbox 360, PS3, Games for Fiscal year 2008

Window®
2007 Financial Summary

The year ended October 31, 2007 was a transitianfpe the video game industry and our businestpaed below our expectations,
reflecting the lack of new releases in @nand Theft Autdranchise and a lower than anticipated installesedaf next-generation platforms.
We had initially anticipated the releaseGrand Theft Auto I\h the fourth quarter of 2007; however its reledate was delayed to the second
quarter of 2008 to allow for additional development

Highlighting our 2007 fiscal year were new offerénguch as our critically acclaim8ibShockreleased in the fourth quarter of 208foShocl
was one of the highest rated games to date on Zb6xaccording to both GameRankings.com and Metacaim, and shipped approximately
2.1 million units worldwide through October 31, Z0@ur sports titles continued to improve, paréelyl ourNBA 2Kseries andajor League
Baseball 2kseriesNBA 2K8,released in the fourth quarter of 2007, was adaérhighest rated NBA title for the third conseceatjear
according to GameRankings.com. We also releasstdtirations offhe DarknesandThe Bigsand expanded our presence in the casual g
market with our release @farnival Games.

The relatively low installed base of neygneration platforms continued to impact our bussria 2007; however, we expect that the recene
reductions on the Xbox 360 and PS3 hardware plagpand the recent slate of ngeneration software titles coming to market wilhbgt out
business in 2008. As a result, we continued to nsak@ficant investments in next-generation gamestigpment, as reflected in
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the increase in the balance of our capitalized\soft costs and licenses. The PS3 gaming platforennwias widely accepted by consumers as
we initially expected, which negatively impacted @007 results. Conversely, Nintendo's Wii outperfed our expectations. Our 2007
development budgets had initially favored the Sang Microsoft nexggeneration platforms; however, with the succesh@Wii, we deploye
additional resources to develop products for thetfgrm. We released a total of six titles on thé W2007, all during the third and fourth
guarters and have announced several titles thebavjpublished for that platform in 2008. Typicalbur budgets to develop games on the Wii
are lower than the average development costs li@r atext-generation platforms.

The 2007 fiscal year was also a transition yeaotorBoard and executive management team. In Matobkholders voted to replace five out
of six members of our Board, including our ChieEutive Officer. We established a relationship vid#inickMedia as a result of this
transition, and ZelnickMedia now provides executiv@nagement services to us and our Board. Subsetgpuitse management transition, and
in response to the difficult operating environmien2007, we realigned certain management functiondgrtook cost cutting measures and
shored up our balance sheet with a $100 milliomsztline of credit (subsequently expanded to $#hilion in November 2007). We also
began to explore alternatives for businesses teatomsider to be non-core, evidenced by the saterodoytech accessories manufacturing
business in September 2007. See "Management Chhalpat for the complete details of the managemmamisition and the details of our 20
reorganization plan.

Management Change

During the second quarter of 2007, our stockholdé¥sted five new directors and one incumbent threto our Board, rather than the six
incumbent directors nominated for election by tieumbent Board. The newly elected Board electeela@hairman, Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and one additional incumbent dirgebod on March 30, 2007, we entered into an ageaeémith ZelnickMedia for executive
management services. The Board and ZelnickMediaeidiately began to implement a plan to restructureegecutive management team,
which included entering into separation agreemeiitts our former Chief Executive Officer and Chigh&ncial Officer. The Board also
appointed an eighth board member in the secondequa{r2007.

ZelnickMedia agreed to provide executive managersentices to us and our Board for an initial tehmotigh October 31, 2011. In
consideration for its services, we agreed to pdgigZlMedia an annual management fee of $750,000aamohus of up to $750,000 per fiscal
year based on achieving and exceeding a budgeteihgs level. In addition, on August 27, 2007, wsuied ZelnickMedia stock options
acquire 2,009,075 shares of our common stock akarcise price of $14.74 per share in connectidh this agreement. The options grante
connection with this agreement vest over 36 moatiftsexpire 10 years from the date of grant.

Our newly elected Chairman and Chief Executive &@ffiare partners of ZelnickMedia and the costHeirtservices to us is covered by our
management agreement with ZelnickMedia. Excephé&aith benefits and reimbursement of expenseq@wly elected Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer are not compensated by us.

In the second quarter of 2007, we began to implémdmisiness reorganization plan. The prioritied progress of such plan are as follows:

1. We have taken the following measures to reviewaptinize our management and organizational strectur

. We restructured our international operations tosotidate and align the marketing, sales and operaltifunctions
according to business discipline rather than geuwgrdo create a more efficient and responsive i@onal organizatiol
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. We realigned label and studio administrative funasito report to their respective departmentseatthporate leve
thereby ensuring increased control and accountgbili

. We are in the process of consolidating the managemearketing and business development operatibtie@K Games
and 2K Sports labels on the West Coast of the dr8tates to improve access to resources, work olosely with the
sports development teams, and provide a centratimgaghization to increase efficiency and bettepsupthe growth of
these labels.

. We consolidated our third party PC distributioroiour North American sales operatio

We expect these measures to reduce fixed overheagdroximately $25 million on an annualized béwsighe end of fiscal 2008. In order to
achieve such annualized cost savings, we expéoetto approximately $20 million of business reorigation and related charges through fi:
year 2008. These charges will consist of approxatye®10 million of restructuring costs related tor @ost savings initiatives ai
approximately $10 million of expenses related tomanagement and board changes. Through Octob@08Z, approximately $17.5 million
of these charges have been incurred, primarilyisbng of severance, office closing costs and fgsifenal fees.

2. We continue to assess our business units and gesghiegic alternatives for any business thaeierthined to be non-core. In
September 2007, we completed the sale of our Joecessories business to Mad Catz Interactivefdn@approximately
$3.6 million in cash and notes receivable.

3. We continue to seek ways to maximize the valueuofooitical external relationships, such as tho#te wur hardware and
intellectual property licensors.

4. We established a disciplined approval processdfiware titles in an effort to develop only thosghnadequate market potent
In the third quarter of 2007, we formalized a pratdavestment review committee consisting of ouaiihan, Chief Executive
Officer, and Chief Financial Officer, and the senitanagement of our publishing labels and saleefdfhe committee meets
a periodic basis throughout software developmealesyand reviews development budgets, milestoaéess scenarios, expected
return on investment analysis, and launch plans.ciimmittee also conducts retrospective revievessess performance versus
projections. We believe this new process will imgrohe competitiveness and profitability of oulest

5. We are aggressively pursuing resolution of ourtantding legal and regulatory matters. We remaicointact with the regulato
agencies to assure them of our continued coopardtidNovember 2007, we announced the preliminattesnent of all
consumer class action lawsuits pending against aerinection with the "Hot Coffee Modification" th@ould be used by
consumers to alter the content of @mand Theft Auto: San Andrea&leo game.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principlethi@ United States of America ("GAAP")
requires management to make estimates and assmsptiout future events and apply judgments thatafhie reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets liabilities at the dates of the financial staénts and the reported amounts of net revenues
and expenses during the reporting periods. We tiaisestimates, assumptions and judgments on hiatakperience, current trends and other
factors that management believes to be relevaheaime our consolidated financial statementgaepared. On a regular basis, management
reviews the accounting policies, assumptions, edésmand judgments to ensure that our financitdrsents are fairly presented in accordance
with GAAP. However, because future events and tféércts cannot be determined with certainty, daazounts could differ significantly

from these estimates.

We have identified the policies below as criti@abur business operations and the understandingrdfnancial results and they require
management's most difficult, subjective or completgments, resulting
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from the need to make estimates about the effemtatfers that are inherently uncertain. The impact any associated risks related to these
policies on our business operations is discussediginout Management's Discussion and Analysis médikédial Condition and Results of
Operations where such policies affect our repcatedi expected financial results. For a detailedudision on the application of these and other
accounting policies, see Note 1 to the Consolid&iadncial Statements included in Item 8. Managerhas reviewed these critical accounting
estimates and related disclosures with the Audih@dtee of our Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue upon the transfer of titlerésidof loss to our customers. We apply the priovis of Statement of Position 97-2,
"Software Revenue Recognition" in conjunction witie applicable provisions of Staff Accounting BtileNo. 104, "Revenue Recognition."
Accordingly, we recognize revenue for software wtteare is (1) persuasive evidence that an arrangewith our customer exists, which is
generally a customer purchase order, (2) the ptddutelivered, (3) the selling price is fixed @terminable and (4) collection of the customer
receivable is deemed probable. Our payment arraegemvith customers typically provide net 30 anetl&9 terms. Advances received for
licensing and exclusivity arrangements are repastethe balance sheet as deferred revenue unti@et our performance obligations, at
which point we recognize the revenue.

Some of our software products provide limited oalfonctionality at no additional cost to the consunCurrently, none of our products
requires an internet connection for use, and orilinetionality is perceived to be of only incideintalue to the software product itself. When
such functionality is offered to the consumer, wendt provide ongoing technical support for gamgpbeccordingly, we consider such featu
to be insignificant deliverables and do not deéenue related to products containing online festur

Some of our software products include in-game atbheg for third party products. Up front paymergseived for in-game advertising are
reported on the balance sheet as deferred revetileva meet our performance obligations, at wipdnt we recognize the revenue, which is
generally at the time of the initial release of gineduct.

Revenue is recognized after deducting estimatestves for returns and price concessions. In spetiftumstances when we do not have a
reliable basis to estimate returns and price cages or are unable to determine that collectioreoéivables is probable, we defer the revenue
until such time as we can reliably estimate angtesl returns and allowances and determine thaatiwh of the receivables is probable.

Allowances for Returns and Price Concessions

We accept returns and grant price concessionsnnemion with our publishing arrangements. Follaywiaductions in the price of our
products, we grant price concessions to permibousts to take credits against amounts they oweithsr@aspect to merchandise unsold by
them. Our customers must satisfy certain condittorentitle them to return products or receive ggdoncessions, including compliance with
applicable payment terms and confirmation of fialdentory levels.

Our distribution arrangements with customers dogivé them the right to return titles or to canfieh orders. However, we sometimes accept
returns from our distribution customers for stoekamcing and make accommodations to customersjvititudes credits and returns, when
demand for specific titles falls below expectations

We make estimates of future product returns armkproncessions related to current period prodwetnge. We estimate the amount of future
returns and price concessions for published titlessed upon, among other factors, historical expeei@nd performance of the titles in similar
genres, historical performance of the hardwardqiat, customer inventory levels, analysis of sbibtigh rates, sales force

32




and retail customer feedback, industry pricing, keiconditions and changes in demand and acceptdiroee products by consumers.

Significant management judgments and estimates beustade and used in connection with establistiiagatiowance for returns and price
concessions in any accounting period. We believeavemake reliable estimates of returns and pooe&ssions. However, actual results may
differ from initial estimates as a result of chasge circumstances, market conditions and assumgtiddjustments to estimates are record:s
the period in which they become known.

Software Development Costs
We utilize both internal development teams anditpaurty software developers to develop the titlespwblish.

We capitalize internal software development castdiding stock-based compensation, specificalgniifiable employee payroll expense and
incentive compensation costs related to the conapletind release of titles), third party productéord other content costs, subsequent to
establishing technological feasibility of a softeaitle. Technological feasibility of a product lndes the completion of both technical design
documentation and game design documentation. Anaditin of such capitalized costs is recorded dtlealty-title basis in cost of goods sold
(software development costs) using (1) the proportif current year revenues to the total revenupscted to be recorded over the life of the
title or (2) the straight-line method over the rémrag estimated useful life of the title, whichevemreater.

We have established an internal royalty prograrhdhaws certain of our employees to participat¢hi@ success of software titles that they
assist in developing. Royalties earned by employeder this program are recorded to cost of goolitsas they are incurred.

We frequently enter into agreements with third ypdevelopers that require us to make advance pagniengame development and
production services. In exchange for our advangengats, we receive the exclusive publishing antfidigion rights to the finished game title
as well as, in some cases, the underlying intelidgiroperty rights. Such agreements allow us ity facover the advance payments to the
developers at an agreed royalty rate earned osuthgequent retail sales of such software, netyhgreed costs. We capitalize all advance
payments to developers as software developmena @oduct-by-product basis, we reduce software ldpugent costs and record a
corresponding amount of research and developmeetee for any costs incurred by third party develsprior to establishing technological
feasibility of a product. We typically enter intgraements with third party developers after conipdethe technical design documentation for
our products and therefore record the design deating up to a signed developer contract as relseard development expense. We also
generally contract with third party developers thate proven technology and experience in the gafitee software being developed, which
often allows for the establishment of technologfealsibility early in the development cycle. Intensces where the documentation of the de
and technology are not in place prior to an exetatamtract, we monitor the software developmentg@se and require our third party
developers to adhere to the same technologicabigysstandards that apply to our internally deped products.

We capitalize advance payments as software deveopoosts subsequent to establishing technolofgaalbility of a software title and
amortize them, on a title-by-title basis, as rdgalin cost of goods sold. Royalty amortizatioreisorded using (1) the proportion of current
year revenues to the total revenues expected tedoeded over the life of the title or (2) the gactual, revenue based royalty rate define
the respective agreement, whichever is greater.

At each balance sheet date, or earlier if an idioaf impairment exists, we evaluate the recowvifitplof capitalized software costs, advance
development payments and any other unrecognizetinmin commitments that have not been paid, usingraliscounted future cash flow
analysis, and charge any amounts that are deemedawerable to cost of goods sold. We use varioessores to estimate future
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revenues for our software titles, including pastgenance of similar titles and orders for titlesop to their release. For sequels, the
performance of predecessor titles is also takendatsideration.

Prior to establishing technological feasibility, expense research and development costs as incurred
Licenses

Licenses consist of payments and guarantees mdusgders of intellectual property rights for usetloéir trademarks, copyrights, technolog'
other intellectual property rights in the developmef our products. Agreements with rights holdgeserally provide for guaranteed minimum
royalty payments for use of their intellectual peay. Guaranteed minimum payments are initiallyorded as an asset (licenses) and as a
liability (accrued licenses) upon execution ofaelising agreement, provided that no significanfiojperance remains to be completed by the
licensor. When significant performance remainseéa@bmpleted by the licensor, we record paymentswelctually paid.

Certain licenses, especially those related to parts products, extend over multi-year periods @mebmpass multiple game titles. In addition
to guaranteed minimum payments, these licenseadrgly contain provisions that could require upag royalties to the license holder, based
on pre-agreed unit sales thresholds.

Capitalized licensing fees are amortized as rag&lth cost of goods sold on a title-by-title bagia ratio of (1) current period revenues to the
total revenues expected to be recorded over thainémg life of the title or (2) the contractual adty rate based on actual net product sales as
defined in the licensing agreement, whichever éatgr. Similar to software development costs, weveour sales projections quarterly to
determine the likely recoverability of our capitad licenses as well as any unpaid minimum obbgatiWhen management determines that
the value of a license is unlikely to be recovdrggroduct sales, capitalized licenses are cha@edst of goods sold, based on current and
expected revenues, in the period in which suchraétation is made. Criteria used to evaluate exggbproduct performance and to estimate
future sales for a title include: historical perf@nce of comparable titles; orders for titles ptorelease; and the estimated performance of a
sequel title based on the performance of theditlevhich the sequel is based.

Asset | mpairment

Business Combinatio—Goodwill and Intangible Assets. The purchase method of accounting requiresatssets acquired and liabilities
assumed be recorded at their fair values on theeafat business acquisition. Our consolidated firedrstatements and results of operations
reflect an acquired business from the completide ddan acquisition. The costs to acquire a bgsinacluding transaction, integration and
restructuring costs, are allocated to the fair #afinet assets acquired upon acquisition. Any €xoéthe purchase price over the estimate:
values of the net tangible and intangible assejsised is recorded as goodwill.

We evaluate our goodwill annually for impairmentoore frequently if indicators of potential impagnt exist. The determination of whether
or not goodwill has become impaired involves a igemt level of judgment in the assumptions unyied the approach used to determine the
value of our reporting units. We generally useesittne income, cost or market approach to aid irconclusions of such fair values and asset
lives. The income approach presumes that the \ailaa asset can be estimated by the net economéfib® be received over the life of the
asset, discounted to present value. The cost agpprasumes that an investor would pay no morariasset than its replacement or
reproduction cost. The market approach estimaties \msed on what other participants in the markee paid for reasonably similar assets.
Although each valuation approach is consideredilning the assets acquired, the approach ultimatgdicted is based on the characteristics of
the asset and the availability of information. Cipesin our strategy and/or market conditions ceiddificantly impact these judgments and
require reductions to recorded intangible assetrizals.
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Longlived assets. We review long-lived assets for impairment wéer events or changes in circumstances indicatdtik related carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Determining whethpairment has occurred typically requires variegsmates and assumptions, including
determining which cash flows are directly relatedhe potentially impaired asset, the useful liferowhich cash flows will occur, their amount
and the asset's residual value, if any. In turrasueement of an impairment loss requires a detetinim of fair value, which is based on the
best information available. We use internal dis¢edrcash flow estimates, quoted market prices velvailable and independent appraisals, as
appropriate, to determine fair value. We derivertrguired cash flow estimates from our historicadeience and our internal business plans
and apply an appropriate discount rate.

Stock-based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accosdaith SFAS No. 123(RBhare-Based Paymentnder the fair value recognition
provisions of this statement, share-based compensatpense is measured at the grant date basix dair value of the award and is
recognized as expense over the vesting periodretiag the fair value of share-based awards agthat date requires judgment, including,

in the case of stock option awards, estimating etguestock volatility. In addition, judgment is @alsequired in estimating the amount of share-
based awards that are expected to be forfeitegttifal results differ significantly from these estes, stock-based compensation expense and
our results of operations could be materially impec

We have granted stock options, which are subjeeati@ble accounting, to ZelnickMedia in connectiith our management services
agreement with them. When variable accounting gieg to stock option grants, we re-measure thinsit value of the unvested options at
the end of each reporting period or until the apdiare cancelled or expire unexercised. Compemsexipense in any given period is calcule
as the difference between total earned compensatitire end of the period, less total earned cosgi@m at the beginning of the period. As a
result, changes in stock prices will change therigic value of the options and compensation expendenefit recognized in any given peri

Prior to November 1, 2005, we accounted for stoakell compensation in accordance with Accountingcipries Board ("APB") Opinion

No. 25,Accounting for Stock Issued to Employ€@dé’B 25"). Under APB 25, generally, no compensatxpense was recognized in
connection with the awarding of stock option grantemployees, provided that, as of the grant dditéerms associated with the award were
fixed and the quoted market price of the stock egsal to or less than the amount an employee naystopacquire the stock as defined. In
June 2006, we undertook an internal review of hisabstock option awards and determined that gdates reported in our records for a
substantial number of stock option awards issuah fApril 1997 through August 2003 were not the promeasurement dates for accounting
purposes. Significant judgment was applied in deilging new measurement dates for many of our sttion awards during that period. For
fixed awards, compensation expense was measutée agcess, if any, of the quoted market priceunfa@mmmon stock at the date of grant
over the exercise price of the option granted. Gamsption expense for fixed awards was recognizattlsaover the vesting period on a
straight-line basis.

Income Taxes

Accounting principles generally accepted in thetebhiStates require that we record a valuation @ime to reduce our deferred tax assets to
the amount that is more likely than not to be e=li Our cumulative pre-tax loss in recent fisearg represents sufficient evidence for us to
determine that the establishment of a valuatiomwadhce against the deferred tax asset is apprepfiats valuation allowance offsets deferred
tax assets associated with future tax deductiongetisas carryforward items.

Our future effective tax rates could be adverséigcéed by earnings being lower than anticipateddantries where we have lower statutory
rates, changes in the valuation of our deferrechtmets or
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liabilities, or changes in tax laws or interpretas thereof. In addition, our filed tax returns smbject to examination by the Internal Revenue
Service and other tax authorities. We regularlessshe likelihood of adverse outcomes resultinmfthese examinations to determine the
adequacy of our provision for income taxes.

At each period end, it is necessary for us to ntaktain estimates and assumptions to compute thesprn for income taxes including
allocations of certain transactions to differemtjtarisdictions, amounts of permanent and tempodiffgrences, the likelihood of deferred tax
assets being recovered and the outcome of contitgenisks. These estimates and assumptions aiseteas new events occur, more
experience is acquired and additional informat®nobtained. The impact of these revisions is resmbid income tax expense or benefit in the
period in which they become known.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stadel&oard (the "FASB") issued SFAS No. 153jr Value MeasurementsSFAS 157"),
which clarifies the definition of fair value, estishes a framework for measuring fair value in gaitg accepted accounting principles, and
expands disclosures about fair value measuremEAIS3.57 does not require any new fair value measents and eliminates inconsistencies
in guidance found in various prior accounting pramcements. SFAS 157 will be effective for us on &laber 1, 2008. We do not expect that
the adoption of SFAS 157 will have a material effat our financial position, cash flows, or resafperations.

In September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accogitinletin No. 108Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatemeviten Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statem("SAB 108"). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidarmethe SEC's views on how the
effects of the carryover or reversal of prior ygasstatements should be considered in quantifyiogreent year misstatement. The provisions
of SAB 108 are effective for us on November 1, 200/ do not expect that the adoption of SAB 108 hdlve a material effect on our
financial position, cash flows, or results of opiemas.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation NoA¢8ounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, anriptetation of SFAS No. 109FIN
48"), to create a single model to address the atoaufor uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 dfegs the accounting for income taxes by
prescribing the minimum recognition threshold apasition is required to meet before being recogphin the financial statements. FIN 48 ¢
provides guidance on derecognition, measuremeagsification, interest, and penalties, accountinigterim periods, disclosure, and transit
FIN 48 is effective for us beginning November 1020The cumulativexffect of adopting FIN 48 will be recorded to openretained earning
We do not expect that the adoption of FIN 48 wéll’e a material effect on our financial positiorsftc8lows or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finandabilities" ("SFAS 159").

SFAS 159 expands the use of fair value accountingibes not affect existing standards, which regjagsets or liabilities to be carried at fair
value. Under SFAS 159, a company may elect to aisedlue to measure certain financial assets ewaoh€ial liabilities, on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. If the fair value option is edgltunrealized gains and losses on existing itemwliich fair value has been elected are
reported as a cumulative adjustment to beginnitajired earnings. Subsequent to the adoption of SFS changes in fair value are
recognized in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective igedl years beginning after November 15, 2007 wéHier adoption permitted. We have
elected not to early adopt and are currently assptise impact of SFAS 159 on our consolidatedrfaial position and results of operations.
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Fluctuations in Operating Results and Seasonality

We have experienced fluctuations in quarterly amtbial operating results as a result of: the tinththe introduction of new titles; variations
in sales of titles developed for particular platis; market acceptance of our titles; developmedteamotional expenses relating to the
introduction of new titles, sequels or enhancemehixisting titles; projected and actual changeglatforms; the timing and success of title
introductions by our competitors; product returetsanges in pricing policies by us and our competjtthe size and timing of acquisitions; the
timing of orders from major customers; order calatieins; and delays in product shipment. Salesuofppoducts are also seasonal, with peak
shipments typically occurring in the fourth calendaarter (our fourth and first fiscal quartersya®sult of increased demand for titles during
the holiday season. Quarterly and annual compagiebnperating results are not necessarily indieati future operating results.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periodsicaded, the percentage of net revenue represegtedrtain line items in our statement of
operations, net revenue by geographic region, abtighing revenue by platform:

Year Ended October 31,

2007 2006 2005
Net revenue
Publishing 70.5% 72.€% 70.%
Distribution 29.5% 27.4% 29.1%
Net revenus 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of goods sol 74.%% 79.5% 65.5%
Gross profil 25.1% 20.5% 34.5%
Selling and marketin 13.52% 13.2% 13.(%
General and administrati\ 15.2% 14.8% 10.4%
Research and developm 4.% 6.2% 6.1%
Business reorganization and rela 1.8% 0.C% 0.C%
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 0.C% 1.5% 0.C%
Depreciation and amortizatic 2.8% 2.5% 1.8%
Total operating expens 38.(% 38.5% 31.4%
Income (loss) from operatiol (12.9% (18.0% 3.2%
Interest and other, n (0.2)% 0.2% 0.2%
Income (loss) before income tax (13.1% (17.8&% 3.5%
Income taxe: 1.C% 0.C% 0.5%
Net income (loss (14.2)% (17.9% 2.5%
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________| | | |
Net revenue by geographic region:
United States and Cana 75.2% 68.7% 68.1%
Europe, Asia Pacific and Oth 24.1% 31.2% 31.%
Publishing revenue by platform:
Console 72.2% 60.2% 78.5%
PC 13.5% 16.€% 11.5%
Handheld 11.5% 20.(% 7.7%
Accessorie! 2.8% 3.2% 2.2%
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Years Ended October 31, 2007 and 20(

Publishing
%
Increase/ Increase/

(thousands of dollars) 2007 % 2006 % (decrease) (decrease)

Net revenus $ 692,34: 100.% $ 753,31! 100.% $ (60,979 (8.1)%
Product cost 248,74 35.9% 279,94¢ 37.2% (31,207 (11.1)%
Software development costs and royal 136,48! 19.7% 193,53¢ 25.7% (57,059 (29.5%
Internal royalties 28,89: 4.2% 40,41 5.4% (11,52) (28.5%
Licenses 58,56¢ 8.5% 52,76 7.C% 5,80¢ 11.(%

Cost of goods solth) 472,69( 68.2% 566,66 75.2% (93,979 (16.6%

Gross profit $ 219,65: 31.7% $ 186,65« 24.8% $ 32,997 17.1%

W I I |
1) Includes $3,216 and $1,263 of stock-based compiensexpense, respectively, included in softwareettgyment costs and royalties.

Net revenue from otGrand Theft Autdranchise was $103.7 million lower in 2007, reflagta decrease from the strong sale&End Theft
Auto: Liberty City Storiefor PSP and PS2 in the prior year. In addition,reeenue related tohe Elder Scrolls IV: Oblivionwhich was
released in the second quarter of 2006, was appedgly $63.1 million lower in 2007. Partially offtieg the decline in our net revenue were
sales oBioShockpur new title that was released in the fourth cgrasf 2007 on the Xbox 360 and PC, and which h&ssa $85.1 million. It
addition, revenue from our baseball titles increase $38.2 million due to better performanceMajor League Baseball 2Kgompared to its
predecessor title and a greater number of prodleases, includinghe Bigson five platforms andILB Power Proon two platforms

Although consumer demand for the PS3 system didheotase as quickly as anticipated in 2007, regdauour titles for that platform
accounted for $66.2 million, or 9.6%, of our neblishing revenue in the current year. Nintendo's $¢stem sold at a stronger than expected
rate in 2007; our software sales for the Wii systamounted for $35.5 million, or 5.1%, of our nablishing revenue in 2007. Software sales
for the Xbox 360 accounted for 29.7% of net revemoe increased $31.2 million, or 17.9%, again otithg the 2007 sales &ioShockor this
platform of $63.1 million, offset by a decreasebB#.4 million in sales ofhe Elder Scrolls 1V: Oblivion Software sales for the PSP handheld
system decreased $68.9 million in 2007, primarie ¢b the strong sales Grand Theft Auto: Liberty City Storiés 2006. Sales for the PS2
and Xbox prior-generation systems decreased $8ili@dmdue to the continuing hardware transitiordancreased availability of the PS3 and
Xbox 360. We have also continued to reduce pri¢esipsoftware titles for the PS2 and Xbox platferas the next-generation hardware
installed base grows. Software sales for PC deti#84.6 million, or 25.3%, primarily due to a $2&lion decrease in revenue for sales of
The Elder Scrolls IV: Obliviofor PC, and a $14.1 million decrease in sales ofQuilization series, both of which were released in 2006. The
decrease was partially offset by saleBwfShockior the PC of $22.0 million in 2007.

Product costs as a percentage of net revenue rechagfatively consistent compared to the prior y8aftware development costs decreased in
2007, reflecting the above average external royaists forrhe Elder Scrolls 1V: Oblivioand approximately $18.8 million of impairment
charges for unreleased titles in 2006. We recofideti million of impairment charges for unreleasédg in 2007. In addition, in 2007 we were
able to realize a significant increase in the gposdit margin of our internally developed titlgmrticularlyBioShockand our sports products.
Both Major League Baseball 2Kand oulNBA 2Kseries had significantly higher gross margins ttair predecessor games due to higher
revenues on a comparable amount of software dew&opcosts. Internal royalty expense was lower @areentage of net revenue in 2007
result of fewer Rockstar titles being released sigdificantly lower sales dBrand Theft Auto
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products. License expense was a greater perceoftage revenue in 2007, reflecting the releasdsanttastic Four: Rise of the Silver Surfer,
All-Pro Football 2K8, Ghost RideandThe Darknesssompared tahe Da Vinci Code, Torino 20@5hd24: The Gamén the prior year. Sports
licensing costs, however, were a lower percentdgetrevenue, particularly for our baseball titkdsere we had a greater number of products
released and higher overall revenues than in tioe pear. We expect to realize increasing marginfiscal 2008 with the release of internally
developed, wholly-owned titles such@gsand Theft Auto NandMidnight Club: Los Angeles

Revenue earned from licensing our intellectual propto third parties increased to $30.8 millior2B07 from $10.9 million in 2006, primarily
related to our January 2007 releas&adnd Theft Auto: San Andrefs the PS2 and the July 2007 releas&rdnd Theft Auto: Liberty City
Storiesfor the PSP and PS2 in Japan. We recognize suladighigher gross profit margins on revenue earimecbnnection with licensing our
products.

Revenue earned outside of North America accourtieddproximately $239.9 million in 2007 compared$895.1 million in 2006. The year-
over-year decrease was primarily attributable deerease in sales ®he Elder Scrolls 1V: OblivioandGrand Theft Auto: Liberty City Stories
from the prior year. Foreign exchange rates beggbfievenue by approximately $18.7 million in 2007.

Distribution

%
(thousands of dollars) 2007 % 2006 % Increase Increase
Net revenue $ 289,45( 100.% $ 284,52! 100.% $ 4,92¢ 1.7%
Cost of goods sol 262,34 90.€% 258,81! 91.(% 3,52¢ 1.4%
Gross profit $ 27,10¢ 9.4% $ 25,71( 9.0% $ 1,39¢ 5.4%

Distribution revenue associated with software silesext-generation platforms increased $23.3iam|lwhich reflected the releases of PS3
and Wii hardware in the first quarter of 2007 alnel tontinuing increase in the installed base oithex 360. Next-generation software also
has higher price points than their predecessorymsdWe expect to see increases in sales forgengration platforms as the installed base of
the hardware continues to grow. In addition, safdsardware increased $7.9 million, or 8.4%, duthwintroduction of the PS3 and Wii
systems. The increase in net revenue was partitilet by a decrease in prior-generation softwatessof $14.8 million in 2007 as a result of
the continued decline in sales volume and averaljeg price of value and front-line software tgtlas the gaming industry transitions to next-
generation platforms. We also continue to see asgé competition in the value software marketdiditéon, we experienced a decline in sales
of our PC products of $10.0 million, or 18.5%. Fgrecurrency exchange rates increased net revenapgroximately $2.8 million in 2007.
Gross profit margins remained relatively consistamhpared to the prior year.
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Operating Expenses

%

% of net % of net Increase/ Increase/
(thousands of dollars) 2007 revenue 2006 revenue (decrease) (decrease)
Selling and marketin $ 130,65: 13.2% $ 139,25( 13.2% $ (8,59¢) (6.2)%
General and administrati\ 148,78t 15.2% 154,01! 14.8% (5,227 (3.9%
Research and developmt 48,45¢ 4.9% 64,25¢ 6.2% (15,809 (24.6%
Business reorganization and rela 17,467 1.8% — 0.C% 17,467 N/M
Impairment of lon-lived asset: — 0.C% 15,60¢ 1.5% (15,609 N/M
Depreciation and amortizatic 27,44¢ 2.8% 26,39¢ 2.5% 1,05(C 4.(%
Total operating expenses!) $ 37281 38.%$  399,53( 38.5% $ (26,719 (6.7%

1) Includes stock-based compensation expense, whistallaated as follows:
2007 2006
Selling and marketing $ 1,232 $ 1,25¢
General and administrative 7,08( 13,277
Research and development 3,73¢ 6,13¢
Business reorganization and related 2,06¢ —

We maintained a consistent level of selling andketing expense on a percentage of net revenue ibg2i®7. The decreased expense level
compared to the prior year reflects larger expemes in 2006 for marketing and promotion for @rand Theft Autgroducts. We also spent

$2.5 million less in marketing at the annual E8lérahow event in 2007 as a result of the industdgwownsizing of the event compared to

past years.

General and administrative expenses decreasea dowdr stock-based compensation expense, refgectist savings associated with the
departure of our former management team. We alsiewaed approximately $2.8 million of cost saving2D07 as a result of our 2006 studio
closures, for which we recorded $1.9 million of smnce and lease termination expenses in 2006200& year also included $2.3 million
related to the relocation of our international psiihg headquarters to Geneva, Switzerland. Higkpenses related to information technology
system improvements of approximately $2.6 millior2D07 offset the decrease in our 2007 generabdministrative expenses discussed
above.

General and administrative expenses for 2007 afé 2o included occupancy expenses (primarily, igilities and office expenses) of
$14.9 million and $15.2 million, respectively, riedd to our development studios.

In 2006, we recorded approximately $3.5 milliorseferance expense relating to the terminationsefaneh and development employees
resulting from studio closures. The 2006 studisutes resulted in a reduced number of developnezsbpnel and cost savings of
approximately $4.0 million in 2007. In addition, weslized higher software capitalization rates essalt of increased development work in
progress for next-generation platforms.

Business reorganization and related expenses m@ogployee termination costs of $10.1 million, @ity as a result of severance for former
management and consolidating our internationalaifmers. We recorded $2.9 million of relocation dake termination costs related to the
relocation of our 2K headquarters to Californiatdtal, we spent $4.4 million on professional feglated to the replacement of prior
management and the election of five new directmimutr Board of Directors at our annual stockholderseting (rather than the six incumbent
directors nominated and recommended by our incutrdeard of Directors), $2.0 million of which was/estment banking fees incurred by
prior management to consider the possibility obpreing alternative proposals to our stockholdadyuding a
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potential sale of the Company. We expect to inppreximately $3.0 million of reorganization expesige fiscal 2008.

In 2006, we recorded an impairment charge of $8lliomrelated to goodwill and fixed assets at daytech subsidiary, a manufacturer and
distributor of video game accessories, which ogsratithin our publishing segment. The impairmergrges reflected a decline in the fair
value of Joytech's business resulting from incréasenpetition and a decline in the price and sabéisme of prior-generation accessories due
to weaker market conditions and the ongoing traarstb next-generation platforms. Additional impaént charges of approximately

$7.5 million were related to the write-off of cartdrademarks, acquired intangibles, investmentsfixed assets. These write-offs were based
on management's assessment of the future vallesé assets, including future business prospedtestiimated cash flows to be derived from
these assets.

Interest and other, net

%

Increase/ Increase/
(thousands of dollars) 2007 % 2006 % (decrease) (decrease)
Interest income, ne $ 2,27¢ 0.2% $ 2,66¢ 03% $ (390 (14.9%
Loss on sale and deconsolidat (4,469 (0.5% — 0.C% (4,469 N/M
Other 34 0.C% 20 0.C% 14 70.(%
Interest and other, net $ (2,16)) (0.29% $ 2,68¢ 0% $ (4,84%) (180.5)%
| I | I I

In September 2007, we sold substantially all ofabgets, primarily inventory and accounts rece&atil our whollyewned Joytech video gal
accessories subsidiary, formerly a component opaobtishing segment, for approximately $3.6 milliarcash. The disposition of Joytech did
not involve a significant amount of assets or maligrimpact our operating results. We recognizeBdl million loss on the sale of our Joyt
business.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, we recognized a lfs$1.4 million when we deconsolidated the neetsef Blue Castle Games, Inc., which was
previously accounted for, in accordance with FINR)6 as a wholly-owned subsidiary and consideregkta variable interest entity. Blue
Castle continues to develop certain of our spittest however, we are no longer considered tchbeptimary beneficiary of Blue Castle's
future profits or losses.

Provision for incometaxes. Income tax expense of $10.2 million for 200&wagher than the $0.4 million expense for 2006 tdusur

ability in 2006 to carry back losses to prior yedngreby taking a tax benefit for a portion of tret operating loss generated in 2006. No such
carry back is available for our 2007 loss. We rdedra valuation allowance of approximately $63.Bioni in 2006 and increased it by

$40.6 million in 2007 based on the uncertaintyhef tealization of certain deferred tax assets.é&ffective tax rate differed from the federal,
state and foreign statutory rates primarily duthtorecording of valuation allowances.

We are regularly audited by domestic and foreigintpauthorities. Audits may result in tax asses#sien excess of amounts claimed and the
payment of additional taxes. We believe that oxmptasitions comply with applicable tax law, andtthve have adequately provided for
reasonably foreseeable tax assessments.

Net lossand loss per share.  For the year ended October 31, 2007, net l@ss$238.4 million, compared to $184.9 million ir0DB0ONet loss
per share for the year ended October 31, 2007 w&3 $compared to $2.60 in 2006. Weighted averhgees outstanding were relatively flat
compared to the prior period and did not have aifsignt impact on our loss per share.
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Years Ended October 31, 2006 and 2005

Publishing
%
Increase/ Increase/

(thousands of dollars) 2006 % 2005 % (decrease) (decrease)

Net revenue $ 753,31! 100.(% $ 851,86: 100.(% $ (98,54)) (11.0%
Product cost 279,94¢ 37.2% 276,70: 32.5% 3,24¢ 1.2%
Software development costs and royal 193,53¢ 25.7% 98,15¢ 11.5% 95,38 97.2%
Internal royalties 40,41 5.4% 88,18: 10.2% (47,769 (54.2)%
Licenses 52,76: 7.C% 6,281 0.7% 46,48 740.(%

Cost of goods sole) 566,66 75.2% 469,32 55.1% 97,33¢ 20.7%

Gross profit $ 186,65 24.6% $ 382,53¢ 44.5% $ (195,88Y) (51.2)%

W W s I N
1) Includes $1,263 of stock-based compensation exgar&@06, included in software development cost rayalties.

Net revenue for the year ended October 31, 2006dsed compared to the prior year, which includexhg sales oGrand Theft Auto: San
Andreas, our most popular product to datrand Theft Auto: San Andreass released in October 2004 for PS2 and in Jud® &0 Xbox

and PC, and accounted for more than 25% of ourtetanue in 2005. Net revenue fr@dnand Theft Aut@roducts was $226.9 million lower
in the 2006 period. In 2006, we also experiencdddine in net revenue due to weaker industry dand, resulting largely from the transition
to next-generation hardware platforms and the dssatdecrease in demand for prior-generation vgenes. Consumers often delay their
software purchases in anticipation of next-genengplatform launches and as a result, we redudedgpon some of our prior-generation
software titles to meet diminishing demand througl2006. Offsetting the decrease were strong sdiléke Elder Scrolls IV: Obliviofor the
Xbox 360 and PC of $104.8 million in 2006. Net newe for the years ended October 31, 2006 and 2@d&des licensing revenue of

$10.9 million and $17.8 million, respectively.

We continue to derive the majority of our reventgaf software that is created for video game conglalforms, which accounted for 60.2%
revenue in 2006 compared to 78.5% for the compar2@05 period. We expect our revenue mix to coetioufavor game consoles. Handheld
gaming platforms have also contributed significatdl our revenue, due mostly to the success ofsmand Theft Autdorand titles for the PSP.

Product costs became a greater percentage oh&ttadvenue in 2006, as we lowered prices and édomesr margins on some of our prior-
generation software titles, and continued to shiftfocus to developing for next-generation ganplagforms. Software development costs and
royalties as a percentage of net revenue increas#@D6 due to higher external royalty costs reldtesales of externally developed software
titles, particularlyThe Elder Scrolls 1V: OblivioriThe average cost of game development increase@lif, 2 trend that we expect to persist as
next-generation platforms allow for more elabogaeeplay experiences. In addition, we recordedrgairment charge of $20.7 million in
2006 to write off certain product, royalty and saite development costs related to game titleswkeato longer intended to bring to market
therefore would not recover their capitalized valaéernal royalties were lower as a result of significant sales oGrand Theft Auto: San
Andreasin 2005. Increased license costs in 2006 refletttedirst full year of our long-term, third partyausive licensing relationships with
Major League Baseball Properties and the Major Ledaseball Players Association.

Operations outside of North America accounted fipraximately 40.5% and 42.8% of our net revenu20@6 and 2005, respectively. In 2006,
we realized lower revenue in Europe, again reftecthe comparison to the higher saleS&adnd Theft Auto: San Andreas2005.
International revenue for 2006 primarily
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consisted of sales @rand Theft Auto: Liberty City Storidsr PSP and PSZhe Elder Scrolls 1V: Obliviofor Xbox 360 and PGGrand Theft
Auto: San Andreaon multiple platformsGrand Theft Auto: Vice City Storiésr PSP andPreyfor Xbox 360 and PC.

Foreign currency exchange rates benefited net tevby approximately $6.0 million in 2006.

Distribution

%
(thousands of dollars) 2006 % 2005 % Decrease Decrease
Net revenue $ 284,52! 100.% $ 349,35¢ 100.% $ (64,83) (18.6)%
Cost of goods sol 258,81! 91.(% 317,05! 90.8% (58,240 (18.9)%
Gross profit $ 25,71( 9.C% $ 32,30: 9.2% $ (6,599 (20.4%

Our distribution revenue is derived from the sdléhard party software titles, hardware and accdesoThe decrease in distribution revenue in
2006 reflected increased competition and a dedtinke sales volume and average selling priceghbfevand front-line software titles, as our
industry transitioned to nexgeneration platforms. The decline in sales of safentitles was partially offset by an increaseandware sales at
peripherals, largely due to the launch of Microsafbox 360 in the first quarter of fiscal 2006r&ign currency exchange rates decreased net
revenue by approximately $4.7 million in 2006. Grosargins remained consistent year over year.

Operating Expenses

% of net % of net Increase/ % Increase/
(thousands of dollars) 2006 revenue 2005 revenue (decrease) (decrease)
Selling and marketin $ 139,25( 13.4% $ 156,66¢ 13.(% $ (17,419 (11.)%
General and administrati\ 154,01! 14.£% 124,41t 10.2% 29,59¢ 23.8%
Research and developmt 64,25¢ 6.2% 73,72¢ 6.1% (9,46€) (12.9%
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 15,60¢ 1.5% — 0.C% 15,60¢ N/M
Depreciation and amortizatic 26,39¢ 2.5% 22,01¢ 1.8% 4,38: 19.%
Total operating expense$!) $ 399,53( 38.5% $ 376,82 31.%% $ 22,70¢ 6.C%

1) Includes stock-based compensation expense, whistellacated as follows:
2006 2005
Selling and marketing $ 1,25¢ $ 3,28:
General and administrative 13,277 5,782
Research and development 6,13¢ 7,077

We maintained a consistent level of selling andkeiamg expense as a percentage of net revenudh [30decreasing overall spending
compared to the prior year, which contained sultistamarketing and promotion expenses®and Theft Auto: San Andreai 2006, we

also spent $6.5 million less on in-store promoti@uvertising and reduced by $1.4 million our exgeincurred at E3, an annual industry
trade exhibition. The decrease was also due torlpersonnel expenses, primarily resulting fromduotion in incentive compensation of

$2.0 million, consistent with our decreased reverar net profits in 2006. Partially offsetting decrease in selling and marketing expenses
for the year ended October 31, 2006 were increasadvertising and promotion of our 2K Sports ganpasticularlyMajor League Baseball
2K6.

General and administrative expense increased if,3fnarily due to an increase in personnel cos#&l1.6 million, which included
approximately $6.9 million of expense related t® #uoption of
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SFAS 123(R) on November 1, 2005. We also incumeceimental severance costs of $0.6 million in #wed and third fiscal quarters of 2(
in connection with our cost savings plans, whidatiided three studio closures. The increase in dbasled compensation in 2006 was partially
offset by a decrease in incentive compensatior2dd fillion, consistent with our decreased reveaine net profits in 2006.

Operating expenses in 2006 reflected a full yeayeoferal and administrative expenses related t@@0% acquisitions, resulting in
approximately $1.0 million of additional occuparayd related expenses compared to the prior yeaddition, as a result of various ongoing
legal matters, including a review of our stock optgrants and process improvement projects, weriedwan incremental $4.6 million in
professional fees in 2006. In 2006, general andigigtrative expenses also increased for lease tetion fees of $1.3 million incurred in
connection with the closure of development studaalglitional insurance expense of $3.1 million aosts for information technology system
improvements of $2.8 million. General and administe expenses for 2006 and 2005 also includedpzsury expenses (primarily rent,
utilities and office expenses) of $15.2 million é8810 million, respectively, for our developmenidios.

The decrease in research and development expe@88&nwas primarily attributable to studio closuaes lower personnel costs, which
decreased by approximately $7.2 million. Lower mtoee compensation in 2006 of $8.3 million, coresigtwith decreased revenue and net
profits in 2006, and a greater percentage of saladyrelated costs for our software developmergqerel being capitalized, resulted in lower
compensation expense than in 2005. Production ergsegiso decreased by $1.8 million in 2006 as mwiooerr titles reached the technological
feasibility stage of development. Employee sevesanosts of $3.5 million incurred in connection witle closure of development studios and a
full year of expenses related to our 2005 busiaegsiisitions offset our $7.9 million decrease isech and development costs in 2006.

A substantial portion of our development costscagitalized once software development projectshréachnological feasibility, which is
relatively early in the development process. Sumstscare subsequently amortized as cost of goddssmmencing with the initial release of
the title. Amounts earned under our internal rgyptbgram, which are based on product sales, grermed as incurred in cost of goods sold.
During 2006, $8.1 million of equity compensatiocarled in connection with SFAS 123(R), which isdity related to the completion and
release of our titles, was capitalized as softvdgneslopment costs. Such costs are amortized astgebds sold upon release of the title.

We recorded impairment charges of approximately@fllion in 2006, related to the write-off of giwill and fixed assets at our Joytech
subsidiary as well as other intangibles. The impaint charges were based on management's assesdentuture value of these assets,
including future business prospects and estimedst ilows to be derived from these assets.

Depreciation and amortization expense increas@0@ as we upgraded and improved software systatheegorded a full year of expense
related to the fixed assets and leasehold improm&sveEquired in connection with our developmendistpurchases in 2005 and 2006.

Provision for incometaxes. Income tax expense was $0.4 million for 200&pared to $6.4 million for 2005. The income tax exge
recorded against our net loss in 2006 was primarilgsult of a $63.5 million increase in our vaiomtllowance that was recorded in
accordance with SFAS 109 to reduce our deferredsarts, which increased our net loss per shaapmpximately $0.89. The valuation
allowance was primarily recorded due to uncertaiatarding the realization of deferred tax assitbatable to our net operating loss
carryforwards. As a result of the significant adfisnt to our valuation allowance during 2006, deaive tax rate was 0.2% for the full year,
compared to 15.4% in the prior year, which was iobpe by additional reserves recorded for productrns primarily related to our North
American retail inventory oGrand Theft Auto: San Andreas

We adopted SFAS 123(R) on November 1, 2005, whegaires, among other items, the recognition ofkstqation expense in the results of
operations. As a result of the adoption of SFAS(R23the income
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tax effects of compensatory stock options are thetlin the computation of the income tax expensadfit), and deferred tax assets and
liabilities, subject to certain prospective adjustits to stockholders' equity for the differencesveen the income tax effects of expenses
recognized in the results of operations and thetedlamounts deducted for income tax purposes. orimur adoption of SFAS 123(R), the tax
benefits relating to the income tax deductionsciimpensatory stock options were recorded direotitdackholders' equity.

We are regularly audited by domestic and foreiginthauthorities. Audits may result in tax asses#sien excess of amounts claimed and the
payment of additional taxes. We believe that oumtasitions comply with applicable tax law, andtth@ have adequately provided for
reasonably foreseeable tax assessments.

Net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share.  For the year ended October 31, 2006, net l@ss$84.9 million, or $2.60 per share,
compared to net income of $35.3 million or $0.50dliuted share, for the year ended October 315268sulting from the changes referred to
above and a higher number of weighted average slatstanding, which reflects shares issued in ection with stock-based compensation
arrangements and business acquisitions. The redistock option granting practices performed bynd the Special Committee resulted in a
$1.3 million reduction in net income, or $0.02 pgéuted share in 2006, compared to a reductioreinmcome of $1.9 million, or $0.03 per
diluted share in 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary cash requirements have been to funthéidevelopment, manufacturing and marketing ofpablished products (ii) working
capital (iii) acquisitions and (iv) capital expenues. In addition, we expect to incur further cabligations as part of our business
reorganization initiatives. Historically, we hawadied on funds provided by operating activities ahdrt and long-term borrowings to satisfy
our working capital needs.

In July 2007, we entered into a credit agreemetit Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. (the "Credit Agreenti§nwhich provided for a revolving credit
facility in an amount equal to the lesser of (a)@&D million and (b) the borrowing base, which dstssof the sum of 85% of eligible accounts
receivable (net of certain reserves), plus 65%igitde inventory (net of certain reserves), pI5%® million. Amounts outstanding under the
Credit Agreement were secured by substantiallpfatiur U.S. based assets and the equity of our diiengubsidiaries. As of October 31, 2007,
we had borrowed $18.0 million and had $72.0 millimailable for borrowings under the Credit Agreem¥&ve had $10.0 million of letters of
credit outstanding at October 31, 2007. As of Oetd1, 2007, we were in compliance with all coveaamd requirements in the Credit
Agreement.

In November 2007, we entered into an amended astdteel credit agreement with Wells Fargo Footintl, (the "Amended Credit
Agreement"), which increased the principal amodrdur revolving credit facility from $100.0 millioto $140.0 million. The Amended Credit
Agreement provides for a borrowing base, whichrigistour ability to borrow to the sum of (a) $4®lllion and (b) the sum of 85% of U.S.
eligible accounts receivable (net of certain resgnand the lesser of 65% of U.S. eligible inven{oet of certain reserves) or $50.0 million.
The Amended Credit Agreement separately providebdorowings by certain of our United Kingdom suiaiies (the "U.K. Subfacility"), in
an amount equal to the lesser of (a) $25.0 milintb) the U.K. borrowing base, which consistshef sum of 85% of the eligible accounts
receivable (net of certain reserves) of our UnKétydom subsidiaries, plus the lesser of 50% ofetligible inventory of our United Kingdom
subsidiaries and $4.0 million. Amounts drawn onlthk. Subfacility reduce the principal amount tiaa are able to borrow in the U.S.,
provided that the U.S. borrowing base allows fdeast $100.0 million in borrowings.

Amounts outstanding under the Amended Credit Agezgrare secured by all of our assets and the eqfidyr subsidiaries based in the U.S.
and U.K. Revolving loans under the Amended Credit
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Agreement bear interest at our election of (a) % @0 1.25% above a certain base rate, or (b) 2.26260% above the LIBOR Rate, with the
margin rate subject to the achievement of certe@mame liquidity levels. We are also required tg pdee of 0.375% on the unused available
balance. The Amended Credit Agreement matures lgr3J2012.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains customatyicgsns and remedies for events of default. Bagig in January 2008, the Amended
Credit Agreement also contains a requirement tlenaintain an interest coverage ratio of more tiranto one for the trailing 12 month
period, if the liquidity of our operations (includj available borrowings under the Amended Credite&gent) falls below $30.0 million, based
on a 30-day average.

As of October 31, 2007 and 2006, amounts due fronfiee largest customers comprised approximatdiyi% and 45.4% of our gross
accounts receivable balance, respectively, withs@mificant customers (those that individually qoised more than 10% of our gross
accounts receivable balance) accounting for 41.88636.4% of such balance at October 31, 2007 afd,28spectively. We believe that the
receivable balances from these largest customenstd@present a significant credit risk based ast pollection experience.

Generally, we have been able to collect our acsorgtteivable in the ordinary course of businessd@/eot hold any collateral to secure
payment from customers and our receivables arergiynaot covered by insurance. However, from titméime we purchase insurance from
financial institutions on our accounts receivabléh certain limits, to help protect us from lossthe event of a customer's bankruptcy or
insolvency.

We are subject to credit risks, particularly if asfyour receivables represent a limited numbeetditers or are concentrated in foreign mark
If we are unable to collect our accounts receivaisléhey become due, it could adversely affectiquidity and working capital position and
we would be required to increase our provisiondimubtful accounts.

We have entered into various agreements in theargicourse of business that require substant&d ceammitments over the next several
years. Generally, these incluc

. Agreements to acquire licenses to intellectual prigpsuch as trademarks, copyrights and techndimgyse in the publishing
marketing and distribution of our software titl€ur licensing and marketing commitments primaréflect agreements with
major sports leagues and players' associationgxguick at various times through October 2012;

. Contractual advances and royalty payments to fiarty software developers that expire at variougs through
December 2009. Guaranteed minimum payments assatimfastory performance;

. Operating leases, primarily related to occupanggnifure and equipment, expiring at various tinfestigh June 2015; and
. Distribution agreements to purchase third partyvgafe games that require guaranteed minimum paystbraugt
October 2008.
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A summary of annual minimum contractual obligatiamsl commitments as of October 31, 2007 is asvislifin thousands of dollars):

Licensing and Software Operating Line of

Marketing Development Leases Distribution Credit Total
2008 $ 69,66 $ 29,30¢ % 16,85 $ 9452 $ — $ 12527
2009 58,567 12,53¢ 16,30: — — 87,40:
2010 51,99 1,00( 14,33¢ — — 67,33
2011 49,50¢ — 12,97¢ — — 62,48¢
2012 50,08: — 11,08 — 18,00( 79,16¢
Thereaftel — 13,14( — — 13,14(
Total $ 279,817 $ 42,84: $ 84,68t $ 9,45: $ 18,000 $ 434,79

In addition to the cash commitments above, we lss@ entered into acquisition agreements that coptravisions for contingent cash
consideration subject to certain acquired compaaiégeving agreed upon financial or unit sales gjoBthe amount and timing of these
payments are currently not fixed or determinabée Rote 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfents full discussion of our potential
acquisition commitments.

We believe that our current cash and cash equitsaéand projected cash flow from operations, aloith @wvailability under our Credit
Agreement, will provide us with sufficient liquiglito satisfy our cash requirements for working talpcapital expenditures and commitments
through at least the next 12 months. In additioanagement believes it has the ability, if necesgarymplement further restructuring activiti
that would substantially reduce personnel and pelerelated costs, reduce capital expenditurelsiceresearch and development
expenditures and/or reduce selling and marketipgeditures. Management also believes it has tHigyatioi obtain additional financing, if
necessary.

Our cash and cash equivalents decreased by $5Highrfor the year ended October 31, 2007 as fadow

Year Ended October 31,

(thousands of dollars) 2007 2006 2005
Cash (used for) provided by operating activi $ (64,049 $ 43,36: $ 39,98(
Cash (used for) investing activiti (24,61)) (25,27 (91,039
Cash provided by financing activiti 25,69« 2,971 6,22%
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash eqnis. 8,23¢ 4,22 (3,069
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis $ (54,729 $ 25,28 $ (47,900

At October 31, 2007 we had $77.8 million of casH eash equivalents, compared to $132.5 millioneb®er 31, 2006. Our decrease in cash
and cash equivalents from October 31, 2006 wasapifyra result of cash used for operating actisgitiem 2007, our net loss was partially offset
by non-cash expenses and a decrease in workintakagimarily due to reduced revenue levels. lasea software development costs and
licenses reduced cash flow from operating actisitie we continued to prepare for the major releafs&sand Theft Auto NandMidnight

Club: Los Angele# fiscal 2008 and inventory increased due to tlghér installed base of next-generation platformd @elated software
demand.

Our cash flow from operations was also impactegdyments for professional fees related to our stgtlon investigation. During the year
ended October 31, 2007, we paid approximately $ddllibn related to such matters. In addition, veed $13.9 million of cash in the year
ended October 31, 2007 for our business reorgaoizatitiatives, mainly for severance and leasenteation costs and professional fees rel
to our change in senior executive management ansbtidating our international and 2K operations. &pect to incur further cash obligatir
in 2008 as we continue to take actions to impravecost structure.
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Cash used for investing activities consisted prilpaf capital expenditures in 2007, which decreasempared to the prior period. Purchases
of fixed assets reflect the continuous investmemrogramming and development equipment, high-definmonitors and leasehold
improvements at certain of our studios. We alsoereash payments of $5.8 million for prior year asijions. The cash payments were
partially offset by $2.8 million of cash receivadm the sale of our Joytech subsidiary.

Cash provided by financing activities reflected tlash received from our line of credit of $18.0limil and the exercise of stock options in
2007, which was higher than the amount receive2DD6 as a result of a higher average stock pricagl2007 and trading restrictions impo
as a result of our stock option investigation ie ghior year. These cash receipts were offset blg paid for debt issuance costs in connection
with our Credit Agreement in the third quarter 60Z.

Cash and cash equivalents increased $8.2 milli@d@¥ as a result of foreign currency exchangestagion.
International Operations

Net revenue earned outside of the United Statesnisipally generated by our operations in Eurdpanada, Australia and Asia. For 2007
2006, approximately 31.3% and 39.4%, respectivdlpur net revenue was earned outside of the UiSitates. We are subject to risks inherent
in foreign trade, including increased credit ridesiffs and duties, fluctuations in foreign curegrexchange rates, shipping delays and
international political, regulatory and economivelepments, all of which can have a significant &pon our operating results.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are subject to market risks in the ordinary sewf our business, primarily risks associated witdrest rate and foreign currency
fluctuations.

Historically, fluctuations in interest rates hawa had a significant impact on our operating resife had an outstanding loan balance of
$18.0 million under our Credit Agreement as of ®@eto31, 2007. As of October 31, 2007, we had $a0lion of letters of credit outstanding.
Under the Credit Agreement, the outstanding baléeees interest at our election of (a) 0.50% t@%@bove a certain base rate (7.50% at
October 31, 2007), or (b) 1.75% to 2.25% abovd IBOR rate (weighted average rate of 7.62% at Oat@i, 2007), with the margin rate
subject to the achievement of certain averageditjuievels. Changes in market rates may impactoture interest expense. For instance, if
the LIBOR rate were to increase or decrease oreeptage point (1.0%), our expected annual intengsense would change by approximately
$0.2 million based on our outstanding balance &3atbber 31, 2007.

In November 2007, we entered into an amended estdtesl credit agreement with Wells Fargo Foothilt, Revolving loans under the new
agreement bear interest at our election of (a)%.691.25% above a certain base rate, or (b) 2.262160% above the LIBOR Rate, with the
margin rate subject to the achievement of certeémame liquidity levels.

We transact business in foreign currencies an@esed to risks resulting from fluctuations ingfign currency exchange rates. Accounts
relating to foreign operations are translated lihited States dollars using prevailing exchangesrat the relevant quarter end. Translation
adjustments are included as a separate componstaakholders' equity. For the year ended OctolhePB07, our foreign currency translation
adjustment gain was approximately $28.0 millione Toreign exchange transaction gain recognizediirstatement of operations for the year
ended October 31, 2007 was $1.6 million.

Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a

The financial statements and supplementary datezapp a separate section of this report followiagt IV. We provide details of our valuat
and qualifying accounts in "Note 17—Supplementary
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Financial Information” to the consolidated finanatatements. All schedules have been omitted gheénformation required to be submitted
has been included on the consolidated financigstants or notes thereto or has been omitted aspptitable or not required.

ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accotants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Upon the approval of the Audit Committee of the Bbaf Directors of the Company, on April 4, 2008e ICompany dismissed
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ("PwC") as our indepanagistered public accounting firm.

During the Company's fiscal years ended OctobePB@5 and 2004 and through April 4, 2006 there werdisagreements with PwC on any
matter of accounting principles or practices, fitiahstatement disclosure, or auditing scope ocguare, which, if not resolved to the
satisfaction of PwC, would have caused it to makeference to the subject matter of the disagreémesonnection with its reports on the
financial statements for such years. PwC's remortthe Company's financial statements for the figears ended October 31, 2005 and 2004
did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaiofepinion, nor were they qualified or modifiedtasuncertainty, audit scope or accounting
principles.

During the Company's fiscal years ended OctobePB25 and 2004 and through April 4, 2006, thereeHaaen no reportable events as set"
in Item 304 (a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K except addws:

As more fully disclosed in Item 9A of the Companitznual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year eddctober 31, 2005, the Company
had identified the following material weaknessethim Company's internal control over financial mtipg as of October 31, 2005:

. The Company did not maintain effective controlsrabe existence and valuation of its accounts playethated to inventory
purchases. Specifically, the Company did not mairgéfective controls to identify, analyze and racibe amounts related to
inventory purchases included in accounts payablmterlying supporting documentation.

. The Company did not maintain effective controlsrabe accuracy of the amortization of its capittizoftware development
costs. Specifically, the Company did not have ¢iifeccontrols to accurately prepare and review ispo a spreadsheet
application used to calculate amortization expeaksed to capitalized software development costs.

On April 4, 2006, the Audit Committee of our BoariDirectors appointed Ernst & Young LLP ("E&Y") asir independent registered public
accounting firm to audit our financial statemeiiaring the three months ended January 31, 200@randgh April 4, 2006, neither we nor
anyone on our behalf consulted with E&Y regardiitges: (i) the application of accounting principlesa specified transaction, either
completed or proposed; or the type of audit opittiat might be rendered on our financial statemertd neither a written report nor oral
advice was provided to us by E&Y that was an imgutrfactor considered by us in reaching a decia#to any accounting, auditing or
financial reporting issue; or (ii) any matter thas either the subject of a disagreement (as akefindkem 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and
the related instructions) or a reportable eventiésribed in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K).

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atidthe participation of our management, our priatgxecutive officer and principal
financial officer have concluded that our discl@saontrols and procedures, as defined in Rulesl®8a)} and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange
Act, were effective as of October 31, 2007 to eashat information required to be disclosed byruseports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summagdmneldeported within the time periods
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specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissitas and forms and (ii) accumulated and commueécto management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financ@ficer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisiorgarding required disclosure.

Inherent Limitations Over Internal Contrc

Our internal control over financial reporting issitgned to provide reasonable assurance regardinghtiability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples. Our internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies andgadures that:

0] pertain to the maintenance of records that, inareasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trenactions and dispositions of
our assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactione@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofifiahstatements i
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptiess and that our receipts and expenditures @irggbmade only in
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshtdinectors; and

(i)  provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usedisposition of ou
assets that could have a material effect on oanfifal statements.

Management, including our Chief Executive OfficadaChief Financial Officer, does not expect thatioternal controls will prevent or detect
all errors and all fraud. A control system, no reattow well designed and operated, can provide meagonable, not absolute, assurance that
the objectives of the control system are met. Furtthe design of a control system must reflecfaloethat there are resource constraints, and
the benefits of controls must be considered redativtheir costs. Because of the inherent limitetim all control systems, no evaluation of
internal controls can provide absolute assuraraeathcontrol issues and instances of fraud, ¥, &ave been detected. Also, any evaluation of
the effectiveness of controls in future periodssareject to the risk that those internal controég/rhecome inadequate because of changes in
business conditions, or that the degree of comgdiavith the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Owigrancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act). Management conducted aluaon of the effectiveness of our internal cohtiver financial reporting based on the
criteria set forth in Internal Controltrtegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commis
(COSO0). Based on this evaluation, management hadumted that our internal control over financigiogting was effective as of October 31,
2007. Our independent registered public accouriing E&Y, has issued an attestation report oniaternal control over financial reporting.
The report on the audit of internal control ovesaficial reporting appears on page 57 of this FdifK.1

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogdin

There were no significant changes in our interoaltiol over financial reporting identified in maragent's evaluation during the fourth qua
of fiscal 2007 that have materially affected, ar srasonably likely to materially affect, our imtar control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Not applicable
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of th&Registrant

The information required by this Item is incorp@herein by reference to the sections entitledp&sal 1—Election of Director" and
"Executive Compensation—Section 16(a) Beneficialn@wghip Reporting Compliance" in the Company'sriiéfe Proxy Statement (the
"Proxy Statement") for the Annual Meeting of Stogkters to be held in 2008. The Company intenddedte Proxy Statement within

120 days after the end of the fiscal year (i.eoohefore February 28, 2008). The Company's Codgusiness Conduct and Ethics applicab
its directors and all employees, including senioaricial officers, is available on the Company'bsite atwww.take2games.conif the
Company makes any amendments to its Code of Bissdesduct and Ethics that is required to be diedgairsuant to the Exchange Act, the
Company will make such disclosures on its website.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorp@herein by reference to the section entitled tHtee Compensation and Related
Information" in the Company's Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficibfOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Mégrs

The information required by this Item is incorp@herein by reference to the section entitled UggcOwnership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" in the Company's Proxy 18&aie

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorp@aherein by reference to the section entitled t{deRelationships and Related
Transactions" in the Company's Proxy Statement.

Iltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorp@cherein by reference to the section entitledntiypal Accounting Fees and Services" in the
Company's Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15.

@

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of thepBrt:

0]
(if)
(iii)

Financial Statements. See Index to Financial Statésmon page 55 of this Report.

Financial Statement Schedule. See Note 17 to tisdidated Financial Statements.

Index to Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit Herewith
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporati 10-K 2/12/0¢ 3.1
3.1.1 Certificate of Designation, dated March 11, 1! 10-K 2/12/0¢ 3.1.1
3.1.2 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificatérmforporation,
dated April 30, 199 10-K 2/12/0¢ 3.1z
3.1.2 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificatérmforporation,
dated November 17, 20( 10-K 2/12/0¢ 3.1.:
3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Take-Two Interactiv
Software, Inc 8-K 4/4/07 99.Z
3.2.1 Amendment dated March 16, 2007 to the Registr&ylaws. 8-K 3/22/0 3(ii)
3.2.2 Amendment dated April 10, 2007 to the RegistraBylaws. 8-K 4/13/07 3(ii)
10.1 2002 Stock Option Plah 10-Q 9/8/0F 10.2
10.Z Incentive Stock Plah 106-Q 9/8/0¢ 10.1
10.2 Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Februd 07,
by and between the Company and Karl H. Win 10-K 2/28/01 10.5
10.Z Employment Agreement dated February 28, 2007 betiree
Company and Seth Kraus 8-K 3/6/07 10.1
10.t Separation Agreement and General Release betwdenThveo
Interactive Software, Inc. and Paul Eibeler datexiilA, 2007. 8-K 4/4/07 99.2
10.€ Management Agreement between Take-Two Interactive
Software, Inc. and ZelnickMedia Corporation datearth 30,
2007. 8-K 4/4/07 99.1
10.7 Separation Agreement and General Release betwé@enTveo
Interactive Software, Inc. and Karl H. Winters ab#goril 13,
2007. 8-K 4/13/07 99.1
10.¢ Employment Agreement between Take-Two Interactive
Software, Inc. and Lainie Goldstein dated July268)7. 8-K 7/17/07 10.1
10.¢ Amendment dated July 26, 2007 to the Managemergekxgent
dated March 30, 2007 between Tak&e Interactive Software, In
and ZelnickMedia Corporatiol 8-K 7127107 99.1
10.1C Licensed Publishing Agreement dated April 1, 2088Meen Sony
Computer Entertainment America, Inc. and the Corgpi 8-K 5/8/02 99.1
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10.11

10.1%

10.1:

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1%

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2(

10.21

10.22

10.2:

10.2¢

21.1

23.1

23.2

Xbox Publisher License Agreement dated Decembe20@0
between Microsoft Corporation and the Compa

Confidential License Agreement for Nintendo Gamé€dated
September 24, 2001 between Nintendo of America,dnd the
Company*

Confidential License Agreement for the Wii Consdéged
August 20, 2007, between Nintendo of America Imzl the
Company.*

Credit Agreement dated as of July 3, 2007, by andrey Take-
Two Interactive Software, Inc. and each of its Sdibsies
identified on the signature pages thereto as Barsweach of its
Subsidiaries identified on the signature pagestbeas Guarantol
the Lenders that are signatory thereto and Wellgd-Boothill,
Inc., as the arranger and administrative ag

Security Agreement dated as of July 3, 2007, magdesaloh of the
Grantors listed on the signature pages thereoi¥éelts Fargo
Foothill, Inc. in its capacity as administrativecat for the Lender
Group and the Bank Product Provide

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated aswérNber 1¢
2007, by and among Take-Two Interactive Software, &nd each
of its Subsidiaries identified on the signaturegmathereto as
Borrowers, each of its Subsidiaries identified loa signature
pages thereto as Guarantors, the Lenders thaigaeary thereto
and Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., as the arranger adhahinistrative
agent.

Supplement to Security Agreement dated as of Noeerh6, 2007
made by each of the grantors listed on the sigegtages thereof
and Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. in its capacity asrénistrative
agent for the Lender Group and the Bank Productiéecs.

Lease Agreement between the Company and Moklam
Enterprises, Inc. dated July 1, 2C

Form of Stock Option Grant Lett

Xbox 360 Publisher License Agreement dated Noverhlde2006,
between Microsoft Licensing, GP and the Comp

Agreement among Robert Flug, Oliver R. Grace,T&rdd Emmel,
Steven Tisch and Mark Lewis and the Comp

Employment Agreement dated November 16, 2007 betwree
Company and Gary Da

Form of Restricted Stock Award Let—Directors
Form of Restricted Stock Award Let—Employees
Subsidiaries of the Compal

Consent of Ernst & Young LL

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers |
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16-K

16-K

10-Q

8-K

8-K

8-K

10-Q

16-K

10-Q

8-K

2/12/0:

2/12/0:

9/10/07

7/9/07

7/9/07

11/20/0°

11/20/0°

9/16/0:

1/31/0¢

6/9/0¢

2/23/0

10.€

10.1(

10.1

10.1

10.z

99.1

99.2

10.z

10.1¢

10.1

10.1

X X X X X X




31.1 Chief Executive Officer Certification PursuantRales 13a-15
(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and ExchAcgef 1934,
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb@arkey Act of
2002

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification Pursuant talBs 13a-15
(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchaogef 1934,
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb@rkes- Act of
2002

32.1 Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant t8 W.S.C. Sectio
1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.z Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant t8 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley
Act of 2002

+

*

Represents a management contract or compensatorypphrrangement.

Portions hereof have been omitted and filed seplgratith the Securities and Exchange Commissiosymamt to a request f
confidential treatment that was granted in accordamith Exchange Act Rule 24b-2.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Take-Two | nteractive Software, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Take-Two Interactive Software, Inofg3ctober 31, 2007 and 2006, and
the related consolidated statements of operatgioskholders' equity, and cash flows for each eftito years in the period ended October 31,
2007. These financial statements are the respditysilifithe Company's management. Our respongtigito express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlgUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@love present fairly, in all material respedts,¢donsolidated financial position of Take-Two
Interactive Software, Inc. at October 31, 2007 2006, and the consolidated results of its operatéord its cash flows for each of the two y:
in the period ended October 31, 2007, in conformity U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

As discussed in Notes 1 and 13 to the consolid@tadcial statements, effective November 1, 20GkeFTwo Interactive Software, Inc.
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standslimsl23(R), Share-Based Payment.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the effectivenes:
Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc.'s internal cohbver financial reporting as of October 31, 2008&sed on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cossion and our report dated
December 20, 2007 expressed an unqualified opthiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
New York, New York
December 20, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Take-Two | nteractive Software, Inc.

We have audited Take-Two Interactive Software,'srinternal control over financial reporting asGiftober 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiratiaf the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Take-Two Interactive Software, immanagement is responsible for maintaining ffedtternal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigerd internal control over financial reportingluded in the accompanying Management's
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporti@gr responsibility is to express an opinion om ¢ffectiveness of the company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@iq@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordwer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiaguthe design and operating effectiveness ofiiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we consideredssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonablesasuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetméor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaatepted accounting principles. A
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (dapeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@éawith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadézjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdaces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Take-Two Interactive Software, Intaintained, in all material respects, effectiveinal control over financial reporting as of
October 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@inited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Take-Two Interactive Software,ds of October 31, 2007 and 2006, and the retadedolidated statements of operations,
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each efttto years in the period ended October 31, 200/aké-Two Interactive Software, Inc. and
our report dated December 20, 2007 expressed aralified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
New York, New York
December 20, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Take-Two | nteractive Software, | nc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statgs of operations, stockholders' equity and fas¥s present fairly, in all material
respects, the results of operations and cash ftidWakeTwo Interactive Software, Inc. for the year endesddber 31, 2005, in conformity wi
accounting principles generally accepted in thetéthStates of America. These financial statemawetshee responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on out. &Md conducted our audit of these
statements in accordance with the standards d?tidic Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unitedt&s). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonatdeirance about whether the financial statemeat$es of material misstatement. An audit
of financial statements includes examining, onsabasis, evidence supporting the amounts andodisds in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and gignifestimates made by management, and evaluagngyerall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York

January 31, 2006, except for the effects of theatesment discussed in Note 2 and the change inesgigrdiscussed in Note 15 of the
consolidated financial statements included in tiheual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Oqt8ike 2006, not included herein, as to
which the date is February 28, 2007.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

October 31, October 31,
2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 77,757 $ 132,48(
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $63,324 $91,509 at October 31, 2007 and Octc
31, 2006, respective! 104,93 143,19¢
Inventory 99,33: 95,52(
Software development costs and licer 141,44: 85,20°
Prepaid taxes and taxes receive 40,31¢ 60,40°
Prepaid expenses and ot 34,74 28,06(
Total current asse 498,52 544,87
Fixed assets, ni 44,98¢ 47,49¢
Software development costs and licenses, net oéuportion 34,46¢ 31,35¢
Goodwill 204,84! 187,68:
Other intangibles, n¢ 31,26¢ 43,24¢
Other asset 17,06( 14,15
Total asset $ 831,14. $ 868,80t

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 128,78: $ 123,94
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 146,83! 128,28:
Deferred revenu 36,54 11,317

Total current liabilities 312,16 263,54t
Deferred revenu 25,00( 50,00(
Line of credit 18,00( —
Other lon¢-term liabilities 4,82¢ 4,86¢

Total liabilities 359,98¢ 318,41

Commitments and contingenci

Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 100,000 shares dm#lipr74,273 and 72,745 shares issued

outstanding at October 31, 2007 and October 316,2@8pectively 743 727
Additional paic-in capital 513,29° 482,10:
Retained earnings (accumulated defi (77,749 60,65¢
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 34,86: 6,90z
Total stockholders' equit 471,15¢ 550,39:
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 831,14: $ 868,80t

See accompanying Notes.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended October 31,

2007 2006 2005
Net revenus $ 981,79: $ 1,037,841 $ 1,201,22
Cost of goods sol 735,03« 825,47¢ 786,37¢
Gross profil 246,75 212,36 414,84
Selling and marketin 130,65: 139,25( 156,66¢
General and administrati\ 148,78t 154,01! 124,41¢
Research and developm 48,45¢ 64,25¢ 73,72¢
Business reorganization and rela 17,467 — —
Impairment of goodwill and lor-lived asset: — 15,60¢ —
Depreciation and amortizatic 27,44¢ 26,39¢ 22,01¢
Total operating expens 372,81: 399,53( 376,82
Income (loss) from operatiol (126,05, (187,16¢) 38,01¢
Interest and other, n (2,167 2,684 3,702
Income (loss) before income tax (128,219 (184,48) 41,72(
Income taxe: 10,19: 407 6,40¢
Net income (loss $ (138,406 $ (184,889 $ 35,31«

Earnings (loss) per shal

Basic $ (199 $ (260 $ 0.51
Diluted $ (199 $ (260 $ 0.5¢
Weighted average shares outstand

Basic 71,86( 71,01: 69,85¢
Diluted 71,86( 71,01: 70,88:

See accompanying Notes.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the Years Ended October 31,

2007 2006 2005
Operating activities:
Net income (loss $ (138,400 $ (184,88) $ 35,31«
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to reshcprovided by (used fc
operating activities
Amortization and writ-off of software development costs and licer 109,89: 147,83: 81,95¢
Depreciation and amortization of Ic-lived asset: 27,44¢ 26,39¢ 22,01¢
Impairment of goodwill and lor-lived asset: — 15,60¢ —
Amortization and writ-off of intellectual propert 8,62¢ 10,50( 11,83¢
Stocl-based compensatic 17,32¢ 21,93 16,14
Provision (benefit) for deferred income ta: (2,719 17,36( (5,910
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 8,534
Payment for SEC settleme — — (7,500
Foreign currency transaction gain and of (1,656 (2,070 (1,54¢)
Loss on sale and deconsolidat 4,46¢ — —
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effeminfpurchases and disposal
businesses
Accounts receivable, n 39,15¢ 56,65 81,91¢
Inventory (10,209 40,70° 18,09¢
Software development costs and licer (163,859 (143,249 (138,609
Prepaid expenses, other current and othe-current assel 18,27( (30,08¢) (9,769
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, deferred revamiother liabilitie: 26,60: 66,66 (72,50¢)
Total adjustment 74,36: 228,25: 4,66¢€
Net cash (used for) provided by operating actisi (64,045 43,36 39,98(
Investing activities:
Purchase of fixed asse (21,599 (25,089 (29,03))
Acquisition of intangible asse — — (24,25()
Cash received from sale of busin 2,77¢ —
Payments for purchases of businesses, net of cgsiired (5,795 (191) (37,759
Net cash used for investing activiti (24,617) (25,27%) (91,039
Financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of optic 9,50z 2,80¢ 31,22:
Borrowings on line of cred 18,00( —
Payment of debt issuance cc (2,809 — —
Excess tax benefit on exercise of stock opt — 163 —
Purchase of treasury sto — — (24,929
Other — — (77)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 25,69 2,971 6,22
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equois 8,23¢ 4,227 (3,069
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (54,729 25,28¢ (47,900
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 132,48( 107,19! 155,09!
Cash and cash equivalents, end of \ $ 77,757 $ 132,48( $ 107,19¢
I EEEEEEEEEE—— I I I

See accompanying Notes.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

Supplemental information of businesses acquirec
Fair value of assets acquir

Current asset

Non-current assel

Intangible assei

Goodwill
Less, liabilities assume

Current liabilities

Deferred income taxe

Net assets of businesses acquired, excluding

Net cash paid for businesses acqu

Additional consideration in connection with acqtigsis
Deferred contingent considerati

Issuance of common stock in connection with actjaiss

Total consideratiol

Supplemental data:

Interest paic

Income taxes paid (receive
Issuance of warrants to licens

See accompanying Notes.

(in thousands)
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Years Ended October 31,

2006 2005

$ 112 $ 961

421 1,911

5,64¢ 14,17(

12,41¢ 45,01¢

(200) (5,451)

(1,620 (3,192

$ 16,77¢ $ 53,41¢

I I

$ 191 $ 37,75

4,08t 7,81¢

— 5,84:

12,50( 2,00(

$ 16,77¢ $ 53,41¢

| |

Years Ended October 31,
2007 2006 2005

89t $ 1,02¢ % 281
(13,439 9,87t 38,35(

1,18




TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands)

Common Stock Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other Total
Paid-in Deferred (Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders'
Shares Amount Capital Compensation Deficit) Income Equity
Balance, November 1, 20( 68,15¢ $ 68z $ 418,45( $ (5,929 $ 210,23: $ 6,35¢ $ 629,79¢
Net income — — — — 35,31« — 35,31«
Change in cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustmel — — — — — (5,66%) (5,66¢)
Comprehensive incon — — — — — — 29,64¢
Purchase of treasury shares, ret (925) 9) (24,92() — — — (24,929
Exchange of treasury shares, reti (367) (4) (8,307) — — — (8,31))
Proceeds from exercise of stock options a
warrants 2,75¢ 27 31,19¢ — — — 31,22
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — 16,14 — — 16,14:
Issuance of common stock in connection \
acquisition 82 1 1,99¢ — — — 2,00(
Issuance of compensatory stock and stocl
options 96¢ 10 23,33t (22,800 — — 54E
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 8,53¢ — — — 8,53¢
Issuance of warrants to licens — — 1,182 — — — 1,18¢
Balance, October 31, 201 70,667 707 451,47( (12,587) 245,54¢ 68€ 685,83(
Net loss (184,889 (184,88)
Change in cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustmel — — — — — 6,21¢€ 6,21¢€
Comprehensive los — — — — — — (178,677
Reclassification of deferred compensation
connection with the adoption of SFAS 1223 — — (12,58)) 12,58: — — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 27% 2 2,80¢ — — — 2,80¢
Stock-based compensation related to
compensatory stock optio 16,88 16,88:
Amortization of restricted stoc 11,53( 11,53(
Issuance of common stock in connection \
acquisition 67¢ 7 12,49: — — — 12,50(
Issuance of restricted stock, net of forfeitu
and cancellation 1,12¢ 11 32¢ — — — 33¢
Income tax effect of net stock option
cancellations and forfeiture (825) (825
Balance, October 31, 201 72,74* 721 482,10« — 60,65¢ 6,90z 550,39.
Net loss (138,401) (138,40¢)
Change in cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustmel — — — — — 27,95¢ 27,95¢
Comprehensive los — — — — — — (110,44))
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 67¢ 7 10,17¢ — — — 10,18:
Stock-based compensation related to
compensatory stock optio — — 10,08¢ — — — 10,08¢
Stock-based compensation related to Zelr
agreemen — — 1,28: — — — 1,28:
Amortization of restricted stoc — — 14,04( — — — 14,04(
Issuance of restricted stock, net of forfeitu
and cancellation 84¢ 9 (2,342 — — — (2,337
Income tax effect of stock option
cancellations and forfeiture — — (2,04¢) — — — (2,04¢)
Balance, October 31, 200 74,27 $ 74 $ 513,29 $ — $ (77,74 $ 34,861 $ 471,15.

See accompanying Notes.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per sharerounts)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

TakeTwo Interactive Software, Inc. (the "Company", "w&is", or similar pronouns) was incorporated ia thate of Delaware in 1993. We
a leading global publisher, developer and distdbof interactive entertainment software, hardward accessories. Our publishing segment,
which consists of Rockstar Games, 2K Games, 2KtSpord 2K Play, develops, markets and publishew/acé titles for the following leading
gaming and entertainment hardware platforms:

Sony Microsoft Nintendo
PLAYSTATION®3 Xbox 36(® Wii™
PlayStatio®2 Xbox® DS™
PSI® (PlayStatio®Portable) Game Bo® Advance

We also develop and publish software titles forRi@2 Our distribution segment, which primarily wmdés our Jack of All Games subsidiary,
distributes our products as well as third partywgafe, hardware and accessories to retail outhatsapily in North America.

The consolidated financial statements include itenicial statements of the Company and its wholliyred subsidiaries and of entities for
which the Company is deemed to be the primary liciaef as defined in FASB Interpretation No. 46(RJIN 46"), "Consolidation of Variab
Interest Entities." All material inter-company batas and transactions have been eliminated in Gdaton.

Certain amounts in the financial statements ofotther years have been reclassified to conform ¢ocilirrent year presentation for comparative
purposes.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfeztttae reported amounts of assets and liakslisied the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the dates of the financial sta¢@its and the reported amounts of net revenuexgehses during the reporting periods. The
most significant estimates and assumptions retetieet recoverability of software development cdétenses and intangibles, valuation of
inventories, realization of deferred income taxed the adequacy of allowances for returns, priceessions and doubtful accounts. Actual
amounts could differ significantly from these esties.

In July 2005, the Entertainment Software RatingrBaietermined that outrand Theft Auto: San Andre&ile should carry an Adults Only
("AO") rating in North America instead of the preusly determined Mature ("M") rating. The re-ratiofithe product negatively impacted our
sales, and as a result, in July 2005, we recorqedwasion of $32,637 for estimated product retuisch provision was subsequently reduced
by $8,154 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 afietter than expected sales and lower processistg celated to product returns. The resulting
impact on our consolidated results of operatiorthénfiscal year ended October 31, 2005 was a teduef approximately $24,500 and $5,900
for net revenue and cost of goods sold, respegtiagld a reduction of $18,600 for both gross predfil income from operations. As of

October 31, 2006, the reserve for estimated praeiigtns related tGrand Theft Auto: San Andreass zero and no material adjustments \
made to the reserve for the year then ended.
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Stock Split

In April 2005, we effected a three-for-two stochitsip the form of a stock dividend. Accordinglyll ahare and per share data in the
accompanying consolidated financial statementsnaels thereto give retroactive effect to the steuli.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of our financial instrumeits|luding cash and cash equivalents, accountsvaigkei, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, approximates fair value because ofrtebort maturities. We consider all highly liquigstruments purchased with original maturities
of three months or less to be cash equivalent®dber 31, 2007 we had $3,538 of cash on depesirted as a component of prepaid
expenses and other in the accompanying balance lsbesuse its use was restricted.

We transact business in various foreign currermigshave significant sales and purchase transaadiemominated in foreign currencies. From
time to time, we use forward exchange contractsitate foreign currency risk associated with fgnecurrency assets and liabilities,

primarily certain inter-company receivables andgidgs. We do not designate foreign currency forweardracts as hedging instruments under
SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instrumeraind Hedging Activities." As a result, we markatarket our foreign currency forward
contracts each period and any gains and losses@rgnized in net income. At October 31, 2007, a@ iho outstanding foreign currency
forward contracts.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We maintain cash balances at several major finhimsttutions. While we attempt to limit credit gasure with any single institution, balances
often exceed insurable amounts.

If the financial condition and operations of oustamers deteriorate, our risk of collection couldrease substantially. A majority of our trade
receivables are derived from sales to major retadad distributors. Our five largest customeraanted for 51.1%, 49.4% and 40.7% of net
revenue in each of the three years ended Octoh&0BY, 2006, and 2005, respectively. As of Oct@ier2007 and 2006, the five largest
customers accounted for 54.4% and 45.4% of oursgrosounts receivable, respectively. Customerdntatidually accounted for more than
10% of our gross accounts receivable balance ceerhd1.9% and 36.4% of such balances at Octob@0B%, and 2006, respectively. Except
for the largest customers noted above, all recévaglances from the remaining individual custonzeesless than 10% of our net receivable
balance. We believe that the receivable balances these largest customers do not represent disariicredit risk based on past collection
experience.

Inventory, net

Inventory is stated at the lower of average cosharket. We periodically evaluate the carrying eaddi our inventory and make adjustments as
necessary. Estimated product returns are includétki inventory balance at their cost.

Software Development Costs
We utilize both internal development teams anditpaurty software developers to develop the titlespwblish.

We capitalize internal software development castdiding stock-based compensation, specificalgniifiable employee payroll expense and
incentive compensation costs related to the conapletind release of titles), third party productéord other content costs, subsequent to
establishing technological feasibility of a softeaitle. Technological feasibility of a product lndes the completion of both technical design
documentation and game design documentation. Anatidin of such capitalized costs is recorded dtlealiy-title basis in cost of goods sold
using (1) the proportion of current year revenues t
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the total revenues expected to be recorded ovdiféhaf the title or (2) the straight-line methoser the remaining estimated useful life of the
title, whichever is greater.

We have established an internal royalty programhdhaws certain of our employees to participat¢hi@ success of software titles that they
assist in developing. Royalties earned by employeder this program are recorded as cost of goaldsas they are incurred.

We frequently enter into agreements with third ypdevelopers that require us to make advance pagniengame development and
production services. In exchange for our advangengats, we receive the exclusive publishing anttidigtion rights to the finished game title
as well as, in some cases, the underlying intelidgiroperty rights. Such agreements allow us ltg facover the advance payments to the
developers at an agreed royalty rate earned osuthgequent retail sales of such software, netyhgreed costs. We capitalize all advance
payments to developers as software developmenrg.ddsta product-by-product basis, we reduce soéwarelopment costs and record a
corresponding amount of research and developmeense for any costs incurred by third party develsrior to establishing technological
feasibility of a product. We typically enter intgraements with third party developers after conipdethe technical design documentation for
our products and therefore record the design deating up to a signed development contract asrelsend development expense. We also
generally contract with third party developers thate proven technology and experience in the gefrttee software being developed, which
often allows for the establishment of technologfealsibility early in the development cycle. Intersces where the documentation of the de
and technology are not in place prior to an exetatamtract, we monitor the software developmentg@se and require our third party
developers to adhere to the same technologicabfkgsstandards that apply to our internally deped products.

We capitalize advance payments as software deveoppoosts subsequent to establishing technolofiaalbility of a software title and
amortize them, on a title-by-title basis, as ragalin cost of goods sold. Royalty amortizationeisorded using (1) the proportion of current
year revenues to the total revenues expected tedoeded over the life of the title or (2) the gactual, revenue based royalty rate define
the respective agreement, whichever is greater.

At each balance sheet date, or earlier if an inidicaf impairment exists, we evaluate the recoviéitalof capitalized software costs, advance
development payments and any other unrecognizenimin commitments that have not been paid, usingraliscounted future cash flow
analysis, and charge any amounts that are deemedaverable to cost of goods sold. We use varicessores to estimate future revenues for
our software titles, including past performancsidfilar titles and orders for titles prior to theélease. For sequels, the performance of
predecessor titles is also taken into consideration

Prior to establishing technological feasibility, expense research and development costs as incurred
Licenses

Licenses consist of payments and guarantees mdusgders of intellectual property rights for usetloéir trademarks, copyrights, technolog'
other intellectual property rights in the developnef our products. Agreements with license holdgrserally provide for guaranteed

minimum royalty payments for use of their intellgaitproperty. Guaranteed minimum payments arealhjtrecorded as an asset (licenses) and
as a liability (accrued licenses) upon execution bfensing agreement, provided that no signifigeamformance remains to be completed by
the licensor. When significant performance reméinise completed by the licensor, we record paymehtn actually paid.

Certain licenses, especially those related to parts products, extend over multi-year periods emcbmpass multiple game titles. In addition
to guaranteed minimum payments, these licenseadrgty contain provisions that could require upay royalties to the license holder based
on pre-agreed unit sales thresholds.
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Capitalized licensing fees are amortized as liceimseost of goods sold on a title-by-title bagia aatio of (1) current period revenue to the
total revenue expected to be recorded over theingmgdife of the title or (2) the contractual reuee based royalty rate as defined in the
licensing agreement, whichever is greater. Sintdlazoftware development costs, we periodicallygevour sales projections to determine the
likely recoverability of our capitalized licenses\&ell as any unpaid minimum obligations. When wtednine that the value of a license is
unlikely to be recovered by product sales, cagitlilicenses are charged to cost of goods solédbas current and expected revenue, in the
period in which such determination is made. Crterised to evaluate expected product performancéoagstimate future sales for a title
include: historical performance of comparable sitlerders for titles prior to release; and thenested performance of a sequel title based o
performance of the title on which the sequel issblas

Fixed Assets, net

Office equipment, furniture and fixtures are depatsd using the straight-line method over theimested useful life of five years. Computer
equipment and software are generally depreciated) tise straight-line method over three years. ekakl improvements are amortized over
the lesser of the term of the related lease orrsgegars. The cost of additions and bettermentsap#alized, and repairs and maintenance costs
are charged to operations, in the periods incukMten depreciable assets are retired or sold,abieand related allowances for depreciation
are removed from the accounts and the gain orisogognized. The carrying amounts of these assetsecorded at historical cost.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of purchase price paid dadentified intangible and tangible net assets gjuéed companies. Intangible assets consist
of trademarks, intellectual property, non-compepeaments, customer lists and acquired technoldgstain intangible assets acquired in a
business combination are recognized as assetsfepargoodwill. Identified intangibles other thanagwill are generally amortized using the
straight-line method over the period of expecteakdiie ranging from three to ten years, except foeliectual property, which are usage-based
intangible assets that are amortized using theteshof the useful life or expected revenue stream.

We perform an annual test for impairment of gootinithe fourth quarter of each fiscal year or iearif indicators of impairment exist. We
determine the fair value of each reporting unihgsa discounted cash flow analysis and compare wicles to the respective reporting unit's
carrying amount. As a result of the fiscal 2006 anment test, we recorded a goodwill impairmentrgbdor the year ended October 31, 2006.
See Note 7 for more details of the charge.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review all long-lived assets whenever eventshanges in circumstances indicate that the cargimgunt of an asset may not be
recoverable, including assets to be disposed sbby; whether previously held and used or newlyiaed. We compare the carrying amoun
the asset to the estimated undiscounted futureftmsh expected to result from the use of the ask#ie carrying amount of the asset exceeds
estimated expected undiscounted future cash flawsecord an impairment charge for the differenesvleen the carrying amount of the asset
and its fair value. The estimated fair value isegally measured by discounting expected future 8asls at our incremental borrowing rate or
fair value, if available.

During the second and third quarters of fiscal 2006 took measures to reduce costs and close e underperforming development
studios. We ceased the development of certain aodttitles, resulting in a non-cash impairment gedrecorded as a component of cost of
goods sold) of $20,742 to write off unrecoveratadpitalized software and royalties, primarily in oestion with such studio closures. We also
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wrote off fixed assets, trademarks and other asseslting in a charge to operating expenses ¢287in the year ended October 31, 2006. In
addition, in connection with our 2006 goodwill inipaent testing, we recognized a charge of $1,788ed to fixed assets at our Joytech
subsidiary that had book values in excess of falue. All of such costs were recorded in our piititig segment.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred taxes under the asset dritityianethod of accounting for income taxes. Untler asset and liability method, deferred
income taxes are recognized for differences betwrefinancial statement and tax bases of assdtfiahilities at currently enacted statutory
tax rates for the years in which the differencesexpected to reverse. The effect on deferred taixaxhange in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactmetd. déaluation allowances are established when weraiéne that it is more likely than not
that such deferred tax assets will not be reali¥é¢el.do not record income tax expense related &idorwithholding taxes or United States
income taxes which may become payable upon theriajpen of undistributed earnings of foreign swuliaiies, as such earnings are expecte
be reinvested indefinitely outside of the Unitedt8s.

Our cumulative pre-tax loss in our three most réfienal years represents sufficient negative ewigefor us to determine that the
establishment of a full valuation allowance agadeferred tax assets is appropriate in severaliofeporting jurisdictions, primarily the Unit
States and Switzerland. This valuation allowandsets deferred tax assets associated with futdrdeductions as well as carryforward items.
Although we expect that these assets will ultimaba utilized, future realization cannot be assured

We use estimates and assumptions to compute thisiorofor income taxes including allocations ofteé transactions to different tax
jurisdictions, amounts of permanent and temporé#fgrénces, the likelihood of deferred tax assetisd recovered and the outcome
contingent tax risks. These estimates and assungpdie revised as new events occur, more experigacguired and additional informatior
obtained. The impact of these revisions is recomdédcome tax expense or benefit in the periodliich they become known.

Revenue Recognition

We earn our revenue from the sale of internallyettgyed interactive software titles and from the gdltitles developed by and/or licensed
from third party developers ("Publishing revenudVe also earn revenue from the sale of interactdfwvare titles published by third parties,
hardware and accessories ("Distribution revenue").

We recognize revenue upon the transfer of titlerasidof loss to our customers. We apply the priovis of Statement of Position 97-2,
"Software Revenue Recognition", in conjunction vitie applicable provisions of Staff Accounting Btith No. 104, "Revenue Recognition."
Accordingly, we recognize revenue for softwaresitivhen there is (1) persuasive evidence thatranggment with the customer exists, which
is generally a customer purchase order, (2) thdymtois delivered, (3) the selling price is fixeddeterminable and (4) collection of the
customer receivable is deemed probable. Our payaresmigements with customers typically provide3teaaind 60-day terms. Advances
received for licensing and exclusivity arrangememesreported on the balance sheet as deferredueuwmtil we meet our performance
obligations, at which point we recognize the revenu

Some of our software products provide limited omlfanctionality at no additional cost to the consunCurrently, none of our products
requires an internet connection for use, and orilinetionality is perceived to be of only incidelntalue to the software product itself. When
such functionality is offered to the consumer, wendt provide ongoing technical support for gamgpfeccordingly, we consider such featu
to be an insignificant deliverable and do not deémenue related to products containing onlineufiesst
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Some of our software products include in-game atbheg for third party products. Up front paymergseived for in-game advertising are
reported on the balance sheet as deferred revettileve meet our performance obligations, at whpdnt we recognize the revenue, which is
generally at the time of the initial release of pheduct.

Revenue is recognized after deducting estimateztves for returns, price concessions and othewaltges. In circumstances when we do not
have a reliable basis to estimate returns and padoeessions or are unable to determine that ¢imlfeof a receivable is probable, we defer the
revenue until such time as we can reliably estimaterelated returns and allowances and deterrhitecbllection of the receivable is proba

Allowances for Returns, Price Concessions and OtheXllowances

We accept returns and grant price concessionsnnemion with our publishing arrangements. Follaywiaductions in the price of our
products, we grant price concessions that permstiocoers to take credits for unsold merchandisenagaimounts they owe us. Our customers
must satisfy certain conditions to allow them tture products or receive price concessions, inalgdiompliance with applicable payment
terms and confirmation of field inventory levels.

Although our distribution arrangements with custesngo not give them the right to return titles@rctincel firm orders, we sometimes accept
returns from our distribution customers for stoelamcing and make accommodations to customershvihiddude credits and returns, when
demand for specific titles fall below expectations.

We make estimates of future product returns armkproncessions related to current period prodwetge based upon, among other factors,
historical experience and performance of the titiesimilar genres, historical performance of adwaare platform, customer inventory levels,
analysis of sell-through rates, sales force arallretistomer feedback, industry pricing, marketdibons and changes in demand and
acceptance of our products by consumers.

Significant management judgments and estimates beustade and used in connection with establistiiagliowance for returns and price
concessions in any accounting period. We believeamemake reliable estimates of returns and paceessions. However, actual results may
differ from initial estimates as a result of chasgecircumstances, market conditions and assumgtiddjustments to estimates are records
the period in which they become known.

Consideration Given to Customers and Received froriendors

We have various marketing arrangements with retaded distributors of our products that providedooperative advertising and market
development funds, among others, which are gegdvaled on single exchange transactions. Such @marmaccrued as a reduction to
revenue when revenue is recognized, except foraratipe advertising which is included in sellinglanarketing expense if there is a separate
identifiable benefit and the benefit's fair val@de established.

We receive various incentives from our manufactgyrerciuding up-front cash payments as well astesbbased on a cumulative level of
purchases. Such amounts are generally accounted foreduction in the price of the manufactupdsluct and included as a reduction of
inventory or cost of goods sold, based on (1) ia @ftcurrent period revenue to the total reverxjgeeted to be recorded over the remaining
of the product or (2) an agreed upon per unit esldaased on actual units manufactured during thiege

Advertising

We expense advertising costs as incurred. Advegtiskpense for the years ended October 31, 2006, 20id 2005 amounted to $78,004,
$83,533 and $101,077, respectively.
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Net Income (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is computed biglidig the net income applicable to common stockéddor the period by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstgmtliring the same period. Diluted EPS is computeditiding the net income applicable
to common stockholders for the period by the weidtdverage number of shares of common stock odisgiand common stock equivalents,
which includes shares of common stock issuable dpemrxercise of stock options, restricted stoakwarrants outstanding during the same
period. For the years ended October 31, 2007 afil,2@mmon stock equivalents were excluded fromcouarputation of diluted weighted
average shares outstanding because their effedtimaue been antidilutive due to the net loss liaise periods. The number of common stock
equivalents excluded was approximately 5,624,00& 000 and 3,126,000 for the years ended Oc®he2007, 2006 and 2005, respectiv

Years ended October 31

(thousands of shares 2007 2006 2005
Basic weighted average shares outstan 71,86( 71,012 69,85¢
Effect of common stock equivalents—stock optiong siock issuable under employee compensatis

plans — — 1,02
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 71,86( 71,01% 70,88:

Stock-based Compensation

Effective November 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS 123pRare-Based Paymenivhich revised Statement of Financial Accountingn8ards

No. 123. SFAS 123(R) requires all st-based payment transactions with employees, inofudiants of employee stock options, to be
recognized as compensation expense over the regsésivice period based on their relative fair gallPrior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R),
stock-based compensation expense related to engpdgek options was not recognized in the statewfeoperations if the exercise price was
at least equal to the market value of the undeglgmmmon stock on the grant date, in accordande Adtounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employedxior to November 1, 2005, we had adopted thdalisee-only provisions under

SFAS 123.

We elected to use the Modified Prospective Appiica{"MPA") method for implementing SFAS 123(R). d&r the MPA method, prior
periods are not restated and new awards are vahgdccounted for prospectively upon adoption. tanting prior stock option awards that
were not vested as of October 31, 2005 were rezedras compensation expense in the statement dtagres over the remaining requisite
service period. See Note 13 for a full discussibouw stock-based compensation arrangements.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for our foreign operatiamprimarily the applicable local currency. Accasiof foreign operations are translated into
U.S. dollars using exchange rates for assets ahilities at the balance sheet date and averagaifing exchange rates for the period for
revenue and expense accounts. Adjustments reséitingtranslation are included in other comprehemgicome (loss). Realized and
unrealized transaction gains and losses are indludmcome in the period in which they occur, eptoagn intereompany balances considere:
be long term. Transaction gains and losses on-auempany balances considered to be long term apeded in other comprehensive income
(loss). Foreign exchange transaction gains includedt income for the years ended October 31, 20006 and 2005 amounted to $1,644,
$2,176 and $1,560, respectively.

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined to inclubel®nges in equity except those resulting fromestments by owners and distributions to
owners. The Company's items of other comprehemsoane
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(loss) are foreign currency translation adjustmentsch relate to investments that are permanenatare and therefore do not require tax
adjustments.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stadsl&oard ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 1%4ir Value Measuremen{§SFAS 157"), whict
clarifies the definition of fair value, establisreeframework for measuring fair value in generaltgepted accounting principles, and expands
disclosures about fair value measurement. SFASI088 not require any new fair value measurememt&minates inconsistencies in
guidance found in various prior accounting pron@ments. SFAS 157 will be effective for us on Novemb, 2008. We do not expect that the
adoption of SFAS 157 will have a material effectaam financial position, cash flows or results peaations.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Gssiun ("SEC") released Staff Accounting Bulletin.NLO8,Considering the Effects of
Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstaets in Current Year Financial Stateme("SAB 108"). SAB 108 provides interpretive
guidance on the SEC's views on how the effecte@tarryover or reversal of prior year misstatemshbuld be considered in quantifying a
current year misstatement. The provisions of SAB 4 effective for us on November 1, 2007. We aloemxpect that the adoption of SAB
will have a material effect on our financial poaitj cash flows or results of operations.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation NoA¢8ounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, anriptetation of SFAS No. 109FIN
48"), to create a single model to address the atoaufor uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 dfegs the accounting for income taxes by
prescribing the minimum recognition threshold apasition is required to meet before being recogphin the financial statements. FIN 48 ¢
provides guidance on derecognition, measuremeagsification, interest, and penalties, accountinigterim periods, disclosure, and transit
FIN 48 is effective for us on November 1, 2007. Thenulative-effect of adopting FIN 48 will be reded to retained earnings. We do not
expect that the adoption of FIN 48 will have a mateeffect on our financial position, cash floves,results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finandabilities" ("SFAS 159").

SFAS 159 expands the use of fair value accountingibes not affect existing standards, which regjagsets or liabilities to be carried at fair
value. Under SFAS 159, a company may elect to ais@dlue to measure certain financial assets ewashéial liabilities, on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. If the fair value option is edgltunrealized gains and losses on existing itemwliich fair value has been elected are
reported as a cumulative adjustment to beginnitajired earnings. Subsequent to the adoption of SFS changes in fair value are
recognized in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective iigedl years beginning after November 15, 2007 wé#Hier adoption permitted. We have
elected not to early adopt and are currently assptise impact of SFAS 159 on our consolidatedrfaial position and results of operations.

2. BUSINESS REORGANIZATION AND RELATED CHARGES
Management Change

At our Annual Stockholders' Meeting held on Maré&h 2007, our stockholders elected five new directord one incumbent director to our
Board of Directors rather than the six incumbentators nominated for election by the incumbentrBod@he newly elected Board elected a
new Chairman and a new Chief Executive Officethef Company and one additional incumbent directut,an March 30, 2007, we entered
into an agreement with ZelnickMedia Corporationdgecutive management services. The Board andckdlieidia immediately began to
implement a plan to restructure our executive manmamt team, which included entering into separagneements with our former Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.
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ZelnickMedia agreed to provide executive managersentices to us and our Board for an initial tehmotigh October 31, 2011. In
consideration for its services, we agreed to pdgiZieMedia an annual management fee of $750 armhaof up to $750 per fiscal year ba
on achieving and exceeding a budgeted earningk levaddition, on August 27, 2007, we issued stopkons to acquire 2,009,075 shares of
our common stock at an exercise price of $14.74bpare in connection with this agreement. The optgranted in connection with this
agreement vest over 36 months and expire 10 yearsthe date of grant. Each month, wenreasure the intrinsic value of the unvested po
of the award and record compensation expense éadifference between total earned compensatidmeagnd of the period, less total earned
compensation at the beginning of the period. Assalt, changes in the price of our common stockahidinge the intrinsic value of the options
and compensation expense or benefit recognizedyigizen period.

For the year ended October 31, 2007, we recordg283bf stock-based compensation related to thisesgent.

Our newly elected Chairman and Chief Executive &ffiare partners of ZelnickMedia and the costHeirtservices to us is covered by our
management agreement with ZelnickMedia. Excephé&alth benefits and reimbursement of expenseq@wly elected Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer are not directly compensated by u

Prior to our Annual Stockholders' Meeting in Mag07, we explored the possibility of presentingralatives to our stockholders, including
the possible sale of the Company, and as a resultried substantial professional fees, includingrexmately $2,000 for investment banking
services. Additionally, we reimbursed ZelnickMedjgproximately $1,010 of expenses related to theagement changes, which is included in
business reorganization and related charges iadbempanying statements of operations.

Reorganization and related charges

We initiated a business reorganization plan inséheond quarter of 2007, which includes initiatiteesonsolidate functions in central locations.
As a result, we have incurred employee terminatielocation, and lease termination costs. In agldjtive incurred severance and professional
fees related to our former management team. Ih twtaexpect to record approximately $20 millionbafsiness reorganization and related
costs, with approximately $10 million of such cagtkited to our cost savings initiatives and apnaxely $10 million of expenses related to
our management and board changes.

The following table summarizes activity in accrumginess reorganization costs:

Utilization through October 31, 2007
Costs incurred

Accrual as of

through
October 31, 2007 Non-cash Cash October 31, 20072
Employee termination cos $ 10,14 $ (2,065 $ (7,362) $ 71€
Lease termination and relocation cc 2,947 — (2,350 597
Professional fees and ott 4,371 — (4,22%) 152
Total business reorganization and rele $ 17,467 $ (2,065 $ (13,93) $ 1,46¢

(@) Included in accrued expenses and other currerilities
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3. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS AND CONSOLIDATION

During the three years ended October 31, 2007 ,onswmmated the acquisitions described below, whidgely reflect our efforts to diversify
our business by adding seasoned development stutielbectual properties and talented personrsueces to our existing infrastructure. The
acquisitions were not considered to be materialtoconsolidated statements of operations, indalighor in the aggregate. The results of
operations and financial position of these acqois#t are included in our consolidated financiatesteents from their respective acquisition
dates forward and therefore affect comparabilioyrfrperiod to period. During the year ended Oct@ier2007, we paid contingent
consideration of $2,813 and $2,000 for our pricn@cquisitions of Firaxis Games, Inc. and IrraidBtudios, respectively. We also paid $982
in connection with a 2004 acquisition.

Cash and Guaranteed Goodwill
Development Value of Deferred Recorded on Identified
Acquisition Advances Stock Purchase Acquisition Intangible Contingent
Acquired Business Date Paid Issued Price Date Assets Consideration

Firaxis Games, Inc. November 200! $ 294: $ 12,50 $ — 3 11,08t $ 5,64¢ Up to $11,250 based
on future product
sales, of which $2,813
was paid as of
October 31, 2007

Irrational Studios August 2005 5,762 2,00( 2,00( 7,66¢ 2,25  $2,000 upon delivery
of certain products at
additional royalties
based on future
product sales, of
which $1,000 was pa
as of October 31,
2007.

Gaia Capital Grou June 200! 9,807 — 1,597 7,91¢ 3,94(C None.

Visual Concepts January 2005 29,66( — — 29,43! 7,98( $2,593 based on the

Entertainment release of certain gai
titles, which was fully
paid as of October 31,
2007.

In November 2005, we acquired all of the outstagaiapital stock of Firaxis Games, Inc., a develagd?C and strategy titles, including the
Civilization franchise. Total consideration paid upon acquisitias $15,442 including 678,683 shares of our ustegd common stock and
$4,085 of development advances paid prior to tlogiadion. We also agreed to make additional cayamt deferred cash payments of up to
$11,250 based on future product sales, of whicheqmately $10,000 will be recorded as additionaighase price and $1,250 will be
recorded as employee compensation expense wheotlé@ions requiring their payment are met. Thedyad recorded in connection with
this acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes

In August 2005, we acquired all of the outstandimmbership interests in Irrational Studios, theetigper ofBioShock Total consideration
paid upon acquisition was $7,762, including 81,888res of our common stock paid at closing and381¢6 development advances paid prior
to the acquisition. We also agreed to make additignaranteed deferred cash payments and contidgéntred cash payments. The guarar
deferred cash payments of $2,000 were due equaltiiefirst and second anniversary dates of thaisitipn, which has been fully paid as of
October 31, 2007. The goodwill recorded in conmectvith this acquisition is deductible for tax pases.

In June 2005, we acquired all of the outstandirgitabstock of Gaia Capital Group and its whollyfmd subsidiaries, including PAM
Developments SAS, the developer of @op Spinseries. Total consideration paid upon acquisitias %9,803 which included $4,055 of
development advances paid prior to the acquisitide.also agreed to make additional guaranteedréefeash payments of $1,597, of which
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$597 has been paid as of October 31, 2007. Thevgbaecorded on this acquisition is deductible fak purposes.

In January 2005 we acquired all of the outstandaqgtal stock and certain intellectual propertyhtiggof Visual Concepts Entertainment and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Kush Games, the developécrtain of our sports titles. Total consideratpaid upon acquisition was $29,660,
which included $1,866 of development advances aBEGA prior to acquisition. The goodwill recordedcconnection with this acquisition is
not deductible for tax purposes.

4. INVENTORY

As of October 31, 2007 and 2006, inventory condiste

October 31, October 31,
2007 2006
Finished product $ 91,51: $ 88,33:
Parts and supplie 7,81¢ 7,18:
Inventory $ 99,33 $ 95,52(
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________| I I
Estimated product returns included in inventor@atober 31, 2007 and 2006 were $9,758 and $8,88Bectively.
5. SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS AND LICENSES
Details of our capitalized software developmentsasd licenses were as follows:
October 31, 2007 October 31, 2006

Current Non-current Current Non-current
Software development costs, internally develo $ 122,300 $ 786¢ $ 58517 $ 17,78:
Software development costs, externally develc 8,572 24,29\ 20,73 11,76¢
Licenses 10,56: 2,29¢ 5,95¢ 1,807
Software development costs and licer $ 141,44: $ 34,46 $ 85,207 $ 31,35«

Amortization and write-off of software developmeussts and licenses for the years ended Octob&0®¥, 2006 and 2005 were $109,891,
$147,832 and $81,959, respectively.

Software development costs and licenses as of @cfih 2007 and October 31, 2006 included $153ah211$91,248, respectively, related to
titles that have not been released.
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6. FIXED ASSETS, NET

As of October 31, 2007 and 2006, fixed assets stetsof:

October 31,
2007 2006

Computer equipmet $ 30,62¢ $ 21,61:
Office equipmen 11,31¢ 11,26
Computer softwar 23,83: 26,447
Furniture and fixture 5,53¢ 5,77(
Leasehold improvemen 25,52 20,63"

96,83: 85,73:
Less: accumulated depreciati 51,84¢ 38,23t
Fixed assets, ni $ 44.98¢ $ 47,49¢

Depreciation expense for the years ended Octohe2®7, 2006, and 2005, was $24,115, $21,771 a6@b$1, respectively.
7. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

We assess goodwill for impairment in the fourthrggraof each fiscal year, or more frequently iccimstances indicate impairment may have
occurred. During the third quarter of the year eh@etober 31, 2006, we recorded a goodwill impaimaarge of $6,341 related to our
Joytech subsidiary, our manufacturer and distribatovideo game accessories and peripherals, wdpehates within our publishing segment.
The impairment charge was recorded as a compofepeoating expenses in the accompanying conselidstatement of operations and was
determined by comparing the fair value of the Jdytieusiness and the implied value of the goodwaitl ather long-lived assets, with the
carrying amounts on the balance sheet. The deiditie fair value of the Joytech business was duedreased competition and a decline ir
price and sales volume of prior-generation accéssaolue to weaker market conditions and the ongwargsition to next-generation hardware
platforms. We performed an annual impairment assessof goodwill for our reporting units as of Aulgd, 2007 and did not identify any
impairment.

The change in our goodwill balance by operatingreag was as follows:

Currency
October 31, Additions and translation October 31,
2006 Adjustments adjusment 2007
Publishing $ 163,95 $ 431¢ $ 11,87¢ $ 180,14°
Distribution 23,72¢ — 974 24,69¢
Total goodwill $ 187,68. $ 431 $ 12,85( $ 204,84!
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The following table sets forth the components efititangible assets subject to amortization:

October 31, 2007 October 31, 200¢
Estimated
Useful Gross Gross
Lives Carrying Accumulated Net Book Carrying Accumulated Net Book
(Years) Amount Amortization Value Amount Amortization Value
Trademarks 7-10 $ 15,31 $ (9,999 $ 5317 $ 17,71¢ $ (9,32 $ 8,38¢
Customer lists and relationshi 5-10 4,67: (3,83)) 84z 4,67 (3,55¢€) 1,117
Intellectual propert 2-6 26,85¢ (5,329 21,53¢ 69,24¢ (41,797 27,45¢
Non-compete 5-10 5,75¢ (3,949 1,81¢ 7,617 (5,007 2,61¢
Technology 3 4,31z (2,55¢) 1,75¢ 11,50¢ (7,840 3,66¢
$ 5691t $ (25,659 $ 31,26: $ 110,76 $ (67,510 $ 43,24¢

The change in the gross carrying amount of intdegifor the years ended October 31, 2007 and 2@&6as follows:

October 31,

Gross Intangible Assets 2007 2006

Beginning balanc $ 110,76: $ 121,73
Recognized in connection with acquisitic — 5,64¢
Other purchases of intangible ass 13 82
Impairment charge (7,000 (16,69
Write-off of fully amortized asset (46,649 —
Other (213) —
Ending balanci $ 56,91 $ 110,76

Amortization of intangible assets is included i statement of operations as follows:

Years ended October 31,

2007 2006 2005
Cost of goods sol $ 3462 $ 9372 $ 10,36¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,33¢ 4,62¢ 5,36¢
Total amortization of intangible ass: $ 6,79¢ $ 14,000 $ 15,72¢

Estimated amortization of intangible assets forythars ending October 31 is as follows:

2008 $ 5,91:
2009 7,89¢
2010 6,22(
2011 6,75(
2012 2,76(
Thereaftel 1,727
Total $ 31,26¢

|

8. CREDIT AGREEMENT

On July 3, 2007, we entered into a credit agreertikat'Credit Agreement") with Wells Fargo Foothitic., which provides for a revolving
credit facility in an amount equal to the lesse(a)f$100,000 or (b) a borrowing base consistinthefsum of 85% of eligible accounts
receivable (net of certain reserves), plus 65%igitde inventory (net of certain reserves), pl&®00. Amounts outstanding
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under the Credit Agreement are secured by subaligrail of our U.S. based assets and the equityuofdomestic subsidiaries. Revolving lo.
under the Credit Agreement bear interest at owtiele of (a) 0.50% to 1.00% above a certain bate(7a5% at October 31, 2007), or

(b) 1.75% to 2.25% above the LIBOR Rate (weightegtage rate of 7.62% at October 31, 2007), withntlaegin rate subject to the
achievement of certain average liquidity levels. &ve also required to pay a fee of 0.375% on thesedh available balance. The Credit
Agreement matures on July 3, 2012. As of OctobeP807, we had borrowed $18,000 and had $72,000abieafor borrowings under the
Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement also allows for the issuarfdetters of credit in an aggregate amount of u$26,000. Any letters of credit outstanding
reduce availability under the revolving line of dite We are required to pay a one time issuancef@825% per drawing and an annual fee of
1.75% to 2.25% (2.25% at October 31, 2007) of angtanding letters of credit. We had $10,000 délstof credit outstanding at October 31,
2007.

The Credit Agreement substantially limits us and @amestic subsidiaries' ability to: create, in@gsume or be liable for indebtedness; dis
of assets outside the ordinary course; acquiregener consolidate with or into another person aityercreate, incur or allow any lien on any
their respective properties; make investmentsagrdividends or make distributions (each subjedetdain limitations). In addition, the Credit
Agreement provides for certain events of defauthsas nonpayment of principal and interest, bremofieepresentations and warranties,
noncompliance with covenants, acts of insolveneyadlt on indebtedness held by third parties arfdulieon certain material contracts (sub
to certain limitations and cure periods). BeginnimgNovember 2007, the Credit Agreement also costairequirement that we maintain an
interest coverage ratio of more than one to on¢hftrailing twelve month period, if the liquidiof our domestic operations falls below
$30,000 (including available borrowings under thedd facility), based on a 30-day average. As ofdDer 31, 2007, we were in compliance
with all covenants and requirements outlined in@nedit Agreement.

Debt issuance costs capitalized in connection thighCredit Agreement totaled $1,809 and are beimgréized over the five year term of the
Credit Facility. Amortization related to these ot included in interest expense in the consdilatatements of operations.

In May 2006, our European subsidiary renewed iedEacility agreement with Lloyds TSB Bank plti¢yds") under which Lloyds agreed
to make available net borrowings of up to £13,1d)ipfoximately $26,500 at July 31, 2007) throughetagiration of the agreement on July 31,
2007. We had no outstanding borrowings under thditagreement through its expiration date anchdidrenew the credit agreement with
Lloyds.
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9. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITI ES

Accrued expenses and other current liabilitiesfa@atober 31, 2007 and 2006 consisted of:

October 31, October 31,
2007 2006

Software development cos $ 41,50C $ 43,72¢
Compensation and benef 30,96¢ 19,05t
Accrued taxe: 23,33 19,87
Licenses 14,61« 13,72
Rent and deferred rent obligatic 9,88¢ 7,234
Professional fee 7,281 8,39¢
Deferred tax liability 5,841

Marketing and promotion 4,03t 5,04
Deferred consideration for acquisitic 1,00(¢ 2,00(
Other 8,37t 9,23
Total $ 146,83¢ $ 128,28:

10. LEGAL AND OTHER PROCEEDINGS

Various lawsuits, claims, proceedings and invesitiga are pending involving us and certain of aursidiaries as described below in this
section. In accordance with SFAS NoAgcounting for Contingencigsve record accruals for such contingencies whengtobable that a
liability will be incurred and the amount of losarcbe reasonably estimated. In addition to thearsttescribed herein, we are involved, or
become involved, in routine litigation in the ordig course of business, which in our opinion wit have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, cash flows or results of openas.

Consumer Class Action—Grand Theft Auto: San Andreds July 2005, we received four complaints fargorted class actions. Two of the
four complaints were filed in the United Statestf)s Court for the Southern District of New Yorame was filed in the United States District
Court, Eastern District of Pennsylvania, and ons filad in the Circuit Court in St. Clair Countyljniois. The plaintiffs, alleged purchasers of
our Grand Theft Auto: San Andregame, assert that we engaged in consumer decefatisa advertising and breached an implied warrahty
merchantability and were unjustly enriched as alted our alleged failure to disclose tiatand Theft Auto: San Andreasntained "hidden"

content, which resulted in the game receiving aual7+ ("M") rating from the Entertainment Soft@d&ating Board, or the ESRB, rather

than an Adults Only 18+ ("AQ") rating. The compl@iseek unspecified damages, declarations of \&@ximlations of law and litigation costs.

In November 2007, the United States District Céorthe Southern District of New York granted pralary approval to a settlement of the
foregoing consumer class action lawsuits. If theppsed settlement receives final approval fromthiged States District Court for the
Southern District of New York, all claims in thdsgvsuits will be dismissed without any admissiodialility or wrongdoing by us. We have
committed to spend at least $1,025 on settlemengfiie, and the settlement generally caps the defes' out-of-pocket costs at no more than
$2,750, in addition to the costs of providing netio class members and paying a fee to plaintiéishsel. We have established a reserve
sufficient to cover the expected cost of this setént and related expenses.

City of Los Angeles Consumer Litigation.In January 2006, the City of Los Angeles filedomplaint against us in the Superior Court of the
State of California alleging violations of Califéaniaw on substantially the same basis as the coesulass action regardiigrand Theft Auto
San Andreas The state court actions were removed to fedenatt¢a motion to remand filed by the City of Loadeles is
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pending) and the Judicial Panel on Multidistricig@tion transferred all the cases to the U.S.rigts€Court for the Southern District of New
York, which consolidated them under the captiome Grand Theft Auto Video Game Consumer Lita{No. 1), 06-MD-1739 (SWK)
(MHD) . The plaintiffs have filed a motion seeking céctition of a nationwide class, which motion is piegd The parties have engaged in
settlement discussions.

Securities Class Action—Grand Theft Auto: San Amslend Option Backdating. In February and March 2006, four purported<kastion
complaints were filed against us and certain offotmer officers and directors in the United Stddéstrict Court for the Southern District of
New York. The complaints alleged that we violategt®ns 10(b) and 20(a), as well as Rule-5, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by
making untrue statements or failing to disclosedrtain press releases and periodic reports fiighitive SEC that, among other thin@gand
Theft Auto: San Andreantained "hidden" content which should have reslilh the game receiving an "AO" rating from theRBS-ather

than an "M" rating. The actions were consolidatedar the namén re Take-Two Interactive Securities LitigatipNo. 1:06-cv-00803 (SWK),
and a lead plaintiff was appointed. In Septemb@&62the lead plaintiff filed a consolidated amendethplaint, which included claims relating
to Grand Theft Auto: San Andreasd to the backdating of stock options. On April 2807, the lead plaintiff filed a consolidated et
amended complaint, which included additional altexges based on an investigation of options backdatonducted by the Special Litigation
Committee of the Board of Directors and the Com{mrgstatement of financial statements relatingptions backdating. This complaint was
filed against us, our former Chief Executive Officeur former Chief Financial Officer, our formeh&irman of the Board, two of our directors
and one former director, our Rockstar Games sudogidand one officer and one former officer of Rackstar Games subsidiary. On June 25,
2007, we and the other defendants filed motiordigmiss the consolidated second amended compRiaintiffs filed their opposition to these
motions to dismiss on September 4, 2007, and tejdfs were filed on October 4, 2007. Now that fimig on the motions to dismiss is
complete, we are awaiting a decision by the Court.

St. Clair Derivative Action. In January 2006, the St. Clair Shores Genargll&yees Retirement System filed a purported dasisderivative
action complaint in the Southern District of NewrK@against us, as nominal defendant, and certaquptlirectors and certain former officers
and directorsSt. Clair Shores Gen. Employees Retirement SystEibeler, no. 1:06-cv-0688 (SWK). The factual allegatiomghis action are
similar to those inn re Take-Two Interactive Securities Litigatiomhe plaintiff asserts that certain defendantsitied their fiduciary duty by
selling their stock while in possession of certaiaterial non-public information and that we vioth®&ection 14(a) and Rule 14a-9 of the
Exchange Act by failing to disclose material fact®ur 2003, 2004 and 2005 proxy statements in kwhie solicited approval to increase share
availability under our 2002 Stock Option Plan. Ti&intiff seeks the return of all profits from theged insider trading conducted by the
individual defendants who sold our stock, unspediftompensatory damages with interest and its oo#te action. In October 2006, the court
issued a stay of proceedings pending an investigdily the Special Litigation Committee. Followidgetconclusion of that investigation, on
March 23, 2007, the Special Litigation Committeevemto dismiss the complaint based on, among ¢iiiregs, the Committee's conclusion
that "future pursuit of this action is not in thesb interests of Take-Two or its shareholders." fla@tiff subsequently conducted discovery
concerning the Special Litigation Committee's motio dismiss. On August 24, 2007, the plaintifédilan Amended Derivative and Class
Action Complaint. The Amended Derivative and ClAstion Complaint alleges, among other things, tefendants breached their fiduciary
duties in connection with the issuance of proxyesteents in 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005. OreSu#r 24, 2007, the Special Litigation
Committee moved to dismiss the Amended Complaimd @onsolidate certain of its claims withre Take-Two Interactive Securities
Litigation .

Derivative Actio—Option Backdating. In July and August 2006, Richard Lasky and Ra¢dradsheh filed purported derivative action
complaints in the Southern District of New York &g us, as nominal defendant, and certain of aectbrs and certain former officers and
directors. The complaints alleged
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violations of federal and state law, including lmtees of fiduciary duties, abuse of control, grogsnmanagement, waste of corporate assets, an
unjust enrichment in connection with the grantifigertain of our stock options. The complaints dadugspecified damages against all of the
individual defendants, reimbursement from certdithe defendants of bonuses or other incentivegaitg- based compensation paid to them,
equitable and other relief relating to the proceeais certain of the defendants' alleged impropalitg activity in our stock, adoption of

certain corporate governance proposals and recoféditygation costs. The Lasky and Karadsheh axtizvere consolidated in November 2006
under the namk re Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc. Derivathitigation, no. 1:06-cv-05279 (LTS). The plaintiffs filed arsolidated
complaint on January 22, 2007, which focuses ekayson our historical stock option granting piiaes. These matters were referred to the
Special Litigation Committee. On September 7, 2@0& ,Special Litigation Committee moved to disndegain parties from the litigation and

to have any claims against the remaining partiessiseggned to us for disposition by our managemeahto@ard of directors. The plaintiffs have
sought discovery concerning the Committee's recomaiaiton, and the briefing of the motion is expedtetie completed in February 2008.

Strickland et al. Personal Injury Action. In February 2005, the personal representatif/éise Estates of Arnold Strickland, James Crungh an
Ace Mealer brought an action in the Circuit CourFayette County, Alabama against the Company, Somputer Entertainment

America Inc., Sony Corporation of America, Wal-Ma&ameStop and Devin Moore, alleging under Alabamenufacturers' liability and
wrongful death statutes, that our video games desigmanufactured, marketed and/or supplied toMidiore resulted in "copycat violence"
that caused the death of Messrs. Strickland, CrantbMealer. The suit seeks damages (including iperdamages) against all of the
defendants in excess of $600,000. Our motion tmidis the action on the merits was denied. An acemyipg motion to dismiss for lack of
personal jurisdiction was denied by the trial cpartd the Alabama Supreme Court subsequently egjecpetition for writ of mandamus on
that issue In April 2006, the plaintiffs amended tomplaint to add a claim for civil conspiracye tBiompany moved to dismiss that claim and
the motion is pending. Under the most recent angsdbeeduling order, all fact and expert discoveag w have been completed by June 15,
2007, with a mediation on November 8, 2007 and, ffiaecessary, to commence no earlier than Jgnl&r2008. Due to issues that arose in
expert discovery, however, the amended schedulidgravas suspended. The case is currently stayddnid-January 2008 to permit the
Plaintiffs to obtain new lead counsel. There cutyeis no Scheduling Order in effect. We believattthe claims are without merit and that this
action is similar to lawsuits brought and uniformigmissed by courts in other jurisdictions.

Posey and Schmid Personal Injury Acti  In September 2006, personal representativégeadstate of Delbert and Tyrone Posey and Marilez
Schmid brought an action against us, Sony Comjitriggrtainment America Inc. and Sony CorporatioAwferica and Cody Posey in the
Second Judicial District Court of Bernalillo Counlyew Mexico, alleging thabrand Theft Auto: Vice Citsesulted in "copycat” violence that
caused the deaths of the above named individubes stiit seeks damages (including punitive damaagesnst all of the defendants. Both Sony
entities have tendered their defense and requastechnification from us, and we have accepted seictier. We received copies of the
complaint and summonses in December 2006, and mowidmiss the complaint in January 2007 for latkersonal jurisdiction and for

failure to state a claim. The plaintiffs opposed thotions and requested jurisdictional discovehe Tourt heard argument on the motions on
December 18, 2007, and granted such motions in éinéirety, thus dismissing the complaint agairssand the Sony defendants. It is expected
that the court will enter an order of dismissaéarly January 2008, upon which plaintiffs will hathéty days to appeal.

We intend to vigorously defend all of the aboveteratand, with respect to the derivative actiorshave been advised that the individual
defendants will vigorously defend such actions. ldegr, we cannot predict the outcome of these nsadiied, if determined adversely to us,
such matters, either singly or in
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the aggregate, could result in the imposition ghsicant judgments, fines and/or penalties, whiohld have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, cash flows and results of Giens.

Grand Jury Subpoenas. We have received grand jury subpoenas issuekebRistrict Attorney of the County of New Yorkogeesting
production of documents covering various periodgifi@ng on January 1, 1997, including those retaton among other things: the so-called
"Hot Coffee" scenes iGrand Theft Auto: San Andreathe work of our Board of Directors, all Board Cwmittees, and the Special Litigation
Committee; certain acquisitions entered into byhiling and payment records relating to PricewladerseCoopers LLP and the termination of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our auditors; comgatians to financial analysts and stockholders aboquisitions and financial results;
compensation and human resources documents oinceftaur directors and employees and former diecand employees; stock-based
compensation; the SEC's July 2006 inquiry; legalises performed for employees; corporate creditl ead expense records of certain
individuals; the SEC bar of the our former ChiekEutive Officer, Ryan Brant; the resolution to achewnir Incentive Stock Plan; and ethics,
securities, and conflict of interest policies angstionnaires. We fully cooperated and provideddth@iments and information called for by
subpoenas.

SEC Investigation. In July 2006, we received notice from the SE& it was conducting an informal non-public invgation of certain stock
option grants made from January 1997 to presentraAgril 2007 we received notice from the SEC titatas conducting a formal
investigation of such stock option grants. As ailtasf the Special Litigation Committee's intermaview of our option grants, in February 2(
we restated our financial statements for priorgusiin our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fispgear ended October 31, 2006. On
August 9, 2007, we received a "Wells" notice frdra Staff of the Division of Enforcement of the SE@rming us of its intention to request
authority to file charges, and seek a civil monefanalty in connection with its investigation. \Wave submitted a response to the Staff's
notice. We continue to cooperate with the Staff ematinue to expect to resolve this investigatigmieans of a settlement rather than a
contested litigation of charges.

Tax Inquiries. We have been in contact with and have receiggdests for information from taxing authorities fecords relating to the
grant and exercise of options and tax deductidtentédy us from October 2000 to October 2004.

Special Litigation Committee. In connection with its investigation, the Sgdiitigation Committee determined that certaincktoptions

issued by us to certain members of our Board oéddars were improperly dated. As a result, andimection with our remedial measures, we
entered into an agreement with each of the relediamttors whereby they agreed to remit to us dter-tax gains that they realized as a result
of the improper grant dates. In the event of gréms remained unexercised, we re-priced such siptikns to reflect an appropriate price for
which such stock options should have been deensedeagt. This agreement was entered into volunthyilys and the relevant directors, none
of whom served on the Special Litigation Committeeaddition, we have subsequently entered intdlairagreements with certain former
members of management who received improperly dsttezk options.

81




11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A summary of annual minimum contractual obligatiamsl commitments as of October 31, 2007 is asvislio

Licensing

and Software Operating Line of
Marketing Development Leases Distribution Credit Total
2008 $ 69,66 $ 29,30¢ % 16,85 $ 945 $ — $ 12527
2009 58,567 12,53¢ 16,30: — — 87,40:
2010 51,99 1,00( 14,33¢ — — 67,33
2011 49,50¢ — 12,97¢ — — 62,48
2012 50,08: — 11,08t — 18,00( 79,16¢
Thereaftel — 13,14( — — 13,14(
Total $ 279,817 $ 42,84; $ 84,68¢ $ 945: $ 18,000 $ 434,79¢

Licensing and Marketing Agreemen  Our licensing commitments primarily consisiobiigations to holders of intellectual propertyhig for
use of their trademarks, copyrights, technologgtber intellectual property rights in the developinef our products. As of October 31, 2007,
$3,285 of our guaranteed minimum licensing and etirg commitments were recorded in our consolidaeddnce sheet because the licensor
did not have any significant performance obligatioms. Licensing and marketing commitments exairearious times through October 2012
and primarily reflect our agreements with majorrspteagues and players' associations. Certainmolicensing and marketing agreements also
contain provisions that would impose penaltieséffail to meet agreed upon software release dates.

Software Development AgreementsWe make payments to third party software dgyale that include contractual advances and rogaltie
under several software development agreementexipée at various times through December 2009.a&@gregate outstanding software
development commitments assume satisfactory pedioca by third party software developers.

Lease Commitment Our office and warehouse facilities are occdpiader norcancelable operating leases expiring at variousgithroug|
June 2015. We also lease certain furniture, equipm@ued automobiles under non-cancelable leasesimxphrough May 2012. Some of the
leases have fixed rent increases and also inchdleements to enter into the lease. The effeaiai amounts are deferred and recognized
straight-line basis over the related lease ternnt Bepense amounted to $16,459, $16,658 and $1848de years ended October 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Distribution Agreements We periodically enter into distribution agreertseto purchase software games for resale. At @ct8b, 2007, our
distribution agreements expired at various datesutth October 2008.

Contingent Consideration: Part of our business acquisition strategy leesmtio make a portion of the purchase price ofzegcquisitions
dependent on product delivery or future productsabee Note 3 for a discussion of our contingemnsitments related to our business
acquisitions.

Employee savings pla. We maintain a 401(k) retirement savings plath tanst. Our 401(k) plan is offered to all eligitdeployees and
participants may make voluntary contributions. Végdn matching a portion of the contributions iry2002. The matching contribution
expense incurred by us during the years ended @cfty 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $1,869, $1,989 &64d, $espectively.
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12. INCOME TAXES

Components of income (loss) before income taxeasfellows:

Years Ended October 31

2007 2006 2005
Domestic $ (101,320 $ (182,93) $ (31,127
Foreign (26,887 (1,550) 72,84
Income (loss) before income tax $ (128,21) $ (184,48) $ 41,72(

Income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:

Years Ended October 31

2007 2006 2005
Current:
U.S. federa $ 2,39C $ (24,419 $ (5,806
U.S. state and loci 491 413 (1,59))
Foreign 9,02¢ 7,052 19,71
Total current income taxe 11,90¢ (16,959 12,31¢
Deferred:
U.S. federa (1,88¢) 16,102 (4,630
U.S. state and loci (161) 1,89: (814)
Foreign 32¢ (634) (46€)
Total deferred income tax (1,719 17,36( (5,910
Income tax expens $ 10,19: $ 407 $ 6,40¢

The higher income tax expense for 2007 compar@®®6 was due to our ability in 2006 to carry bamdsks to prior years, thereby taking a tax
benefit for a portion of the net operating lossagated in 2006. No such carry back is availablgtfer2007 loss.

A reconciliation of our effective tax rate to theSJstatutory federal income tax rate is as foltows

Years Ended October 31,

2007 2006 2005
U.S. federal statutory ra -35.(% -35.(% 35.(%
Foreign tax rate differenti 8.6% 0.5% -13.5%
Foreign income exclusic -0.1% -0.6% -6.4%
State and local taxes, net of U.S. federal be -0.5% 1.0% -2.8%
Federal valuation allowant 28.(% 32.5% -0.2%
Other 6.9% 1.8% 3.4%
Effective tax rate 7.9% 0.2% 15.4%




The effects of temporary differences that gavetaseur deferred tax assets and liabilities werbobsws:

October 31,
2007 2006
Current deferred tax assets and (liabilitit

Sales returns and allowances (including bad c $ 11,75¢ % 13,77¢
Inventory reserve 3,35(C 5,32¢
Deferred ren 3,66¢ 2,731
Deferred revenu 1,98( 357
Capital loss carryforwar 6,14¢ 4,10z
Other 12,22( 9,76(
Capitalized software and depreciat (44,96() (25,929
Total current deferred tax asset (liabili (5,84)) 10,13:
Less: Valuation allowanc — (9,947

Net current deferred tax asset (liabili@ (5,84)) 18¢

Non-current deferred tax asse

Capital loss carryforwar — 2,96¢
Equity compensatio 2,60: 2,651
Domestic net operating loss carryforwi 94,691 34,68
Foreign tax credit carryforwai 3,78¢ 1,39¢
Deferred revenu 14,48( 20,34:
Foreign net operating loss carryforwa 3,48: 3,60z
Intangible amortizatiol 4,78( 6,32¢
Capitalized software and depreciat 5,514 2,415
Total nor-current deferred tax ass 129,34t 74,39(
Less: Valuation allowanc (123,61¢) (73,05)

Net nor-current deferred tax assBt 5,73( 1,33¢

Deferred taxes, n $ (111 $ 1,527

(a) Included in accrued expenses and other curreriliied as of October 31, 2007 and other assetf &stober 31, 2006.

(b) Included in other assets as of October 31, 20072806.

The valuation allowance for deferred taxes is prilypattributable to increases in net operatingskssfor which no benefit is provided due to
uncertainty with respect to their realization. tdaion, during the year ended October 31, 2007rewerded a deferred tax benefit of $2,048
and a corresponding reduction to additional paidépital for the cancellation of certain stock op8.

At October 31, 2007, we had a U.S. federal netatpey loss carryforward totaling $216,957, of wh&$196 is subject to limitation by the
Internal Revenue Service, that will begin to exjiréiscal 2026; a U.S. federal capital loss casrwfard of $16,178 that will expire in fiscal
2008; and a foreign net operating loss carryforwdr§d4,973 that will expire beginning in fiscalZZ) and foreign net operating losses of
$11,978 that may be carried forward indefinitely.

The total amount of undistributed earnings of fgnesubsidiaries was approximately $152,000 and $006for the years ended October 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. It is our intentiomeimvest undistributed earnings of our foreignssdiaries and thereby indefinitely postpone
their remittance. Accordingly, no provision hasheeade for foreign withholding taxes or United 8saincome taxes which may become
payable if undistributed earnings of foreign sulzsids are paid as dividends.

84




We are regularly audited by domestic and foreigingaauthorities. Audits may result in tax asseg#sie1 excess of amounts claimed and the
payment of additional taxes. We believe that oxré&turn positions comply with applicable tax lamdahat we have adequately provided for
reasonably foreseeable assessments of additiows. tadditionally, we believe that any assessmiengscess of the amounts provided for will
not have a material adverse impact on the condetidnancial statements.

At each period end, it is necessary for us to nzak&ain estimates and assumptions to compute thaspsn for income taxes including
allocations of certain transactions to differemtjterisdictions, amounts of permanent and tempodéifgrences, the likelihood of deferred tax
assets being recovered and the outcome of contitgenisks. These estimates and assumptions aiseteas new events occur, more
experience is acquired and additional informat®aobtained. The impact of these revisions is rezmbid income tax expense or benefit in the
period in which they become known.

13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share Repurchases

In January 2003, the Board of Directors authoriaetiock repurchase program that allowed us to cbpge up to $25,000 of our common s
from time to time in the open market or in privgtakgotiated transactions. In June and August 2085epurchased 925,341 shares of
common stock at an aggregate cost of $24,929 halles repurchased were retired in August 2005.

In July 2005, we modified a stock compensationrayeanent and accepted for return 412,500 sharegrafoonmon stock with a fair market
value at the original issuance date of approxirge#8l350, that were held by three employees, feh tnuses payable in the future. At the
date of modification, 366,667 shares were fullytedsand $8,311 of compensation expense had beeioysty recognized. The remaining
unvested shares were forfeited and the additicoralpensation expense of future cash bonuses of $h@8been recognized ratably as exp
through February 2006. In October 2005, the 412%0es of common stock returned under this arraagewere retired.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

We recognized $17,329, $21,931, and $10,650 okdiased compensation expense, net of tax, forehesyended October 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. We also capitalized approxifye#8,983 and $8,084 of stock-based compensatisoftvare development costs and
licenses for the years ended October 31, 2007 666, 2espectively. We did not capitalize any stbaked compensation for the year ended
October 31, 2005. During the year ended Octobe2307, we recorded $1,283 of stock-based compemsatipense for noamployee award

We have the following stock-based compensationgplan

Incentive Stock Plar We adopted an Incentive Stock Plan ("Incenflan"), which provides for the grant of up to 4,33D shares of
restricted stock, deferred stock and other stoared awards of our common stock to directorsgeffi and other employees. The Incentive
is administered by the Compensation Committee @Bbard of Directors.

Restricted stock awards are expensed on a striaighibasis over the vesting period, which typicaipges from one to four years. In addition,
we capitalize and amortize awards in accordande auit software development cost accounting pokeyof October 31, 2007, the total future
unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimatdeitiores, related to outstanding unvested restlistock was approximately $23,000 and
will be recognized as compensation expense oragyltrline basis over the remaining vesting perad;apitalized as software development
costs, through the fiscal year ending October 8092
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The following table summarizes the activity in nagsted restricted stock under our stock-based cosapien plans:

Weighted
Average Fair
Shares Value on
(in thousands) Grant Date
Non-vested restricted stock at October 31, 2 1,40¢ $ 16.8¢
Granted 991 20.1¢
Vested (574 18.4:
Forfeited (103) 18.01
Non-vested restricted stock at October 31, 20C 1,72C 18.0¢

Stock Option Plans. In June 2002, our stockholders approved ou Z8ck Option Plan, as previously adopted by cvarB of Directors

(the "2002 Plan™), pursuant to which officers, diogs, employees and consultants may receive sipiiins to purchase shares of our common
stock. In June 2005, our stockholders approvedarase in the aggregate amount of shares issuatids the 2002 Plan from 9,000,000
shares to 11,000,000 shares. As of October 31,,208i& were approximately 2,919,000 shares avaifabissuance under the 2002 Plan.

In January 1997, our stockholders approved our B389k Option Plan, as amended, as previously addpt our Board of Directors (the
"1997 Plan"), pursuant to which officers, direct@mployees and consultants may receive optiopsrthase up to an aggregate of 6,500,000
shares (9,750,000 shares after stock split in Af5) of our common stock. As of October 31, 2@h&re were no shares of common stock
available for issuance under the 1997 Plan.

Subject to the provisions of the plans, the Bodmicectors or any Committee appointed by the BazrBirectors, has the authority to
determine the individuals to whom the stock optionsther awards are to be granted, the numbérarks to be covered by each option or
other award, the option price, the type of optitbie, option period, restrictions, if any, on thereisge of the option or other award, the terms for
the payment of the option price and other termsamdiitions of the option or other award.

As of October 31, 2007 and 2006, there were oullgtgrstock options granted under our stock optiamgto purchase in the aggregate
3,809,000 and 5,129,000 shares of our common stesgectively, vesting at various times from 2002@10 and expiring at various times
from 2008 to 2012. Options granted generally vest @ period of three to five years.

As of October 31, 2007 and 2006, there are non-gtiack options outstanding for an aggregate of @bdhd 673,000 shares of our common
stock, respectively. The non-plan stock optionstauiding at October 31, 2007 were fully vestedd@72and expire at various times in 2008.
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The following table summarizes the activity in @pis under our option plans and also includes nan-pptions:

2007 2006 2005
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
(options in thousands) Options Price Options Price Options Price
Outstanding at beginning of ye 580: $ 20.7( 749 % 20.47 7467 % 15.81
Grantec 45€ 19.01 397 13.5: 2,94( 23.9¢
Exercisec (679) 15.3¢ (30€) 10.7¢ (2,71%) 11.5¢
Forfeited (1,672 18.7( (1,789 19.8¢ (195 20.7¢
Outstanding at end of ye 390 $ 21.2¢ 580: $ 20.7( 749% % 20.4%
| | | |
Exercisable at ye-end 2,63t $ 22.3i 3627 $ 19.9: 3,13t % 17.5¢
Weighted average fair value of options grante
during the yea $ 7.91 $ 6.217 $ 12.8¢
Remaining weighted average contractual lifi
options exercisable (yeat 1.9 2.3 2.8

The following summarizes information about stocki@ps outstanding and exercisable at October 307 Z0ptions in thousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Exercise Price Ranges

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Number of Remaining Average Number of Average
Options Contractual Exercise Options Exercise
From To Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$10.4: $ 15.3¢ 29¢ 0.8 $ 12.2 15€ $ 13.0(¢
15.5(C 20.6¢ 1,06t 24 19.1¢ 66C 19.52
20.7(¢ 24.5] 1,25¢ 2.2 22.4¢ 797 22.5i
25.1(C 26.5¢ 1,28¢ 24 25.4¢ 1,02t 25.4¢
3,90¢ 2.2 21.7 2,63¢ 22.3i
—

As of October 31, 2007, due to the then markeepoicour common stock, there was no aggregatengitrivalue related to options outstanding
or exercisable and the total future unrecognizedpemsation cost, net of estimated forfeiturestedl#o outstanding unvested options was
approximately $8,623, which will be recognized ampensation expense on a straight-line basis reeremaining vesting periods, or
capitalized as software development costs, thr@@dji9. At October 31, 2007, the weighted averagecisesprice of stock options expected to
vest was $22.06.

The fair value of our stock options is estimateithgishe Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Thisdabrequires the input of assumptions
regarding a number of complex and subjective vésathat will usually have a significant impacttbe fair value estimate. These variables
include, but are not limited to, the volatility ofir stock price and employee stock option exetoédevior. The assumptions and variables used
for the current period grants were developed base8FAS 123(R) and SEC guidance contained in
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Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 107, "Share-BasPayment.” The following table summarizes themgtions and variables used by us to
compute the weighted average fair value of stodloogrants:

Years Ended October 31

2007 2006 2005
Risk-free interest rat 4.7% 4.8% 3.8%
Expected stock price volatilit 50.7% 57.% 62.2%
Expected term until exercise (yea 3.5 3.6 4.€
Dividends None None None

For the year ended October 31, 2007 and 2006, e aisombination of historical volatility and imgdi volatility for publicly traded options
on our common stock as the expected volatility aggion required in the Black-Scholes option-pricingdel which are consistent with
SFAS 123(R) and SAB 107. Prior to fiscal 2006, weduour historical stock price volatility in accante with SFAS 123 for purposes of
determining the pro forma fair value of our outsliswgy stock options. The selection of the impliedhtitity approach was based upon the
availability of actively traded options on our commstock and our assessment that implied volatdityore representative of future stock f
trends than historical volatility.

SFAS 123(R) requires the recognition of stiieklsed compensation for the number of awards teatlimately expected to vest. As a result
most awards, recognized stock compensation waseedor estimated forfeitures prior to vesting maiity based on a historical annual
forfeiture rate of approximately 7%. Estimated &ttdires are reassessed at each balance sheehdateg change based on new facts and
circumstances. Prior to October 31, 2005, actuftitores were accounted for as they occurred toppses of determining the pro forma fair
value of our outstanding stock options.

For the year ended October 31, 2005, if the cormgigmscost for our stock option plans had beenrdeteed based on the fair value at the g
date for awards consistent with the provisionsAS 123(R), our net income and net income per sivardd have been adjusted to the
restated pro forma amounts indicated below:

Year Ended
October 31, 2005

Net income as reporte $ 35,31«

Add: Stocl-based employee compensation expense includedanteglpnet income, net of related tax effe 10,65(

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensatioaresepdetermined under the fair value based metraallf

awards, net of related tax effe: (30,460

Pro forma net incom $ 15,50«
I

Basic and diluted earnings per share:

Basic—as reportet $ 0.51
Basic—proforma 0.22
Diluted—as reportet 0.5C
Diluted—proforma 0.22

14. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

We are a publisher and distributor of interactigéivgare games designed for personal computerspwgdene consoles and handheld platforms.
Revenue earned by our publishing segment is priynderived from the sale of internally developedtware titles, software titles developed
our behalf by third parties and the sale of cené@ieo game accessories and peripherals. Revenonedely our distribution segment is derived
from the sale of third party software titles, aczees and hardware.
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Our Chief Executive Officer is our chief operatitgcision maker ("CODM"). We are centrally managed the CODM primarily uses
consolidated financial information supplementedshles information by product category, major pradie and platform for making
operational decisions and assessing financial paefoce.

Our CODM is presented with financial informatiorattitontains information that separately identifes publishing and distribution operatic
including gross margin information. Accordingly, wensider our publishing and distribution businedsebe distinct reportable segments.

Our operating segments do not record inter-segnesenue and therefore none has been reported. Wetddlocate operating expenses,
interest and other income, interest expense omniecaxes to operating segments. Our accountingipsifor segment reporting are the sam
for the Company as a whole.

Information about our reportable segments was lé&safs:

For the Years Ended October 31,

Net revenue: 2007 2006 2005

Publishing $ 692,34. $ 753,31! $ 851,86:
Distribution 289,45( 284,52! 349,35¢
Total net revenue $ 981,79. $ 1,037,841 $ 1,201,221

In the year ended October 31, 2007 our largesbouest accounted for 15.1% of our net revenue (152006 and 14.9% in 2005), our sec
largest customer accounted for 12.8% of our negrmee (12.6% in 2006 and less than 10% in 2005panthird largest customer accounted
for 11.5% of our net revenue (10.2% in 2006 and than 10% in 2005). The majority of the net rexeefram these customers was from the
sale of software in our Publishing segment.

For the Years Ended October 31,

Gross profit: 2007 2006 2005
Publishing $ 219,65. $ 186,65: $ 382,53¢
Distribution 27,10¢ 25,71( 32,30
Total gross profit $ 246,75. $ 212,36: $ 414,84.
October 31, 2007 October 31, 200€
Publishing Distribution Total Publishing Distribution Total

Accounts receivable, n $ 6528 $ 3964¢ $ 104,93 $ 109,97: $ 33,22 $ 143,19
Inventory, ne 30,97: 68,35¢ 99,331 35,06¢ 60,45: 95,52(
Total asset 666,11: 165,03: 831,14: 710,46’ 158,33¢ 868,80t
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We attribute net revenue to geographic regionschaseroduct destination. Net revenue by geogragion was as follows:

For the Years Ended October 31

Net revenue by geographic region 2007 2006 2005

United State! $ 674,44¢ $ 628,78 $ 723,61!
Canade 64,64( 83,84( 93,97¢
North America 739,08¢ 712,62! 817,59
United Kingdom 66,23 98,18t¢ 125,44
Continental Europ 136,92( 193,80t 223,95
Asia Pacific and othe 39,54t 33,22: 34,22
Total net revenue $ 981,79: $ 1,037,841 $ 1,201,221

Net revenue by product platform for our reported#gments is as follow

For the Years Ended October 31

Net revenue by product platform: 2007 2006 2005
Publishing:
Microsoft Xbox 36C $ 205,51 % 174,27¢  $ —
Sony PlayStation 2 and PlayStati 179,09¢ 227,15: 501,18!
PC 93,53¢ 125,16 97,90«
Sony PSF 69,33 138,21( 54,85¢
Sony PlayStation 66,15¢ — —
Nintendo Wii 35,48¢ — —
Peripherals and oth 19,10¢ 23,94: 17,857
Microsoft Xbox 13,32: 46,49¢ 162,91:
Nintendo handheld devici 10,33« 12,66¢ 11,30:
Nintendo GameCuk 45E 5,411 5,84:
Total publishing 692,34 753,31! 851,86:
Distribution:
Hardware and periphere 123,55 113,56( 88,90(
Software:
PC 43,83t 53,78¢ 47,53
Nintendo handheld devici 43,37 45,35¢ 63,17t
Sony PlayStation 2 and PlayStati 34,20¢ 38,88! 78,03
Microsoft Xbox 36C 15,92¢ 5,781 —
Nintendo Wii 9,49¢ — —
Microsoft Xbox 6,681 13,521 41,62:
Nintendo GameCuk 4,82¢ 9,11(C 24,44¢
Sony PSF 3,91: 451¢ 5,65¢
Sony PlayStation 3,631 — —
Total distribution 289,45( 284,52¢ 349,35¢
Total net revenue $ 981,79: $ 1,037,841 $ 1,201,221
. _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________| | ] ]
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15. INTEREST AND OTHER, NET

For the Years Ended October 31

2007 2006 2005
Interest incom: $ 3,72C $ 3631 $ 4,04z
Interest expens (1,446 (973 (344)
Loss on sale and deconsolidat (4,469 — —
Other 34 20 4
Interest and other, n $ (2,160 $ 268, $ 3,70z

In September 2007, we sold substantially all ofabgets, primarily inventory and accounts receajadifl our whollyewned Joytech video gai
accessories subsidiary, formerly a component opaobtishing segment, to Mad Catz Interactive, foc.approximately $3,575 in cash and
notes receivable. The disposition of Joytech didimeolve a significant amount of assets or matgrianpact our operating results. We
recognized a $3,080 loss on the sale of our Joyiasness.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, we recognized a lfs$1,389 when we deconsolidated the net assé&8fuefCastle Games, Inc. ("Blue Castle"),
which was previously accounted for, in accordanith ®#N 46(R), as a whollypwned subsidiary and considered to be a varialdedst entity
Blue Castle continues to develop certain of ourtspitles; however, we are no longer considereetthe primary beneficiary of Blue Castle's
future profits or losses.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In November 2007, we entered into an amended estdtesl credit agreement with Wells Fargo Foothilt, (the "Amended Credit
Agreement"), which increased the principal amodrdw revolving credit facility from $100,000 to 40,000. The Amended Credit Agreement
provides for a borrowing base, which restricts alitity to borrow to the sum of (a) $40,000 andtfi® sum of 85% of U.S. eligible accounts
receivable (net of certain reserves) and the lexs85% of U.S. eligible inventory (net of certagserves) or $50,000. The Amended Credit
Agreement separately provides for borrowings byademf our United Kingdom subsidiaries (the "USubfacility"), in an amount equal to the
lesser of (a) $25,000 or (b) the U.K. borrowingéyaghich consists of the sum of 85% of the eligéxdeounts receivable (net of certain
reserves) of our United Kingdom subsidiaries, pheslesser of 50% of the eligible inventory of dinited Kingdom subsidiaries and $4,000.
Amounts drawn on the U.K. Subfacility reduce thmgipal amount that we are able to borrow in th&.Uprovided that the U.S. borrowing
base allows for at least $100,000 in borrowings.

Amounts outstanding under the Amended Credit Agezgrare secured by all of our assets and the eqfidyr subsidiaries based in the U.S.
and U.K. Revolving loans under the Amended Credite®ment bear interest at our election of (a) 1.60%25% above a certain base rate, or
(b) 2.25% to 2.50% above the LIBOR Rate, with trergin rate subject to the achievement of certagrage liquidity levels. We are also
required to pay a fee of 0.375% on the unusedahaibalance. The Amended Credit Agreement matmrekly 3, 2012.

We expect to capitalize approximately $750 of defiance costs in connection with the Amended €Aggteement, which will be amortized
as interest expense over the five year term oégreement.
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17. SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following table provides details of our valeatiand qualifying accounts.

Additions
Charged t
Beginning Revenue C(?srt%eanc(i) Ending
Balance Reduction @) Expenses Deductions Other Balance

Year ended October 31, 2007
Valuation allowance for deferred income
taxes $ 82,99 — 44,26: (3,640) — $ 123,61t

. & 5 __________N N |
Sales returns, price protection and othel
allowances $ 87,17¢ $ 111,56: $ 2,50C $ (144,067% 2,62¢ $ 59,79¢
Allowance for doubtful accounts 4,331 — (689%) (24¢) 25 3,52¢
Total accounts receivable allowance $ 91,50¢ $ 111,56: $ 1,817 $ (144,219 $ 2,651 % 63,32«
. ___________N ________N _______§ _________N N |
Year ended October 31, 20
Valuation allowance for deferred income ta $ 19,75¢ — 66,647 (3,412 — % 82,99/
I . . . . . ———
Sales returns, price protection and of
allowances $ 65,78 $ 168,87 $ 3,04z $ (153,41) $ 2,881 $ 87,17¢
Allowance for doubtful accoun 4,11¢ — 92¢ (647) (67) 4,331
Total accounts receivable allowant $ 69,90¢ $ 168,87! $ 3,96¢ $ (154,059 $ 2,82( $ 91,50¢
. ___________N ________N _______§ _________N N |
Year ended October 31, 20
Valuation allowance for deferred income ta $ 12,55¢ — 3,981 — 3,21¢ $ 19,75¢
. ___________N ________N _______§ _________N N |
Sales returns, price protection and of
allowances $ 67,287 $ 146,13 $ 2,22¢ $ (148,44)% (1,419 3% 65,78t
Allowance for doubtful accoun 4,92¢ — (674) — (13%) 4,11¢
Total accounts receivable allowant $ 72,215 $ 146,13 $ 1,555 $ (148,44)% (1,559 % 69,90¢

()]

Includes price concessions of $68,067, $73,861$80c412; returns of $37,616, $54,004 and $70,28i&rsales allowances including rebates, discoamdscooperative

advertising of $5,879, $41,010 and $45,485 forytbers ended October 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, risggc
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18. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The following tables set forth quarterly supplenseptdata for each of the years in the two-yeargoeeinded October 31, 2007.

Quarter

2007 First Second® Third @ Fourth
Net revenue $ 277,34( % 205,43t $ 206,41 $ 292,60(
Product cost 164,14: 105,67¢ 107,45t 133,80¢
Software development costs and royal 22,87¢ 30,311 40,60( 42,69t
Internal royalties 9,47¢ 4,87 3,53¢ 11,00z
Licenses 7,724 18,711 16,68¢ 15,44:
Cost of goods sol 204,22t 159,58: 168,27¢ 202,94¢
Gross profil 73,11 45,85« 38,13¢ 89,65:
Selling and marketin 35,02« 28,15¢ 35,22! 32,24¢
General and administrati 38,61 40,471 34,70: 35,00(
Research and developme 14,15( 11,93¢ 11,21( 11,15¢
Business reorganization and rela — 8,96% 7,10( 1,40¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,661 7,07¢ 7,00¢ 6,70¢
Total operating expens 94,44¢ 96,60 95,24: 86,51¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (21,339 (50,750 (57,106 3,13¢
I EEEEEEEEE—— I I I I
Net loss $ (21549 $ (51,249 $ (58,546 $ (7,067)
1 —— I I I I

Per share dat:
Basi—EPS $ (0.300 $ 0.7) $ 0.80) $ (0.10
Diluted—EPS $ (030 $ (0.7) $ (0.87) $ (0.10)
Quarter

2006 First second® Third @ Fourth
Net revenus $ 264,98: $ 265,12: $ 241,18: $ 266,55¢
Product cost 160,85: 130,94( 115,24! 131,72
Software development costs and royal 27,36: 87,59« 44,417 34,16¢
Internal royalties 14,29: 5,95( 10,31 9,857
Licenses 6,80¢ 22,86¢ 14,08( 9,017
Cost of goods sol 209,31 247,35( 184,05! 184,75
Gross profil 55,66 17,77 57,12¢ 81,79¢
Selling and marketin 41,64 32,19¢ 27,58¢ 37,821
General and administrati 38,45: 33,70¢ 44,26( 37,591
Research and developme 17,70¢ 16,091 17,40¢ 13,04¢
Impairment of goodwill and lor-lived asset: — 6,24¢ 8,52¢ 83C
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,651 6,69¢ 6,29( 6,76:
Total operating expens: 104,45’ 94,94( 104,07( 96,06:
Loss from operation (48,790 (77,169 (46,949 (14,269
1 —— I I I I
Net loss $ (29,129 $ (50,379 $ (91,379 $ (14,01%)
I I I I

Per share dat:

Basi—EPS $ 0.4 $ (0.7) $ 1.2¢9) $ (0.20)
Diluted—EPS $ 0.4 $ 0.7) $ (129 $ (0.20)

@

In the second quarter of 2007, we recorded a $5h6é4ge through cost of goods sold for certainletaual property that was deemed

impaired.
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In the second quarter of 2006, we recorded impaitralearges in cost of goods sold totaling $12, bo6rite-off capitalized software
costs and related intangible assets related tstadio closures. In addition, we recorded operatixgenses of $1,964 related to
severance costs and lease abandonment in the sgearidr of 2006.

(2)  We recorded the following expenses in the thirdrtaraof 2006:

a.

b.

$875 in cost of goods sold for the impairment dfware development costs;
$3,918 of operating expenses for severance anckaifiandonmen

Approximately $900 of stock-based compensation egee related to the stock option investigationgreréd by the Special
Committee of our Board as a component of operakpenses; and

Income tax expense of $59,500 to reduce deferreddsets, reflecting uncertainty regarding ourityhib realize future incom
tax deductions.

Basic and diluted earnings per share are compuatiEbendently for each of the quarters presenteskefdre, the sum of quarterly basic and
diluted earnings per share information may not egnaual basic and diluted earnings per share.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the regigthas duly caused this report to be sic
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duth@ized.

TAKE -TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC.

By: /s/ Ben Feder

Ben Feder
Chief Executive Office
December 17, 200

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
Registrant in the capacities and on the date itetica

Signature Title Date

s/ Ben Fede Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive

Officer)

December 17, 200
Ben Fede

fs/ Lainie Goldstein Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

December 17, 2007
Lainie Goldsteir

/s/ Strauss Zelnick

Director December 17, 2007
Strauss Zelnicl
/s/ J Moses

Director December 17, 2007
J Moses
/s/ Michael Dornemann

Director December 17, 2007
Michael Dornemani
/s/ Michael Sheresky

Director December 17, 2007
Michael Sheresk
/s/ Robert A. Bowman

Director December 17, 2007
Robert A. Bowmar
/s/ John F. Levy

Director December 17, 2007
John F. Levy
/s/ Grover C. Brown

Director December 19, 2007

Grover C. Browr
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1. Title:
2. Reporting:

3. Term:

4. Termination:

5. Location:

Exhibit 10.22
Employment Term Sheet
EVP
Chief Executive Officer of Take-Two Interactive Swére, Inc. (“Take-Two”)

Position to be reviewed no later than the end o&,2008 (the “Initial Period”), review shall inde consideration
for the role of Chief Operating Officer of Take-TW&OO").

If the role of COO is offered to you, you will ha8® days to accept such position (failure to acoepkecline such
offer within such 30 day period shall be deemesdjection of such offer).

12 months notice of termination as per current@gent, subject to standard non-solicitation andhine-
agreements per section 15 of this Term Sheet.

In the event that you reject an offer of the COGipon, Take-Two may, at its option, terminate yeamployment
upon 12 months notice of termination (subject émdard non-solicitation and no-hire agreementseetion 15 of
this Term Sheet); provided, however, that Take-Tmay require you to continue working for up to 6 ri@nof such
12 month notice period and you will receive a pagtie lieu of the balance of the 12 months’ notice.

In the event that Take-Two does not offer you ti@30position prior to the expiration of the InitRériod, you may
provide Take-Two with notice of your election tertgénate your employment for good reason within 39l
following the expiration of the Initial Period afidike-Two shall have a further period of 30 days fromeiptof sucl
notice to offer you the COO position. If Take-T¥edls to offer you the COO position prior to thep@ation of such
30 day cure period, notice of termination shaldeemed properly provided on the expiry of the 3p dae period
and you shall be entitled to a payment in lieudhionths’ notice (subject to standard non-solictatind no-hire
agreements per section 15 of this Term Sheet).

In connection with any such termination, any eqoityrake-Two held by you that is subject to vestivith continue
to vest during such 12 month notice period in adance with its terms, with all unvested equity algdseing
cancelled upon the expiration of such 12 monthcegpieriod.

Initially perform position of EVP from London, UKase until the end of the Initial Period. At thate, a decision
that relocation of base to Take-Twdieadquarters, currently New York, NY shall berupwtual agreement. Duril
Initial Period, you shall travel to New York




6. NY Housing:

7. Salary:

8. Bonus:

as often as is reasonably requested or necessangtive cohesion, effective working relationshig awvolvement o
Take-Two management and corporate team. Othed augecessary and appropriate to effectively ergob
duties and responsibilities.

It is understood by all parties that the positiéiC®O is contemplated to be based at Take-Two'slépearters,
currently in New York City. However, relocationtiee US from the UK may be made upon a schedulesddrg
both parties, not to exceed three months from titkoé the Initial Period unless otherwise agreedrup

Take-Two shall continue to provide a temporary hyistipend, at current rate of up to $10,000 penttn, until
end of June 2008.

£ 250,000 per annum

Participation in Take-Two’s corporate bonus progetra level commensurate with other Executive @f¢
currently the CFO and the General Counsel. Cashdwill be based on global, corporate EBITDA (ltbse a
budgeted EBITDA (“Budget”) determined by Take-Twwdacommunicated to you within 90 days following the
commencement of each fiscal year). For fiscal P&&8, target cash bonus where actual corporaté EBlequals
100% of Budget is 50% of base salary (“TargetedBth Targeted Bonus shall vary as described below bager
Take-Two’s corporate EBITDA:

» EBITDA at less than 75% of Budget, you shall reeeio cash bonus

 EBITDA at 75% - 100% of Budget, you shall receiveash bonus of 20% - 100% of Targeted Bonus.*

» EBITDA at 100% - 125% of Budget, you shall recedveash bonus of 100% - 150% of Targeted Bonus.*
 EBITDA at 125% or higher of Budget, you shall regea cash bonus capped at 150% of Targeted Bonus.
*The Bonus in this range will be determined based@roportional sliding scale.

9. Stock incentive:

Participation in Take-Two’s new equity incentivegram at a level commensurate with other Exec@ffieers,
currently the CFO and the General Counsel. Wigkrticipation level award values are determinedhigyCEOQ, in
consultation with and approval of the CompensaBommittee of the Board of Directors, and shall take
consideration job performance and achievementdiceto be defined goals and objectives. All &gawards that
you have received prior to the date of this Terraedlwill not be affected by your participation iretnew equity
incentive program. In the event that your emploghig terminated by Take-Two “without cause” or guant to the
third paragraph of Section 4 of this Term Sheéfayour timebased vesting equity awards granted to you unds
new equity incentive program (i.e. equity grantadsequent to this agreement and pursuant to théeagent) will
immediately vest.




10. Benefits:

11. Other terms:

12. Key responsibilities:

Standard UK benefits (to be continued at a levelsdime or substantially similar to benefits cutyemtovided),
subject to adjustment to standard US benefitsuf igdocate to US.

Car Allowance - £1,000 per month car allowance
Vacation — 25 days
Pension — 7.5% standard UK contribution (subjecdjustment if you relocate to US)

Key responsibilities shall include, but are notited to:

» Direct supervision of worldwide sales with direeporting of the heads of the North American andrimtional teams with a particular
short term emphasis and involvement in the Eurogases and distribution business to assist in theento the new corporate structure.

* Review, analysis and optimization of existing saled distribution arrangements for all productsvef as development and
implementation of new strategic approach to sabelsdastribution to increase revenue and profit mgviorward.

. Serve as corporate

liaison with all labels to mazénworking to maximize revenue and profit offbducts.

» Business development and increased profitabilitgémtified geographic regions such as Asia/Pagificluding Japan) and Latin and
South America (including Mexico).

* Business development and increased profitabilitgémtified product areas, such as casual gamesmliree gaming.

13. Change of control:

14. Jurisdiction

a) In the event that Zelnick Media’'s managementagrent with Take-Two is terminated, or a majorityr ake-
Two’s outstanding common stock is acquired by ametitor or other entity, all outstanding equity mpsashall

immediately vest. However, this shall not applaty merger or acquisition whereby the Zelnick Medi
management agreement survives.

b) If employment is terminated by Take-Two (ordtgcessor) within 12 months following a changedntml as
described in paragraph a) above or by you withinl&gs following a change in control as describeparagraph a),
then the 12 month notice period referred to in iBact shall become a payment in lieu of notice gidg in two
instalments, one at termination and one six mofafi®wing termination. The standard non-solicitetiand no-hire
agreements per section 15 of this Term Sheet apply to the entire 12 month period following emptent.

This Term Sheet shall be governed by the laws gldfd and the parties submit to the jurisdictiohef Courts of
England for the determination of disputes or clagrising out of this Term Sheet.




15. Non-Solicitation / No Hire

The employee hereby agrees that he shall not, githia period of his employment and for a period2months
following such time as employee is no longer adyivenployed by Take-Two (which 12 month period shat be
extended by any period that employee continuesottx @uring a termination notice period), directlyindirectly,
solicit to employ, hire or engage as an employesoosultant, any then current employee of Take-dwany of its
subsidiaries or affiliates or otherwise persuadat@mmpt to persuade any such employee to disagntinalter his o
her relationship with Take-Two or any of its sulisiiks or affiliates.

This Term Sheet supersedes and replaces in itegniie offer letter dated December 22, 2006 betwemployee and Take-Two.

Agreed to and Accepted by

Employee: Employer:

Take-Two Interactive Software, In

s/ Gary Dale By: /s/ Seth D. Kraus
Gary Dale Name: Seth D. Krauss
Date: November 15, 20( Title: EVP / General Couns

Date: November 16, 200




Exhibit 10.23

RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD LETTER

[DATE OF LETTER]
Dear [GRANTEE NAME],

Congratulations. On behalf of Take-Two InteracBaftware, Inc. (the “Company”), | am pleased tfepthe enclosed Restricted Stock
award. You are being given this Restricted Staghrd as part of your compensation for serving @Bbard of Directors of the Company (
“Board”).

The following table provides key information abgour shares of restricted common stock of the ComféRestricted Stock”):

Grantee Name: [GRANTEE NAME]

Date of Grant: [GRANT DATE]

Stock Plan: Incentive Stock Plan, as amended (*Plar”)

Type of Grant: Restricted Stock Awar

Number of Shares: [NUMBER]

Vesting Schedule: The vesting schedule of the shares is as folli
Vesting Date Number of Shares

Except as otherwise provided below, the sharesesfriRted Stock shall become vested in the amaatt®rth opposite the vesting dates listed
in the table above, provided that you remain a nesrobthe Board through and on each applicablangsiate. The shares of Restricted Stock
also shall become vested at such earlier times)if as shall otherwise be determined by the Cosgiiem Committee of the Board in its sole
and absolute discretion.

In the event of a Change of Control (as such terdefined in the Comparsg/incentive Stock Plan, as amended) of the Compaitythe ever
that you cease to be a member of the Board foio&itye following reasons: (i) you run for re-electias a director at an Annual Meeting of the
Company'’s stockholders and are not re-elected)oydu are willing to stand for re-election at anfual Meeting of the Company’s
stockholders and are not nominated by the Boardrtdor re-election, then all unvested shares dtiRg#ed Stock shall immediately vest upon
the happening of any such events. Should you dedse a member of the Board for any other reaalbnnvested shares of Restricted Stock
(other than any such shares that become vestegsastibd above in this Restricted Stock award eowatt of such termination) shall be
forfeited immediately upon such cessation and skabrt back to the Company without any paymenybto, and you shall not thereafter have
any rights with respect to such Restricted Stoc&ur vested shares of Restricted Stock will renyainr property until you choose to sell them.




With respect to all shares of Restricted Stock #natyour property, whether vested or unvestedwitilnave the right to vote such shares of
Restricted Stock, to receive and retain all regotesh dividends and other cash equivalent distobstas the Board may in its sole discretion
designate, pay or distribute on such shares ofriRest Stock and to exercise all other rights, pewd privileges of a holder of common
stock with respect to such shares of RestrictedkSteith the exceptions that: (1) other than regakesh dividends and other cash equivalent
distributions as the Board may in its sole disoretiesignate, pay or distribute, the Company witin custody of all distributions (“Retained
Distributions”) made or declared with respect te ghares of Restricted Stock (and such Retaingdtisons will be subject to the same
restrictions, terms and conditions as are appletibthe shares of Restricted Stock), and suchieetdistributions shall be given to you only,
if ever, when the shares of Restricted Stock wapect to which such Retained Distributions willdhdeen made, paid or declared will have
become vested; (2) you may not sell, assign, teanpfedge, exchange, encumber or dispose of treslof Restricted Stock or any Retained
Distributions during the time within which such sesmay be subject to forfeiture; and (3) a bredadmy of the restrictions, terms or
conditions contained in the Plan or otherwise distadd by the Compensation Committee in accordarnttethe Plan with respect to the shares
of Restricted Stock or Retained Distributions waluse a forfeiture of the shares of RestrictedkSaod any Retained Distributions with resg
thereto.

To the extent permitted under applicable foreigadefal, state or provincial law, the Compensatiom@ittee of the Board, in its sole and
absolute discretion, may issue the shares in ttme & uncertificated shares. Such uncertificateares of Restricted Stock will be credited to
an electronic book entry or similar electronic ageomaintained by the Company (or its designeejaur behalf.

Restricted stock awards may have tax implicationtd & jurisdiction(s) in which you work, reside &dare a citizen ofln the paragraphs
below, certain United States federal income tax iofmation is summarized. This information is provided to assist you with
understanding the income tax implications of your Rstricted Stock award; however, it is not intendedo be and is not a substitute for
income tax advice. You should consult your own taadvisor for specific income tax advice pertainingo your individual circumstances.

Special United States federal income tax rulesyapggarding the timing and amount of taxable incamke recognized with respect to the
shares of Restricted Stock. In general, you witlagnize ordinary income equal to the excess ofdinenarket value of such shares on their
respective vesting dates over the amount, if aaig for such shares; the holding period for cagjah purposes will begin just after that day;
the tax basis will be the amount paid for such ehaf any, plus the amount of ordinary income gggped upon vesting; and any dividends
distributed on the Restricted Stock prior to vestwvill be treated as compensation rather than divitincome. You have the option of making
an Internal Revenue Code section 83(b) electiarder to recognize ordinary income equal to theesgof the fair market value of the shares
at the time of the award over the amount, if amyd for such shares in the year that you were gikerabove award, even though the shares
have not yet vested; the holding period for cagitah purposes will begin just after the date thara was made; any gain or loss on a
subsequent sale of the shares will be either atemg or short-term capital gain or loss dependinghe holding period; and any dividends
distributed on the Restricted Stock will be treatsdlividend income. However, should cease torheraber of the Board before all your
shares have vested, you will forfeit the unvestetes and therefore will have paid tax on incomeealized (which cannot be recouped from
the Internal Revenue Service). You acknowledgeithsyour sole responsibility, and not the Comysg, to file timely and properly the
section 83(b) election with the Internal RevenuesiBe. To be effective, the section 83(b) electioust be filed within 30 days of the grant of
the Restricted Stock to you.




For more information regarding general tax ruldatesl to the shares of Restricted Stock or thease88(b) election, please see the enclosed
Restricted Stock Award FAQs or contact stockadmak@2games.com

No later than the date as of which the Companyigated by the tax laws of any jurisdiction to k¥ibld amounts for the satisfaction of y¢
obligations relating to the tax laws of that juiettbn with respect to this Restricted Stock awaal will pay to the Company, or make
arrangements satisfactory to the Compensation Ctremegarding the payment of any taxes of any kédired by law to be withheld or p.
with respect to such amount. The obligations ef@mpany to you under this Restricted Stock awegcconditioned upon such payment or
arrangements, and the Company will, to the extenthjited by law, have the right to deduct any sases from any payment of any kind
otherwise due to you from the Company or its subsis.

The shares of Restricted Stock are being issugdua@nd this Restricted Stock award is being madiad Company in reliance upon your
making the following express representations andaméies: (1) you have hereby been advised thatwyay be an “affiliate” within the
meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act 0f31 23 amended (the “Act”) and in this connectiam@ompany is relying in part on your
representations set forth herein; (2) if you arended an affiliate within the meaning of Rule 144t Act, the shares must be held indefinitely
unless an exemption from any applicable resaleicéens is available or the Company files an add#l registration statement (or a “re-offer
prospectus”) with regard to such shares and thep@agnis under no obligation to register the shéoeso file a “re-offer prospectus”); and

(3) if you are deemed an affiliate within the mewnof Rule 144 of the Act, you understand thatekemption from registration under Rule :
shall not be available unless (a) a public tradiragket then exists for the Company’s common stfitkadequate information concerning the
Company is then available to the public, and ¢ither terms and conditions of Rule 144 or any ex@mngherefrom are complied with; and t
any sale of the shares may be made only in liratadunts in accordance with such terms and condition

This Restricted Stock award is subject to the teants conditions of the Plan, as amended from torterte. If and to the extent that this
Restricted Stock award conflicts or is inconsisteith the terms and conditions of the Plan, theRlaall control, and this Restricted Stock
award shall be deemed to be modified accordinglyopy of the Plan is attached, along with a séReétricted Stock Award FAQs which will
answer questions that you may have about your iReestrStock award.

Please indicate your acceptance of this Restristedk award by signing in the space provided belathin a period of 60 days from the date
of this letter.

The Company appreciates and looks forward to yauigipation in and commitment to our success.
Sincerely,
| accept this Restricted Stock award and understaere are

tax implications associated with the vesting of shares of
Restricted Stock

Grantee Nam Date
Restricted Stock Award Recipie




Exhibit 10.24

RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD LETTER
[DATE OF LETTER]
Dear [GRANTEE NAME],

Congratulations. On behalf of Take-Two InteractBaftware, Inc. (the “Company”), | am pleased tfepthe enclosed Restricted Stock
award. You are being given this Restricted Stogird in recognition of your contribution to the sass of the Company.

The Restricted Stock award consists of sharesmfwon stock of the Company that are subject to e-tiased vesting schedule (the “Time
Vested Restricted Stock”), as well as shares ofrsomstock that will vest upon the achievement ofade performance milestones (the
“Performance Based Restricted Stock” and togettitr tive Time Vested Restricted Stock, the “RestdcBtock”), subject to your continued
employment with the Company and its affiliates frthra date of grant until the applicable vestingedat

The following table provides key information abgour shares of Restricted Stock:

Employee Name: [OPTIONEE NAME]

Date of Grant: [GRANT DATE]

Stock Plan: Incentive Stock Plan, as amended (“Plar”)
Type of Grant: Restricted Stock Awar

Number of Shares of [NUMBER]

Time Vested Restricted

Stock:

Number of Shares of [NUMBER]

Performance Based
Restricted Stock:

Annual Performance Year 1
Target
Year 2
Year 3

Current Trading Price of
Company’s Common
Stock (“Base Price”):




Vesting Schedule o The vesting schedule of the Restricted Stock felémws:
Restricted Stock:

Tranche Vesting Date Number of Number of
Shares of Time Shares of
Vested Performance
Restricted Based
Stock Restricted
Stock
1
2
3

Except as otherwise provided below, the sharesroé Vested Restricted Stock shall become vestéiteimmounts set forth opposite the
vesting dates listed in the table above, provithed you remain employed by the Company or its slidses through and on each applicable
vesting date.

The shares of Performance Based Restricted Stadki@tome vested in the amounts set forth opptsiteresting dates listed in the table
above, provided (i) that the annual performancgeiawith respect to each tranche of shares sha#l haen met on or prior to the applicable
vesting date of such tranche and (ii) that you iareenployed by the Company or its subsidiariesubloand on each applicable vesting date.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Performance Bdestricted Stock shall be subject to a c-up whereby in the event that a performance
target was not met with respect to a certain traraftshares on or prior to the applicable vestiag dthen, if such performance target shall
been achieved on or prior to the vesting date @ktibsequent tranche of shares, then the portithed?erformance Based Restricted Stock
whose vesting was contingent on the achievemetfieofmissed performance target shall vest on suadesent vesting date; provided
however, that any shares of Performance Based Restrit¢texk $hat did not vest on or prior to the vestirgedof the last tranche of the
Performance Based Shares hereunder shall be &atfaitd shall revert back to the Company without@ayment to you, and you shall not
thereafter have any rights with respect to sucheshaf Performance Based Restricted Stock.

The shares of Restricted Stock also shall becorsiedat such earlier times, if any, as shall beigeal for in the Plan or in any employment
agreement, offer letter or other written agreenetiveen you and the Company, or as shall othetvdsgetermined by the Compensation
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors éndble and absolute discretion.

Should your employment terminate for any reasdnyralested shares of Restricted Stock (other thgrsach shares that become vested as
described above in this Restricted Stock awardcoownt of such termination) shall be forfeited inahia¢ely upon such termination and shall
revert back to the Company without any paymentoio, yand you shall not thereafter have any righth wéspect to such Restricted Stock.
Your vested shares of Restricted Stock will renyaiar property until you choose to sell them.

With respect to all shares of Restricted Stock #énatyour property, whether vested or unvestedwitiunave the right to vote such shares of
Restricted Stock, to receive and retain all regoéash dividends and other cash equivalent distdbstas the Company’s Board of Directors
may in its sole discretion designate, pay or disté on such shares of Restricted Stock and t@iseeall other rights, powers and privileges of
a holder of common stock with respect to such shaf®estricted Stock, with the exceptions thatother than regular cash dividends and
other cash equivalent distributions as the CompmaByard of Directors may in its sole discretionigeate, pay or distribute, the Company will
retain custody of all distributions (“Retained Dilstitions”) made or declared with respect to thareh




of Restricted Stock (and such Retained Distribtinil be subject to the same restrictions, termd eonditions as are applicable to the shares
of Restricted Stock), and such Retained Distrimgishall be given to you only, if ever, when tharsk of Restricted Stock with respect to
which such Retained Distributions will have beerdmaaid or declared will have become vested; ¢2)may not sell, assign, transfer, pledge,
exchange, encumber or dispose of the shares ofi¢tedtStock or any Retained Distributions durihg time within which such shares may be
subject to forfeiture; and (3) a breach of anyhef testrictions, terms or conditions containechmRlan or otherwise established by the
Compensation Committee in accordance with the Riimrespect to the shares of Restricted StocketaiRed Distributions will cause a
forfeiture of the shares of Restricted Stock anglRetained Distributions with respect thereto.

To the extent permitted under applicable foreigudgefal, state or provincial law, the Compensatiom@ittee of the Company’s Board of
Directors, in its sole and absolute discretion, fisaye the shares of Restricted Stock in the fdromoertificated shares. Such uncertificated
shares of Restricted Stock will be credited to lacteonic book entry or similar electronic accoardintained by the Company (or its designee)
on your behalf.

Restricted stock awards may have tax implicationth & jurisdiction(s) in which you work, reside &dare a citizen ofln the paragraphs
below, certain United States federal income tax imfmation is summarized which may or may not apply @ you depending on your
individual circumstances. This information is provided to assist you with understanding the income taimplications of your Restricted
Stock award; however, it is not intended to be ang not a substitute for income tax advice. You shdd consult your own tax advisor
for specific income tax advice pertaining to yourndividual circumstances.

Special United States federal income tax rulesyapggarding the timing and amount of taxable incamiee recognized with respect to the
shares of Restricted Stock. In general, you witlagnize ordinary income equal to the excess ofdinenarket value of such shares on their
respective vesting dates over the amount, if aaig for such shares; the holding period for cagjah purposes will begin just after that day;
the tax basis will be the amount paid for suchehaf any, plus the amount of ordinary income geiped upon vesting; and any dividends
distributed on the Restricted Stock prior to vestwvill be treated as compensation rather than divitincome. You have the option of making
an Internal Revenue Code section 83(b) electiarder to recognize ordinary income equal to theesgof the fair market value of the shares
at the time of the award over the amount, if amyd for such shares in the year that you were gikerabove award, even though the shares
have not yet vested; the holding period for cagjitah purposes will begin just after the date thara was made; any gain or loss on a
subsequent sale of the shares will be either atemg or short-term capital gain or loss dependinghe holding period; and any dividends
distributed on the Restricted Stock will be treatsdlividend income. However, should your emplaynterminate before all your shares have
vested, you will forfeit the unvested shares amdlefore will have paid tax on income not realizetiith cannot be recouped from the Internal
Revenue Service). You acknowledge that it is ysmle responsibility, and not the Company'’s, to fiiheely and properly the section 83

(b) election with the Internal Revenue Service. bEceffective, the section 83(b) election mustiles fwithin 30 days of the grant of the
Restricted Stock to you.

For more information regarding general tax ruldates to the shares of Restricted Stock or théme88(b) election, please see the enclosed
Restricted Stock Award FAQs or contatbckadmin@take2games.com

No later than the date as of which the Companyligated by the tax laws of any jurisdiction to lfibld amounts for the satisfaction of y«
obligations relating to the tax laws of that juitdbn with respect to this Restricted Stock awaal) will pay to the Company, or make
arrangements satisfactory to the Compensation Ctisemiegarding the payment of any taxes of any keodired by law to be




withheld or paid with respect to such amount. ®hkgations of the Company to you under this Res#d Stock award are conditioned upon
such payment or arrangements, and the Companytevtthe extent permitted by law, have the righdeéduct any such taxes from any payment
of any kind otherwise due to you from the Companitosubsidiaries.

The shares of Restricted Stock are being issugdu@nd this Restricted Stock award is being madiad Company in reliance upon your
making the following express representations andaméies: (1) you have hereby been advised thatway be an “affiliate” within the
meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act 0f312® amended (the “Act”) and in this connectian@ompany is relying in part on your
representations set forth herein; (2) if you arended an affiliate within the meaning of Rule 144w Act, the shares must be held indefinitely
unless an exemption from any applicable resaleicgsns is available or the Company files an add#l registration statement (or a “re-offer
prospectus”) with regard to such shares and thep@osnis under no obligation to register the shéweso file a “re-offer prospectus”); and

(3) if you are deemed an affiliate within the menof Rule 144 of the Act, you understand thatekemption from registration under Rule :
shall not be available unless (a) a public tradivagket then exists for the Company’s common stfitkadequate information concerning the
Company is then available to the public, and @iher terms and conditions of Rule 144 or any exempherefrom are complied with; and t
any sale of the shares may be made only in liratadunts in accordance with such terms and condition

This Restricted Stock award is subject to the teands conditions of the Plan, as amended from tontérte. If and to the extent that this
Restricted Stock award conflicts or is inconsisteith the terms and conditions of the Plan, theRlaall control, and this Restricted Stock
award shall be deemed to be modified accordinglyxopy of the Plan is attached, along with a sé&Re$tricted Stock Award FAQs which will
answer questions that you may have about your iReestrStock award.

Please indicate your acceptance of this Restristedk award by signing in the space provided beldthin a period of 60 days from the date
of this letter.

The Company appreciates and looks forward to yaudigdpation in and commitment to our success.

Sincerely,

| accept this Restricted Stock award i

understand there are tax implications associated

with the vesting of my shares of Restricted Stock.
Seth Krauss Employee Name Date
Executive Vice President & General Cour Restricted Stock Award Recipie
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Subsidiaries of the Company

Jurisdiction of
Name Incorporation

North America Subsidiaries:

Jack of All Games, Inc New York
Jack of All Games (Canada), Ir Ontario
Rockstar Games, In Delaware
Rockstar Vancouver, Ini Canade
Rockstar San Diego, In Virginia
2K Play, Inc. Delaware
Take-Two Licensing, Inc Delaware
Rockstar Toront Canade
Visual Concepts Entertainment, It California
Kush Games, Inc California
2K Games, Inc Delaware
2K Sports, Inc Delaware
2K Marin, Inc. Delaware
Cat Daddy LLC Washingtor
2K Boston, LLC Delaware
Firaxis Games, Inc Delaware

International Subsidiaries:

Take-Two International S/ Switzerlanc
Take-Two Interactive Software Europe L United Kingdom
Take-Two Interactive France SA France
Take-Two Interactive Gmbt Germany
Take-Two Interactive Austria Gmbl Austria
Take-Two Interactive Espania S. Spain
Take-Two Interactive Software Pty. Lt Australia
Rockstar North Ltd United Kingdom
Rockstar Leeds Ltc United Kingdom
Take-Two Interactive Italia St Italy

Take-Two Interactive Benelux B.\ Netherland:
Venom Games Lt United Kingdom
PAM Developments SA France
Irrational Games Australia Pty. Lt Australia
Joytech Ltd Hong Kong
TechCorp, Ltd Hong Kong

2K Software Technology (Shanghai) Co, L China

Rockstar London, Ltc United Kingdom
Rockstar Lincoln, Ltd United Kingdom

Take-Two Great Britain, Ltd United Kingdom

Exhibit 21.1
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTIN&RM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrRbgistration Statement on Form S-8 (File Nos. B83085; 333-126049; 333-121555; 333-
118985; 333-118984; 333-106171; 333-104479; 333%#860333-99433; 333-90242; 333-67306 and 333-678DFpke-Two Interactive
Software, Inc., of our reports dated December R072with respect to the consolidated financiaiesteents of Take-Two Interactive

Software, Inc. included in its Annual Report (FoifK) for the year ended October 31, 2007 and tleettveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Take-Two Interactive Softwdnc., filed with the Securities and Exchange Cassion.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
New York, New York

December 20, 2007
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Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTIN&RM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémdlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Fis.N33-126049; 333-121555; 333-
118985; 333-118984; 333-106171; 333-104479; 333#860333-99433; 333-90242; 333-67306 and 333-678D%pke Two Interactive
Software, Inc. of our report dated January 31, 2@86ept for the effects of the restatement dissigs Note 2 and the change in segments
discussed in Note 15 of the consolidated finarst&lements included in the Annual Report on ForaKX0r the year ended October 31, 2006,
not included herein, as to which the date is Falyr28, 2007 relating to the consolidated finanstatements, which appears in this FormKL0-

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York 1001

December 20, 2007
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Exhibit 31.1
TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIE S

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Section 302 Certification

[, Ben Feder, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual RepartForm 10-K of Take-Two Interactive Software, Ifthe "registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistanmces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyinfiagr and | are responsible for establishing anthtaming disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controlsprodedures, or caused such disclosure controlpreomegdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durifg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control oveariicial reporting, or caused such internal coragxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of #rgatrant's disclosure controls and proceduregpaggbnted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and,;

d) disclosed in this report any changthe registrant's internal control over financegdorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the gant's internal control over financial reportiagd;

5. The registrant's other certifyindiagr and | have disclosed, based on our most temeaiuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataaommittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and m@aéweaknesses in the design or operation of iralecontrol over financial reporting whis
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materidktinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

December 20, 200 /s/ BEN FEDER

Ben Feder
Chief Executive Office
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Exhibit 31.2
TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIE S

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Section 302 Certification

[, Lainie Goldstein, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual RepartForm 10-K of Take-Two Interactive Software, Ifthe "registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineldiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyindiagr and | are responsible for establishing anthtaming disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controlspodedures, or caused such disclosure controlpremdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control oveariicial reporting, or caused such internal coraxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of #rgatrant's disclosure controls and procedurepaggbnted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and,;

d) disclosed in this report any changthe registrant's internal control over financegdorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the mgant's internal control over financial reportiagd;

5. The registrant's other certifyindiagr and | have disclosed, based on our most temeaiuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatanommittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and m@aéweaknesses in the design or operation of iralecontrol over financial reporting whis
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materidktinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

December 20, 200 /s/ LAINIE GOLDSTEIN

Lainie Goldstein
Chief Financial Office!
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EXHIBIT 32.1

TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIE S

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Take-Twtehactive Software, Inc. (the "Company") on FormKLfbr the period ended October 31,
2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cimsion on the date hereof (the "Report"), |, Beddfeas Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 25 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations
of the Company.

December 20, 2007 /s/ BEN FEDER

Ben Feder
Chief Executive Office
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EXHIBIT 32.2

TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIE S

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Take-Twtehactive Software, Inc. (the "Company") on FormKLfbr the period ended October 31,
2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cimsion on the date hereof (the "Report"), |, LaiBieldstein, as Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secli®8b0, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHea8as-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(D) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; and

@)

The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cGadiand results of operations
of the Company.

December 20, 2007 /s/ LAINIE GOLDSTEIN

Lainie Goldstein
Chief Financial Office!
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